CPLA Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy A Centre for Excellence in Teaching and Learning

Case Studies: Volume 1

Edited By:

Ivan Moore, Jo Elfving-Hwang, Kenisha Garnett and

Chris Corker

Sheffield Hallam University Published by the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

© Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

Sheffield Hallam University 111 Charles Street Sheffield S1 2ND United Kingdom

Telephone: (0114) 225 4735 E-mail: CPLA@shu.ac.uk Web address: www.shu.ac.uk/cetl

Any portion of this document may be produced without permission but with acknowledgement.

ISBN: 978-1-897851-17-3

Preface

There is much emphasis placed on improving institution-wide learning and teaching practice in a rapidly changing and continuously evolving Higher Education sector. The goal for many institutions is to develop learning processes that enhance the student experience and contribute to learner development. Hence, the development of learner autonomy is a key feature in academic curricula as it stimulates a gradual change in learner attitudes, facilitates the development of a more appropriate conceptual stance towards learning in Higher Education, enhances learning skills and supports lifelong learning.

The process of promoting learner autonomy encourages students to take a more active role in the learning process and involves a comprehensive range of factors such as motivation and engagement; managing learning; enquiry-based learning; peer-support; and collaboration, which are designed to enhance learning and teaching practice. This booklet showcases some of the innovative learning and teaching approaches that staff at Sheffield Hallam University have developed as a result of their engagement with the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy (CPLA), one of three Centres for Excellence in Teaching and Learning (CETLs) at the institution, funded by the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE).

CPLA has acted as a focal point for staff to develop their own teaching practice, with much emphasis placed on promoting learner autonomy. As a result, the Centre has been instrumental in inspiring a 'learning or student-centred' culture from which wider institutional change may be effected. This booklet is the first publication on Learner Autonomy at Sheffield Hallam University which provides an overview of innovations in learning and teaching methods in the context of learner autonomy across the institution. It includes a full account of small scale educational development projects that have stimulated (and supported) the growth of communities of practice among staff in their efforts to develop students' autonomy.

We hope that the case studies included in this booklet provide you with ideas to incorporate in your own teaching practice, stimulating greater innovation in teaching and learning to enhance the students' learning experience.

Ivan Moore

About the editors

Ivan Moore

Ivan is Director of the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy at Sheffield Hallam University. He has worked as an independent Educational Consultant since 2004 working with a number of UK Universities including the University of Manchester, Loughborough University, Nottingham Trent University and the University of Sheffield. His international consultancies include La Trobe University, Australia, the British Council in Thailand, University College Dublin, Limerick University, Dublin City University and the British University in Egypt. Ivan's career to date includes two years as Director of Learning at the University of Portsmouth and three years as Director of Learning and Teaching at the University of Wolverhampton. Before that he was Assistant Director of Educational Development at the University of Ulster where he was a lecturer for twelve years and Academic Staff Development Officer for four years.

Kenisha Garnett

Kenisha is Researcher/Developer at the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy. She is also the module coordinator for a graduate course 'Engineering, Science and Society' at the Sheffield International College (University of Sheffield) and has provided lectures on the principles and practice of municipal waste management to undergraduates at Sheffield Hallam University. Kenisha has recently submitted her PhD thesis on Waste Management Policy and Public Involvement at Sheffield Hallam University. In the past, she worked as an Environmental Consultant and Engineer in areas such as climate change, solid waste management and energy and water use efficiency both in UK and Guyana, South America.

Joanna Elfving-Hwang

Jo was a Researcher/Developer at the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy until March 2010, when she took up an appointment as a Junior Professor of Korean Studies and Director of Korean Studies at Frankfurt University, Germany. She earned a PhD from the University of Sheffield (UK), and previous to her current appointment she has been a lecturer in Korean Literature at the University of Sheffield, and a Korea Foundation Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the Centre for Interdisciplinary Gender Studies at Leeds University (UK).

Chris Corker

Chris is the CPLA student intern. He is a Sheffield Hallam University graduate, having completed his BA in History in 2008, and his MA in History in 2009. He is currently a PhD research student with an interest in business history, exploring the British armaments industry from 1900 to 1939. Chris began working with the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy in 2008, providing support to the small project scheme including third party evaluation through focus groups and questionnaires. One of his interests in teaching and learning is the development of students as collaborators.

Contents

Principles and practice of Learner Autonomy		
The CPLA small scale project scheme	11	
Case Studies:		
Enquiry-based learning for Biology	15	
Ben Abell (Biomedical Science, Faculty of Health and Wellbeing)		
Collaborative learning: supporting learner autonomy in Professional Education	23	
Mark Boylan (Faculty of Development and Society)		
Promoting learner autonomy and creative engagement in first year Engineering students through media	37	
Mike Bramhall, Keith Radley and John Metcalf (Materials Engineering, Faculty of Arts, Computing, Engineering and Sciences)		
Using E-role play in teaching ICT skills to Occupational Therapy students Claire Craig (Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Health and Wellbeing)	47	
Making Media Hilary Cuncliffe-Charlesworth (Media and Journalism, Faculty of Arts, Computing, Engineering and Sciences)	57	
'Now I feel like I am at university': using the Philosophy for Children (P4C) approach to promote engagement and academic literacy amongst	69	
undergraduate students Fufy Demise (Education, Faculty of Development and Society)		
Developing Learner Autonomy through student-led resource creation within the Faculty of Development and Society	81	
Julie Evans (Learning Hubs, Faculty of Development and Society)		
Case studies as simulation of industrial practice Ivan Launders and Simon Polovina (Computing, Faculty of Arts, Computing, Engineering and Sciences)	89	
Disseminating good practice through Learner Autonomy and Enquiry Based Learning on a History programme Roger Lloyd Jones (History, Faculty of Development and Society)	105	

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy	A Centre for Excellence in Teaching and	Learning
Promoting and evaluating entrepreneurial effectiveness of an Enquiry-Based approac Kiefer Lee, Robin Lowe and Sue Marriott (Bus Business School)	h	113
Overcoming the fear of figures: a Problem Analysis Peter Long and Muriel Eddowes (Business Ana		123
Developing Learner Autonomy in internati Hallam University Gudrun Myers (Languages, Sheffield Business		137
Student Audio Notes Project: lessons learn autonomous use of MP3 recorders to enha Anne Nortcliffe and Andrew Middleton (Facul Sciences; Learning and Teaching Institute)	nce their learning	151 1
Promoting Learner Autonomy through End and the use of "students as consultants, tut Nick Nunnington (Real Estate, Faculty of Deve	ors as clients"	165
Media literacy skills for discovering, evalua resources Linda Purdy and Simon Quinn (Student Learn		181
Autonomy through collaboration: Reflections seminars and a novel assessment in a Psychology , Faculty of Developm	hology Module	193
Improving Maths self-confidence and Math John Reidy (Psychology, Faculty of Developme	5	205
Developing Learner Autonomy through the Resource Emma Robertson (History, Faculty of Develop	-	215
Professional Learning Week Simulation Anthony Rosie (Social Sciences, Faculty of Dev	velopment and Society)	227

Principles and practice of Learner Autonomy

Learner autonomy is recognised as an important, but often misunderstood concept, and for this reason this booklet aims to clarify the term in relation to how it is interpreted and promoted at the individual and institutional level. The Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy (CPLA) conceives an autonomous learner to be one who has developed the capacity to take at least some control over their learning. They can identify their own learning goals (what they need to learn), their learning processes (how they will learn it), and how they will evaluate and use their learning. The concept of learner autonomy involves addressing a student's stance towards their learning, reflecting a move away from the idea of simply memorising or learning to apply knowledge to being able to synthesise and contextualise the learning in a way that creates positive learning transfer (Knowles 1990). Key to developing learner autonomy is enhancing the learner's metacognitive and reflective skills and processes.

In other words, the aim is to enable students to graduate with a holistic set of skills, aptitude and motivation to learn in a rapidly changing world: they will have the ability to recognise what they need to learn, and how to learn fast (Baume, 1994). Holec (1981:3) defines learner autonomy as 'the ability take charge of one's own learning'. The emphasis here is on the learner and developing their capacity for self-directed learning (Lee, 1998), with an emphasis on having control over their learning process.

Fazey and Fazey (2001:345) describe autonomous learners as people who are:

- intrinsically-motivated, perceive themselves to be in control of their decisionmaking,
- take responsibility for the outcomes of their actions, and
- have confidence in themselves.

In order to learn effectively and independently, it is necessary for students to have good information processing skills. They need to be able to develop strategies for finding, evaluating and using relevant information. Finally, they need to be able to manage their learning. These four concepts (a conceptual stance towards higher learning; a willingness to learn; information skills; and ability to manage their learning) are summarised in the table below and form the acronym SWIM. This is a useful metaphor as it implies that students must learn to swim for themselves, but that we will not let the students drown. The amount of support we provide will depend on how effective they have become at taking responsibility for themselves and how well they have developed relevant learning skills.

STANCE TOWARDS LEARNING	WILLINGNESS TO LEARN		
Orientation to learning	Balance of vocational, academic,		
(what and why, reflective)	ctive) personal and social motivations to		
A range of appropriate learning	learn		
strategies	Intrinsic motivation		
Know how they learn and how to	Extrinsic motivation		
improve how they learn	Goals		
	Short - Medium - Long		
	Confidence		
INFORMATION	MANAGEMENT		
Can identify what they know	Study Skills		
Can identify what information they	Planning and problem solving		
need	Evaluation & Metacognition		
Develop a strategy for finding it	Self-assessment		
(different resources)	Focus & 'stickability'		
Can get the information	Time and project management		
Evaluate different sources of	Balancing social, work and learning		
information for relevance and	needs		
credibility	Assessment		
Can use the information and add it to			
their knowledge base			

In short, the learner possesses ownership of their own learning process, which in turn is manifested in changes in their knowledge, ways of conceptualising the world around them, skills and even emotional development. At an institutional level, the Centre strives to encourage effective orientation and a deeper approach to learning. Additionally, it promotes a culture of reflection and engagement that support students in developing an appropriate conceptual stance towards their learning in a Higher Education environment.

The process of developing autonomy is not quick. We can conceptualise the student experience as a journey from relative dependence to independence or autonomy as a learner. An interim stage may well be one of inter-dependence. Students will clearly need some form of support from tutors, but they may well rely on other students. Indeed, it is often desirable for students to work and learn collaboratively so as to encourage the development of teamwork and other professional skills. However, collaborative work still requires students to accept individual responsibility for their contribution to group work and for their own learning.



Engaging with principles of learner autonomy allows academic staff to rethink their role in supporting the learning process. Learner autonomy is in part about partnerships between learners and tutors, and as students make more decisions about their own learning processes, the more lecturers will become facilitators for that learning rather than directors of it and the source of relevant information.

The focus thus shifts the very balance of power and responsibility from the institution and the teacher to the learner, and ideally the learner should have full responsibility for their own learning. What this means in practice is that:

The teacher acts as a facilitator and a resource-person. Students are responsible for choosing and planning the curriculum, or at least they participate in the choosing. Learning is self-initiated, and often involves the process of enquiry and discovery; the learner is also responsible for evaluating the results. A difficult concept to grasp, at first, is that each individual is 100% responsible for his [or her] own behaviour, participation and learning. (Brandes and Ginnis, 1986: 12)

Baume (1994:3) argues the idea of learner autonomy encompasses two main elements:

As a goal of education, the goal being to help students become effective self-directed learners, and as an education method, introduced for a variety of education, philosophical and economic reasons, perhaps operated alongside other teaching and learning methods, within more or less conventional types of course structure and organisation.

There are various active learning and teaching approaches which certainly foster the development of skills and aptitudes that characterise an autonomous learner - such as enquiry based learning (EBL), problem based learning (PBL) or work-based learning (WBL). While 'learner autonomy' has occasionally been equated with the idea of 'independent learning', the concept itself is also very much related to the concept of collaborative learning

(Kohonen, 1992). Hence, group work or peer assisted learning can therefore be an effective way of fostering learner autonomy. This publication will give you some ideas of teaching and learning practices that allow students to learn more autonomously. It will also provide some concrete examples of teaching methods that staff at Sheffield Hallam University have engaged with in view of enhancing learner autonomy, and how this has affected staff's teaching experience, not to mention the effects it has had on the students' learning experience.

Incorporating elements of learner autonomy in a higher education teaching and learning environment has been recognised as good practice by HEFCE, and far from being a completely new development many lecturers are already engaging with some of these principles in their teaching practice. Paul Ramsden's report on the future of teaching and the student experience in HE to the Secretary of State John Denham highlighted the *need to maintain and enhance student engagement* (2008), and to counter the view that students should be treated as customers who have a sense of entitlement. Rather, he argues that they should be perceived as partners who are provided with opportunities to learn. This all highlights the need focus on the student as an active participant in the learning processes.

On a positive note, students who become autonomous learners are much more fun to work with: they ask interesting and often unexpected questions; they are motivated and often imaginative in their approach to tackle questions put to them (or ones that they have set themselves); they grow in confidence to express their views - and you might even find that your own students will put extremely interesting questions to you that you might want to research further. The case studies included in this book will demonstrate the positive enhancements to learning *and* teaching experiences for both students and staff engaging with concepts around learner autonomy.

References

Baume, D. (1994), *Developing Learner Autonomy*, SEDA Paper 84 (Birmingham: Staff and Educational Development Association).

Brandes, Donna and Paul Ginnis (1986), *A Guide to Student-Centred Learning* (Cheltenham: Nelson Thornes).

Fazey, D. and Fazey, J. (2001), 'The potential for autonomy in learning: perceptions of competence, motivation and locus of control in first-year undergraduate students', Studies in Higher Education 26(3): 345-361.

Kohonen, V (1992). 'Experiential language learning: second language learning as cooperative learner education', in Nunan, D (ed.), *Collaborative Language Learning and Teaching* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press): 14-39.

Lee, I. (1998), 'Supporting Greater Autonomy in Language Learning', *ELT Journal* 52(4): 282-90.

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

The CPLA small scale project scheme

The overall purpose of the Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy (CPLA) is to promote learning and teaching practices which empower students to acquire responsibility for their own learning through promoting and innovating ways of enabling students to construct their own knowledge in partnership with tutors and other students. The CETL thus operates as a hub to foster innovative developments in actual teaching practices, and to promote a cultural change that aims to put the student at the heart of teaching and learning practices in profound and effective ways.

Many of the case studies in this publication arose as a result of our strategy, which involved four interlinked areas of development as shown in the diagram below. Through these activities:

- we facilitate the implementation of strategic initiatives in each of our four faculties;
- we stimulate, direct and support the development of a range of innovative teaching practices through our small scale project scheme;
- we enable a scholarly approach to the learner autonomy agenda;
- we develop and provide resources, supported by thorough research, evaluation and capturing the outcomes of supported development projects.



The small scale projects were initiated through a competitive bidding process. In February 2008, staff were invited to submit bids for project support and funding of up to £3,000 from CPLA. These were one-year projects that started in September 2008, and required staff to pursue approaches that promoted Learner Autonomy. The submissions followed a bid format, which included the headings in the table in the Appendix. Applicants were required to seek the approval of their subject group leader or head of department and were asked to consult with their respective Faculty Associate Director of the CPLA. These requirements assured that, in addition to meeting the bid criteria, proposals met with University, Faculty and Departmental strategies.

Through CPLA, 24 small scale projects were supported in the academic year 2008/9. This involved almost 100 members of staff and had an impact on approximately 2,500 students. CPLA project support was provided throughout the year. This included a series of workshops, action learning sets and 'at-elbow' support. The workshops addressed issues such as underpinning literature and scholarship of learning and teaching; the meaning of Learner Autonomy; project management; evaluating the student learning experience; and publishing your work. The action learning sets were developed to encourage a community of practice and to enhance a scholarly approach to the development work. At-elbow support ensured that CPLA was able to support the individual needs of project leaders. An interim poster seminar in January 2009 allowed all projects to share their progress and future plans, and a final symposium in July 2009 facilitated dissemination of the outcomes from projects. These dissemination events also reinforced the need for scholarly approaches to development and reinforced the community of practice. Guidelines and a framework were provided for the posters and final symposium, and these served as a first stage towards producing a final case study of the development project. Project leaders were supported in evaluating their innovations and in preparing their case studies. A number of project leaders also presented their work and findings at national and international conferences and in relevant journals.

This publication serves to support the work of CPLA in disseminating its work across the Higher Education sector. We hope that it will provide a source of ideas, all of which are evidence-based, for academic staff, support staff, educational developers, and senior managers. We also believe that it will be an inspiration for those throughout HE who believe in the value of active learning, enquiry based learning, and collaborative learning as a means of developing learner autonomy. This publication comprises 19 case studies which have arisen from the work of CPLA. Most have come from the small project scheme in 2008/9, although several of the case studies arise out of development work carried out between 2005 and 2007.

Appendix: The criteria and framework for the bidding process

Summary of proposal. (Include aims, objectives and anticipated outcomes.) How will partners be identified, trained and involved in the scheme? How will the new cohort be prepared for this engagement? (max. 100 words)

Background/rationale for the innovation (include potential breadth of applicability/transferability of project) How will the partnership scheme benefit both groups of students?

(max. 100 words)

Project action plan (Give stages in implementation, *who* will do *what* and by *when*? Indicate extent of collaboration with colleagues and students) (max. 250 words)

Benefits (identify the benefits in terms of student learning and promoting learner autonomy across the institution) (max. 150 words)

Corporate plan (identify how this project will address the goals established in section 2 of the corporate plan (improving the student experience). Particular reference should be made to recruitment, transition and retention) (max 100 words)

Evaluation (Specify how the aims, objectives and outcomes are to be evaluated.) (max. 150 words)

Funding requested (Indicate purpose of funding: staff time, equipment, external expertise, travel and subsistence, materials, stationery etc.)

Supporting statement from your Subject Group Leader. (Please indicate in what ways the proposal is integrated with the faculty/divisional strategy for learning and teaching. Include any other forms of support which you will receive if this application is successful.) (max. 100 words)

Enquiry-based learning for Biology Ben Abell (B.Abell@Shu.Ac.uk)

FACULTY OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING (BIOSCIENCES), SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Module Title: The Plant Biotechnology

Level of module: Level 6 (Third Year Undergraduate)

Support team: Jane Gurman (Biosciences tutor), Angela Stafford (external expert with links to biotechnology industry)

Abstract

The project aimed to promote learner autonomy through the application of enquiry-based learning (EBL) approaches to modules in a biology course. The project built on preliminary development of modules in plant biotechnology and sociobiology. A primary focus for the biotechnology module was the development of a proposed solution to a current biotechnology problem, which was undertaken by groups of students. Support was provided in the form of lectures in the early stages of the module, and then by workshops, which provided both skills underpinning the proposal, and a forum for reviewing development of the proposal. Some lectures were delivered by students, thereby building on previous learning experiences in sociobiology. Assessment focused on the proposal, including a previously prepared question in the final exam. New materials were developed for content, session plans, and assessment to implement the module design. These materials were largely successful and will form the basis of the module for other cohorts. Furthermore, core approaches will be implemented in additional modules in Biosciences, resulting in wider adoption of EBL strategies.

Background

Traditional teaching in Biosciences follows a lecture-based approach, which is tutor-centric and does not tend to emphasise learner autonomy. In contrast, Biosciences lecturers possess strong research backgrounds that are based on understanding and building new knowledge through enquiry-based approaches. To maximise the transfer of these skills and develop learner autonomy it seems natural to move towards enquiry-based approaches for module delivery (extensive resources can be accessed at: the Centre for EBL at the University of Manchester; and the Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory [1999]). Expected outcomes are that students will learn biology in a deeper and more coherent manner, promoting quality learning and the acquisition of stronger transferable skills (Kahn and O'Rourke 2005). The EBL expertise developed in these modules will be transferable to a wide range of modules across Biosciences and more widely in SHU. The Biology course started in 2006, and there were 12 students in the first group, who have now reached their final year. Elements of EBL were already present within the course, and in particular a second year module Sociobiology. In Sociobiology, students worked in groups to research a chosen topic of animal behaviour, and presented their findings to the whole group, thereby developing core skills of enquiry. Thus, it was a natural extension to implement a final year module based on an EBL approach, which builds on preliminary development of modules in plant biotechnology and sociobiology. The specific objectives were:

- 1) Analyse module materials to identify areas for development
- 2) Prepare and implement an evaluation strategy
- 3) Involve external industry experts to enhance employability
- 4) Enhance links between research and learning
- 5) Train PhD students to support EBL groups

Objectives 1-4 were substantially met, with the overall outcome being the successful implementation of the new module.

Rationale

The main purpose of this project was to develop a new module for final year biology students on the topic of plant biotechnology. This is a new module based on learning through enquiry, designed to develop students' abilities in the subject area and overall attitude to learning. Some material had already been prepared, but most of the module content was created during this project, and the completion of module design was the initial goal. The other major goal was to evaluate the project to clarify the outcomes and ensure any success elements could be disseminated to influence the design of other Bioscience modules. The universal relevance of EBL across different subjects also encouraged us to attempt wider dissemination of our findings across Sheffield Hallam University.

The conceptual basis of the work stemmed from extensive literature on EBL and examples of practice accessed via the Centre for Excellence in EBL at the University of Manchester. EBL has been applied specifically to university bioscience education by Kerfeld in the US (Kerfeld; Kerfeld and Simons 2007). EBL encompasses a wide range of learning approaches, including problem-based learning and case-based studies. However, the common theme is that the learning is highly centred round the student, with tutors playing the role of facilitators. The approach adopts a constructivist philosophy (Holt 1970), whereby students build on their knowledge in a flexible manner that accounts for their background and interests and facilitates an easy transfer of theory to practice, thus building employability skills. Typically EBL employs significant group work to provide additional support from peers, and to add to the student-centred aspect of learning.

Problem-based and case-based learning are widely used in medical schools as they closely reflect the type of skills needed in medical professions, and are suitable for covering a wide area of knowledge (e.g. Boud and Feletti 1997; Spencer 1999). Other subject areas tend to

use other forms of EBL, which are adapted to the subject style. In this module, generic principles of EBL were adopted to allow student to direct the lines of enquiry and methods employed. One of the main reasons for basing learning on a process of enquiry was to develop valuable skills in independent enquiry and problem-solving that many students will find useful in future careers in science and technology. For instance, biotechnology companies require enquiry skills to design new products and devise solutions to technical problems. Students with a good knowledge and understanding of biology will have a platform for filling such roles, but would be much more prepared if they were better able to apply their knowledge and understanding. EBL places a greater emphasis on such application compared to conventional learning based on teacher-centred lectures. Since the module occurs in the final year, students enter with a strong knowledge base, albeit fragmented by the modular nature of the course. Thus, one of the goals was to promote the use of knowledge already gained and apply it in a more integrated manner to help students gain a more coherent perspective of their studies.

Our main objective was to incorporate the key strengths of EBL to promote strong autonomous learning of Plant Biotechnology. The process of enquiry and problem solving both individually and through peer groups was expected to develop learner autonomy. Students were encouraged to become less dependent on information passed down from tutors, and instead to acquire the skills to pursue independent enquiry. Tutors took on a more active role than that of a facilitator, providing ideas on how to approach a problem and offering guidance towards biotechnology problems, although still with the intention of promoting student autonomy. For example, tutors had extensive experience in biology research that was used to channel student enquiry and problem-solving into more relevant areas. This allowed more interesting and complex topics to be covered by providing support and a minimal level of constraint. Overall, the use of EBL was intended to make the best use of tutor skills to guide students in their development of autonomy.

The fundamental nature of science is imbedded in inquiry-based learning. Inquiry can be a very effective mechanism for better understanding the essence of science, its technical and reasoning processes, and the attitudes that accompany these processes.

(Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory 1999)

The approach

The Plant Biotechnology module is 20 credits and takes place in semester 1, with some overrun into semester 2. The schedule was set for a single 3 hour block each week, which included a 15-20 minute break at a convenient point. Planning for the module content was carried out with Dr Angela Stafford, who has worked in the plant biotechnology industry.

The core learning activity was a proposal to solve a current biotechnology problem, with all other activities linked into it. To provide some key conceptual information, a lecture series ran in the first half of the module, initially delivered by tutors, and then by students with defined content. In parallel, the remaining time (1-2 hours per week) was used for a number

of workshops to support the lecture preparation and proposal planning. Therefore, each block of 3 hours contained a mix of lecture and workshop.



12 w - 3 w break - 3 w

Figure 1. Overview of learning activities for the plant biotechnology module.

Group work was emphasised throughout the module, with each group of three staying unchanged throughout the module. To promote the functioning of groups, students used the 'Belbin analysis' to identify their typical role in groups and then used this to predict any potential weaknesses within the team. Although groups were chosen randomly by the tutors and were not altered, the reasoning behind this analysis was to raise students' awareness of their role within the group and help them to identify problems before they had any major impact.

The second half of the module consisted entirely of workshops to support development of the proposal, culminating in an oral presentation and written assessments. Workshops consisted of two main types: review and discussion of the proposal as it developed; and specific activities to provide input to the proposals such as literature searching and bioinformatics. Specialist support for these workshops was provided by guest tutors. The sessions were designed to be flexible and to provide tailored support for the group proposal, and more generally to encourage and motivate students.

We presumed students would have sufficient experience of independent study at Level 6 so did not expect them to have much difficulties with the approach, although potential problems such as group work and bioinformatics were countered by the provision of directed workshops in these areas. Tutors would also potentially find problems with facilitating the EBL style of learning, so we discussed how to provide the most appropriate type of support. The main strategy was to avoid providing any direct answers or suggestions to students, and instead to promote discussion and pose pertinent questions. This is traditionally practiced in biological research, so the move away from direct provision of information did not present a major challenge.

The strength of the EBL approach is that it unifies many of the topics that students have encountered previously, allows students to build on this knowledge, and develops analytical and creative thinking. The weakness is that less time is available to deliver new content, but this should be balanced by the more content-intensive nature of many other modules across Biosciences. Therefore, the EBL approach requires some balance with other modes of learning.

The impact on students was expected to be: increased motivation, deeper learning of specific topics, and most importantly the development of skills that support application and evaluation of knowledge (Holt 1970; Whowell 2006). One specific impact was predicted to be better preparation for independent lab-based research projects that followed on in semester 2. These projects require the application of theory to tackle complex experimental work and in nature are closely allied to the EBL approach. Ultimately, EBL-style approaches are expected to provide students with the skills required to be successful in graduate study or in employment.

Assessment (teaching practice)

One dilemma inherent to EBL is how to assess the students, especially since most standard assessment methods are not relevant to EBL learning. For example, a typical exam tests a fixed body of knowledge and understanding, whereas EBL learning results in students gaining divergent knowledge. The skills of enquiry are also difficult to assess in an exam situation. Furthermore, it is difficult to determine the contribution that individual students make towards any group work. Therefore, we decided to assess some group work and then base individual assessments on activities arising from the group proposal. Assessment was focussed on the proposal, thereby ensuring that assessment was closely aligned with the learning activities. Whilst the proposal itself was produced as group work, the other assessments related to the proposal were performed individually. This individual assessed coursework comprised an analysis of the group work in terms of team dynamics and a critique of the proposal. A final exam also assessed individual students on all aspects of the module, including core knowledge, problem-solving ability, and a previously prepared (seen) question based on the group project. The remaining assessments were the studentdelivered lectures and online multiple choice questions designed to promote learning of the lecture content. Overall, the assessment was designed to be closely integrated with the main learning activities, and to maintain a balance of group and individual assessment.



Figure 2. Assessment strategy for plant biotechnology module.

Discussion, summary and evaluation

The module ran successfully with a group of 12 students, providing positive outcomes in terms of performance and student satisfaction. All of the students passed with a range of grades from 51-83% and mean of 65%. These grades correspond to a high quality of coursework and exam scripts, and went beyond the core learning outcomes to highlight creativity and depth of enquiry. Most importantly, the exam grades were comparable to the coursework grades, showing that students had become capable of producing high quality individual work and had developed skills that could be employed in the exam. In particular, the problem-solving section was a test of the ability to apply knowledge and understanding to a novel situation, and some students gained full marks. The seen question was an extension of the group project work, and students demonstrated that they were able to use this experience to produce quality work individually.

Success was highly dependent on effective group work, which benefited from an introductory task and the Belbin analysis of team roles. The role analysis enhanced students' awareness of their own and other students' behaviour, and led to efforts to adapt to the requirements of the group. Groups did not always function effectively, but students generally perceived that their group produced more than they could have done individually.

Student feedback on the module was obtained halfway through with a focus group of randomly selected students. This highlighted an overall satisfaction with the learning experience, with some concerns about the group work and its potentially negative effect on grades. Students found that presenting lectures helped them to learn the content, but that it was difficult to learn from the presentations of other students. This difficulty arises from focusing on giving their own presentation and also from the minimal provision of notes, so this will be remedied by setting a prior deadline for submission of handout material. Students felt comfortable with the general approach of EBL, which may be due to partial use of EBL in other areas of the course.

A second focus group was conducted after completion of the module, facilitated by an independent person. Students made a number of key points:

- Learned effectively and were motivated to work hard for the module
- Benefited from the input of an external tutor with direct biotechnology experience
- Became more effective and creative by working in groups
- Took pride in creating an original proposal
- Developed core skills of research, communication, and presentation
- Gained confidence in tackling complex projects
- Drew on learning from a number of other modules
- Became more independent

Students thought the following changes would improve the module:

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

- Working in more than one group
- Providing more support materials for the student lectures
- Better access to textbooks
- Introduce a marked draft proposal to break the proposal into smaller steps
- More targeted support for bioinformatics aspects of the project (suggesting that the workshops are required, and may need to be extended in some cases)

In summary, the student comments suggest that the module is effective and has achieved its main objectives, and the module can be improved by making some minor changes in its organisation. The tutors also found the module enjoyable and an effective way to promote learning. The workshops provided the greatest challenge of tutor skills, requiring flexibility to deal with student needs at the time, and the adoption of more discursive positions. For example, during one workshop the students did not have sufficient written material to allow a full review process of their draft proposals, so we had a round table discussion of each project. The tutor needed to encourage critical evaluation of ideas without providing direct judgment, and promote new lines of enquiry. This was more difficult than leading students towards 'correct' answers, but was also natural because of the tutor's lack of detailed knowledge in the specific topic. This process mirrors a typical discussion amongst researchers at a scientific conference, where the answers are not known yet, and is widely acknowledged amongst researchers to be effective for stimulating ideas. This type of situation that arises in EBL shows how tutors can apply their research skills in the teaching arena, to support student learning.

Further development

The evaluation so far has been qualitative, so it would also be useful to gain some quantitative measures of student development. Summative evaluation has the potential to provide a more objective measure of the impact of EBL, but will only demonstrate definitive differences with sufficient student data. Therefore, student grades will be analysed to assess whether participation in the plant biotechnology module has impacted on their performance in a subsequent module requiring independent enquiry skills.

The plant biotechnology module will run again in the 2009-10 academic year, and in a very similar format since it has been deemed successful. Student feedback and tutor reflection has led to some organisational changes aimed at addressing the weaknesses identified. Key changes targeted are:

- pre-lecture submission of handouts for student lectures to enhance the learning experience for the student observers
- extra time between student lectures to increase the benefit of tutor feedback
- marked draft proposal to provide an early checkpoint for proposal development
- simplification of individual project assessment to remove overlap with the final exam

Student feedback indicated that more EBL would be beneficial, so this approach will be extended to a new module starting in 2009-10 called 'cellular control processes'. This module is 10 credits and is taken by final year students. Some of the structure from plant biotechnology will be used, with a research proposal at the centre of learning activity and assessment. However, one difference is that students will produce more individual work with some elements of group work, thus providing an opportunity to evaluate the value of group work. This module will also involve several other Bioscience tutors, and has the potential to spread the use of EBL across Biosciences.

Dissemination of our findings from this project will also continue within the Bioscience learning and teaching discussion group (LTActives), and more widely across SHU, which should facilitate and exchange of resources with other subject areas. Overall, the goal is to increase the EBL content in Biosciences and SHU to enhance the learner autonomy, and thereby the future prospects for students.

References

Boud, D. and Feletti, G. (Eds.) (1997). The challenge of Problem-Based Learning (2nd Edition). London: Kogan Page Limited.

Centre for excellence in EBL at University of Manchester [online]. Last accessed 15.9.09 at: http://www.campus.manchester.ac.uk/ceebl/

Holt J (1970) How Children Fail. Harmondsworth. Penguin

Kahn P & K O'Rourke (2005). Understanding EBL (in Handbook of Enquiry and Problem Based Learning by Barrett T et al.) [online]. Last accessed 15.9.09 at: www.nuigalway.ie/celt/pblbook/

Kerfeld C. (EBL implemented in the US at UCLA) [online]. Last accessed 15.9.09 at: http://www.licor.com/env/Products/li6400/iblwebinar/

Kerfeld C & RW Simons (2007). The Undergraduate Genomics Research Initiative. PLoS Biol 5(5): e141 [online]. Last accessed 15.9.09 at: http://biology.plosjournals.org/perlserv/?request=get-document&doi=10.1371/journal.pbio.0050141

Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory. (December, 1999). Science Inquiry for the Classroom. Portland, Oregon [online]. Last accessed 15.9.09 at: http://www.nwrel.org/msec/images/science/pdf/litreview.pdf

Spencer, J. (1999). Learner centred approaches in medical education. British Medical Journal, 318, p. 1280 - 1283.

Whowell M (2006). A student guide to EBL. [online]. Last accessed 15.9.09 at: http://www.campus.manchester.ac.uk/ceebl/resources/guides/studentguide_july06.pdf

22

Collaborative learning: supporting learner autonomy in Professional Education

MARK BOYLAN (M.S.BOYLAN@SHU.AC.UK)

FACULTY OF DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIETY (MATHEMATICS EDUCATION CENTRE, DEPARTMENT OF TEACHER EDUCATION)

Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

Significant changes were made in a teacher education course over a period of four years to emphasise collaborative learning as an aspect of learner autonomy. These were informed by social practice theories of learning, including community of practice theory and scholarship and research on peer learning in higher education. The Mathematics Education Professional year brings together both undergraduate and postgraduate students with a wide variety of backgrounds.-Significant changes were made in course design. Particular features of collaborative learning in these developments included: an increase in group problem based learning tasks, the development of learning groups to allow for peer support for research, reflection and engagement in educational enquiry and peer academic tutoring. Student teachers and school based mentors were partners in these developments, which were informed by student teacher evaluations and focus group interviews. Issues are considered that have arisen both in terms of collaborative learning groups and involvement of student teachers as partners in course development

Introduction

This case study reports on a series of interrelated course developments made over a period of four years. The course development followed an action research model, with each year corresponding broadly to one action research cycle of identification of issues, planning, action, evaluation, feedback/noticing, and reflection on the issues. The term 'broadly' is used as student/teacher feedback and tutor reflection were both used to adapt or modify aspects of changes made during the action phase of the cycle.

There have been three principal theoretical influences on course design; social theories of learning, community of practice theory and complexity theory. These, in different ways, inform our approach to collaborative learning. Social constructivist and social constructionist approaches to learning are important theoretical perspectives on learning that generally support the learning approach on all Mathematics Education Centre's courses are (see for example, Bruner 1996, Mercer 1995). In keeping with this, we model ways of teaching and learning that emphasise social aspects of learning. This involves a focus on the importance of discussion and designing collaborative learning tasks that support this.

Community of practice theory (Lave and Wenger 1991, Wenger 1998, Wenger et al 2002) also influenced developments. Our aim is to encourage the development of a learning community defined as a community of practice where learning is a central aim of the communities' practices (Boylan 2004). In particular, we seek to challenge student teachers' existing beliefs about learning mathematics, modelling the course as a collaborative "joint enterprise" (Wenger 1998) of 'learning to teach mathematics for pupil participation and engagement'. We create opportunities for developing a strong sense of identity and shared purpose through 'mutual engagement' (Wenger 1998) on collaborative learning tasks. For example, a key experience early in the professional year is for each main teaching group to go to a partner school to provide a shared learning experience arising from a common task, developing a game for a group of pupils. We also seek to develop a 'shared repertoire' (Wenger 1998) by encouraging a common way of speaking about particular aspects of classroom practice as well as introducing student teachers to the shared language of the mathematics education community that is found in scholarly or research writing in the discipline. Thus the collaborative aspects of teaching as a professional discourse community are emphasised.

The third influence on course design arises from ideas that draw on theories of complex adaptive systems and learning systems (see for example Davis and Stimmt 2003). Important here are practices that encourage a great deal of interaction between student teachers that allows for a sense of 'collectivity' to emerge in the community. The different experiences and perspectives of individuals can contribute to community learning as well as to individual learning. Key ideas include the notion of a formal and informal system. We create a formal system of learning groups in order to encourage collaboration. These learning groups are not friendship groups. But we also expect and encourage the friendship groups and other connections between students to act as an informal system that binds the learning community together. The interface between community of practice theory and complexity theory has been used to emphasise the importance of the small collaborative learning group as an intermediate small learning network bridging between individuals and the larger community.

Background

The Mathematics Professional Year is a complex course. The course includes students on four different courses.

As well as students on the various courses, (referred to here either as student teachers, or simply students) other key actors in the Professional Year are university tutors (the teaching and academic tutor team based at SHU) and school based mentors (teachers in schools who are the lead teacher in the mathematics department in terms of supporting the students).

Course and	Previous study before	Backgrounds	Approximate
description	professional year		percentage of
			PY students
1PGCE	Mathematics graduates or	Approximately half	40%
One Post graduate	related degrees e.g.	recently finished	
study.	Engineering at SHU or	degrees, half career	
	elsewhere	change	
2PGCE	Graduates with some	Very varied in terms	20-25%
Two year post	mathematics in degrees but	of age and ethnicity	
graduate conversion	not enough for 1 year entry.	and previous	
course.	1 Year of study of	academic attainment	
	mathematics in the		
	mathematics education		
	centre		
2BSc	One year study of	Degree 'changers' -	5-10%
Two year degree	mathematics at H level	Perhaps has studied	
route	before joining Mathematics	one year of a degree	
	education centre	elsewhere or with	
	One year study of	HND and career	
	Mathematics alongside	change	
	2PGCE at SHU.		
3BSc	Two years study of	Some mature	30%
3 Year degree route	mathematics with the	students but	
	Mathematics Education	majority usually	
	Centre at SHU in an	come from Post 16	
	educational context	education	

The Mathematics course is itself part of a large secondary teacher education programme, with students studying to teach twelve different school subjects. In addition all students take a General Professional Studies module. Three of these subjects, PE, Engineering and Design Technology, are taught by colleagues in other faculties (HWB and ACES respectively). Courses for students becoming teachers of different school subjects have distinct traditions and practices. This reflects secondary school culture. This means that agreeing change across the programme is a complex and sometimes slow process. In order to keep alignment with other subjects in the programme, individual subjects are constrained to a considerable extent in how they organise their courses.

During the Professional Year student teachers spend 120 days on placement in school with approximately 45 contact days at SHU. The expectations and needs of school mentors, senior liaison tutors and other teachers who support students in school are very important for University tutors to consider in preparing students for placement.

Another central element to the professional year is that initial teacher education takes place in the context of a national framework of competence based skills, the Professional Teaching Standards (TDA, 2007). All beginning teachers are assessed against these standards in order to qualify to teach and so their content is necessarily a significant influence on University courses. The standards offer both 'affordances and constraints' in terms of developing the course, often aspects of the standards are simultaneously an affordance and a constraint. For example, they offer affordances in that they provide a language to speak about teaching that is shared by school based mentors, student teachers and SHU tutors. However, at the same time this language is restricted in terms of the extent to which it allows for discussion about significant aspects of teaching and learning, such as how learning happens. Similarly, the standards call for student teachers to demonstrate collaborative skills and thus support and justify the teamworking approach on our course. However, the grading of student teacher competence can act as a barrier to collaboration with mentors and generally supports a culture of comparison which can act as a barrier.

Taken together these different elements in the Professional Year constrain both the extent and pace of change in terms of promoting learner autonomy and collaborative learning. At the same time aspects of the course, such as the development of teachers to be independent reflective practitioners require students to develop learner autonomy.

Rationale

Over a period of four years the mathematics education professional year course has seen significant changes. Course development was supported by a TQEF funded project 'Enhancing Continuity in the Professional Year' 2004-2006, a CPLA project, 'Participation and non-participation in learning communities', and directly from Post-Compulsory and Secondary Area (PCASO) development time funds.

There were five significant factors that encouraged us to make changes to the course. Firstly, there was a significant contrast between the level of learner autonomy required of the students whilst at Sheffield Hallam and that required when they were placed in schools. At Hallam, students had a very full time timetable of tutor led sessions. The expectation in schools was that students should very quickly begin to take responsibility for classes and begin to work as independent professionals, all be it with support from mentors and experienced teachers. Secondly, an important feedback from school mentors was that some students found it difficult to work collaboratively in departmental teams and in particular to work closely with their mentor and receive advice constructively.

Thirdly, there was also a lack of understanding in schools about the detail of study at Sheffield Hallam. In one meeting with mentors during the project it became apparent that the mentors' assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of the SHU taught part of the course was in some cases an inversion of the tutors' assessment of our strengths and weaknesses. In a situation where it is difficult to secure enough high quality school placements for students, relationships with mentors are very important as is their view of the quality of our preparation of students. We summarised this issue as a lack of continuity

of learning experience between University and work based learning. A fourth motivation, and connected to the previous one, was our desire to prepare students better for a school world in which team working and collaboration are increasingly important.

The fifth was that two groups, the continuing and the 1 PGCE students, were largely taught separately by overlapping, but distinct, small tutor teams. Each group had one lead tutor who was responsible for course programme, session planning and teaching as well as academic tutoring. They were supported usually by one other tutor. A significant amount of tutor led sessions were designed independently leading to some duplication of work and so impacting on effective use of limited staff resources. The Mathematics Education Centre has a long tradition of supporting collaborative group work. However, in the Professional Year collaborative learning was largely restricted to taking place in tutor led sessions, rather than outside it. This too raised questions about effective use of tutor time. Student evaluations also indicated student concern about differences between the groups' experiences. Students in both groups pointed to examples of the 'other group' having, in their view, a better experience in particular areas. A particular concern was differences in outcome and inequity.

The approach: changing the learning experience

What has changed?

Later I give an account of the way in which course developments happened. First to give a sense of what these changes mean for student teachers on the course I offer two constructed accounts of important aspects of being on the Professional Year course: one for a student teacher in 2004/05 (Box 1) and one for a student in 2008/09. Not all the changes experienced by the student teachers are directly related to the development projects cited above. For example, the introduction of Master Level credit is part of a whole programme development. Some changes are more indirectly related. For example, in a Professional Year tutor team, a mini community of practice (Wenger 1998), emerged with a clear identity as the course was developed and redesigned. The creation of this team has allowed for different and improved systems for supporting struggling students whilst on placement. A central thread to the many changes that have taken place has been to create possibilities for greater independent learning in particular through collaboration with other students.

Box 1: Professional Year Student 2004/05

I am in the same teaching group for all my sessions. I do not have much contact with students in the other group. I see them around but except for GPS sessions I don't work with them or talk to them, although I might find myself paired on teaching practice with one of them.

I am taught mainly by one tutor with some support by a second tutor. The other group is taught by a different tutor. When I have chatted to students in the other group it seems we have similar but slightly different sessions and at different times.

There is a blackboard site. It is mainly used for storing information.

I have three mathematics education assignments. They are assessed at level 5 or level 6. The assignments are about planning, analysing assessment data and writing about events that happen in the classroom.

I have an academic tutor who I meet with in a group. During tutorials the focus is on information exchange. We come back to University once during teaching practice.

When I am in school I have a school based mentor. The mentor has limited information about what I do in University. There is a school based tasks booklet. I have quite a lot of freedom to choose how I lesson plan. Sometimes this can be confusing moving to a new placement where school expectations might be different.

Box 2: Professional Year Student 2008/09

I am part of different sized teaching and learning groups. Mainly I am with either the 1 Year PGCE or continuing students. We have a joint timetable and tutors teach the same titled sessions to each group. Altogether I will have a seminar or workshop with one of 6 tutors plus traditional sessions led by teachers during school visits. Once a week we join up with the other group to have a whole cohort session. At the start of the year we do a 'getting to know you activity' in this whole cohort group.

Around twice a week when at University instead of a workshop session led by a tutor I work in a learning group of 4 to 6 students. There are three types of work I do in groups:

sometimes we have a practical task to work on together such as preparing a short activity to do with a group of pupils in school, or

sometimes we work on a learning group reading task. We have individual reading and reflection tasks to do, which we then share and continue to work on in our learning groups. These learning group reading tasks support our academic study

sometimes we meet to prepare for academic tutorials. We are given guidance on peer academic tutoring. In peer academic tutor sessions we look at and give feedback on each other's teaching practice file, or drafts of each other's academic work. We work together on developing enquiry skills and share and discuss our enquiry proposals. We then meet up with our tutor as a group and discuss how the group peer tutorial session went and issues that have come up We come back to University twice during each teaching practice.

There is a blackboard site which has a set of discussion boards with forums related to issues in school and to academic work.

I have three mathematics education assignments. If I am a PGCE student I have the opportunity to gain up to 60 M level credits. Assignments are about planning, reflecting critically on themes in mathematics education and carrying out a 40 credit point educational enquiry. I have lots of opportunities for self, peer and tutor formative assessment and feedback.

When I am in school I have a school based mentor. My mentor is given quite a lot information on the course including copies of my academic assignments and some of the reading associated with them. Everyone on the course starts by planning on common templates and uses the same language to talk about lessons. Mentors have information about this.

As well as my teaching practice school, I also go into 2 or 3 other schools as a part of a larger group with other students. Often I do preparation for, or reflect on, these visits in my learning group.

How has it changed?

The general approach to change has been to increase the opportunities for collaborative learning. Our belief is that our ability to collaborate is not set by a fixed learning style but is itself an example of social learning. We recognise the need to scaffold students' learning with increasing levels of challenge in terms of the nature of collaborative tasks set. In doing this we are also scaffolding the challenge for the group as it develops from a collection of individuals to, hopefully, a learning community with a distinct identity. We also explicitly address issues of group learning and the challenges and benefits of it, both to support our students as higher education students but also to support our students as beginning teachers. It is also important for the success of the independent group tasks that they build on active collaboration in tutor led sessions. A common approach to collaborative tasks is a model of individual work on a task before group sharing.

To support the development of community, we have offered a range of innovative learning experiences. For example in a session called 'Presence in the classroom' students work in a movement studio, participating in mathematical and non mathematical movement activities that are intended to have a team building effect. In some workshops and seminars the students are expected to move frequently in the room to work and discuss with many others. Often this might happen in a 'cocktail party' format with students moving around the room having short conversations with each other whilst standing.

There has been an increase in opportunities for student teachers to take responsibility for their own learning. This has required the development of sessions that allow for the formation of groups that have a diverse range of learning preferences and team roles. It has also been necessary to produce guidance to support independent learning activities. Such guidance and task descriptions have been continually reviewed and refined.

In developing peer and self assessment strategies, we have modelled an approach to self assessment. We offer examples of reflection on teaching sessions informed by academic literature and reviews of key literature. Students then engage with us in assessing these examples in a structured way as a prelude to self and peer assessment in learning groups.

Course development has involved an expansion of the roles of both tutors and students. For example, in addition to conducting academic tutorials with students, tutors now facilitate peer academic tutoring. Students now have a role of giving feedback on each others' work in a more structured and focused way. This in turn calls for students to develop activities specifically on giving feedback and on the development of the social and personal skills needed for collaborative learning.

How did we make the changes?

The development of the course has not happened in a linear fashion or according to a predetermined plan outlined at the start. In keeping with the theoretical perspectives that have informed the developments, such as complexity theory, change has come as a sometimes 'messy' process that is part of the richness of practitioner research and change. Those who have carried out action research projects will know that the reality of the way in which scholarship, experience, action, reflection, evaluation, external pressures, team debates and so on, influence each other in a way that is not represented by a tidy diagrammatic action research cycle. In that sense the course has evolved through a series of adaptations to particular issues or circumstances.

An example of this evolving approach has been in the development of the learning foci of collaborative learning groups. These began as groups who came together to carry our practical or problem based tasks such as designing a resource or creating a lesson plan for a specific purpose. We then added in the peer academic tutor functions including formative assessment. The introduction of a more extensive range of reading tasks was a response to the move to M level assessment in 2007/08. Following evaluation we have reduced the number and extent of these tasks in 2008/09.

We have drawn extensively on the team's experience of collaborative learning in mathematics classrooms, we have also informed our practice through existing scholarship and research (for example Jacques 2000 and Falchikov 2001). Over the four years, we have tried various models to group students. We allowed a great deal of freedom so, for the continuing students at least, they have worked largely in friendship groups. We have placed students in groups that have been predetermined by the tutor and asked them to work in these groups for every session. There is a limited amount of research that indicates tutor designated groups may be more productive than student chosen groups (Falchikov 2001). However, our current approach is to allow freedom to choose other group members with

certain constraints that mean the groups are self chosen but it is unlikely to be only an existing friendship group. In 2008/09 we have begun to use Belbin Roles as one of these constraints.

It has been important to value a range of voices in the developmental team, including those who urge more radical change and see the benefits of what could be, and those who are more cautious and know the benefits of what already exists. Equally important has been that this diversity has been coupled with shared values and purposes within the team: to support beginning teachers to learn to teach for pupil participation and engagement. We have supported each other as tutors in developing the new roles and learning activities that course developments entailed by collaborative planning and increasing opportunities for team teaching.

It has also been important to engage school mentors in partnership. A formal example has been the involvement of mentors in a curriculum design team that initiated many of the changes and contributed to the development of a new approach to developing students' lesson planning skills. More often this contribution has been informal through extensive discussions about different aspects of students' development as issues have arisen in particular cases.

Evaluation and benefits

Student involvement has been central to course development. This has included established forms of evaluation such as from course representatives and end of year evaluations. In addition, we have used 'real time' feedback, by having short feedback activities at the end of sessions. In this we modelled good assessment for learning practice that we hope students will translate into their own practice in schools. We introduced an interim course evaluation to give students the opportunity to shape the content of the second block of time at University rather than delaying changes to the following year after end of year evaluations. Because an important purpose is developing community we have used a survey designed as a measure of community feeling in a group of learners (Rovai 2002). There are issues about the reliability and validity of this instrument, however, it has allowed for comparisons to be made between cohorts year to year. During two years of the course, groups of students have been interviewed and 10 students attended a half day workshop which led to the production of a summary of important factors which contribute to the success of collaborative learning groups. This document has been used with students in following years as a prompt for reflection on group learning.

Although these additional evaluation activities have been important, perhaps of more significance has been a willingness to listen carefully and critically to the students' voices about the course design and content, regardless of whether it is offered as formal or informal feedback. This does not mean necessarily accepting everything all students have to say. It is important to use the same skills of critical reflection that we encourage in our students in considering student feedback. For example, until recently there was considerable inequity in the financial support for PGCE students and BSc students in terms

of government funded bursaries (there is still inequity but it has been reduced). Resentment about this inequity for some of the of BSc students in one particular year led, in the tutors' view, to a more general negativity about some aspects of the course which was in contrast to the experience of other students. Having a range of evaluation and research tools helped us to be able to enquire more deeply into reasons for students' engagement or lack of it.

In any case what the various evaluation activities have made clear is that not all students say or want the same thing. However, it does mean considering that the issues that may arise for students as they negotiate what are sometimes gaps and contradictions between the learning experience at University and the learning experience in school are as much if not more our responsibility than the students or the schools. Sometimes there is little that can be done in the short term about these contradictions and gaps other than to engage the students in conversation as partners and fellow beginning professionals and so to make these issues further opportunities for learning about the complexity of education and teaching.

Relating issues of evaluation to the action research model, we have focused on considering the different information gained by evaluation as offering feedback that requires critical reflection. In this the development of a team of tutors as a collaborative professional learning community helped this process of critical reflection as multiple perspectives were represented.

Because of the extensive evaluation activities and feedback from ex-students and schools that employ our students, we can identify a number of significant benefits for students:

- A greater sense of a learning community
- The opportunity to work with and learn from students in the whole cohort
- The opportunity to learn in a small collaborative learning group
- Development of group work skills
- Clearer guidance about key professional skills including lesson planning, leading to greater learning in these areas
- Greater use of VLE
- Experience of the approach to teaching and learning of a wider number of tutors
- Greater consistency about use of language
- More consistency and equity in support of assignments including more formative assessment

Benefits to tutors include

- More effective use of staff resource
- Clearer guidance for academic tutoring
- Improvement in reputation of students' preparation helping to increase number of placements

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

• The development of a 'Professional Year Team' as a sub group within the Mathematics Education Centre team.

Benefits for schools include

- Clearer shared expectations of students
- Improvements in students overall ability to receive feedback and work collaboratively with mentors
- Positive feedback on the quality of our students as they become newly qualified teachers including a significant number who quickly take on leadership roles in their departments

In addition the changes in the course have helped to further improve the reputation of the SHU professional year course and this has fed into increase number of student placements.

Discussion of dilemmas, tensions and unresolved issues

Although there have been considerable benefits from the course there have been costs as well. When the students were taught in single groups by only one or two tutors they had the opportunity to create stronger bonds with these tutors. These tutors were responsible for most teaching and tutoring and assessment of the students, and arguably they had greater knowledge of each individual, than tutors will have of the current cohort. It is also important to recognise that there already was a sense of a learning community within the teaching groups before these course developments; one sort of learning community has been replaced by another with students now spending time between three different sized learning groups.

During the development process interesting tensions emerged in terms of promoting learner autonomy. We wanted the students to take on more independence for their learning but to do it in collaboration; this meant promoting a more uniform approach in some areas. For example, the previous way of developing lesson planning skills was through a tutor-led session in which students reflected on different styles of lesson plan. After this session students were encouraged to adopt one of these styles or to develop their own. Early on in the development process, following discussion amongst tutors and with mentors and students, the tutor team took the view that this was an inappropriate amount of freedom to offer students in their first few weeks of teaching and the autonomy could be refocused into a more productive area. By requiring students to all use the same lesson plan proforma at the beginning of the course, the focus shifts from the style of planning to the substance of their approach to teaching and learning, selection of resources and so on, and developing a common language, or a shared repertoire (Wenger, 1998) to discuss classroom practice. These we believe are more important areas at this stage of their learning in terms of developing and exercising their autonomy as teachers. The influence of social constructionist theories of learning and the concept of scaffolding will be apparent here. In addition a more uniform approach to lesson planning style means that students are more easily able to engage in self and peer assessment of the lessons plans. The focus is now not on individually developing their own lesson plan proforma or style but on collaboratively developing and sharing a number of plans for lessons. Essentially we want to support the students in the exercise of autonomy in the areas most appropriate at this stage in their professional development.

The move to greater independent learning has meant a reduction in the number of tutor led sessions. This has involved difficult choices about what to include and what to leave out. Particularly when leaving out sessions which, if initial teacher education was as long in the UK as it is overseas, we feel would be vital to a teachers' preparation. There is also a change in tutors' role, and so identity, as the nature of their relationships with students begins to change. Given this, the evolutionary approach to change described above has been important.

Restructuring assessment to promote collaborative learning and peer and self assessment foregrounds some of the tensions and contradictions that can arise in developing greater learning autonomy in this way. In order to create opportunities for collaboration and peer learning on assessment tasks, it is necessary to be more directive about how and when students engage in tasks. For example, peer assessment of a lesson plan is much easier if done on the same proforma. In order to allow for learning group discussion of enquiry proposals, students have to be required to hand in work by a certain dates. Such paradoxes and contradictions may in the end be unresolvable.

An individual student's success is in part dependent on how well the group interacts; a factor that is only partially influenced by the individual student or the tutor. Support is given in collaborative skills and issues that arise can be addressed through group tutorials. However, there are many other factors during the professional year that similarly cannot be directly and immediately controlled by student or tutor. Whilst the programme aims to ensure the quality of the student experience, inevitably the support students get, the relative level of challenge of classes taught and more everyday, but nevertheless important, issues such as travel distance to placement inevitably varies. However, by having a mixture of learning experiences including group learning, differences of experience in different areas can be compensated for in others.

Future developments

The development of collaborative learning is on going. As stated earlier in 2008/09 Belbin team roles are being used to support the process of forming collaborative learning groups. Rather than using the more usual more passive questionnaires, action methods (Weiner 1997) are used to allow students to identify their relationship to Belbin roles and having a balance of roles in the groups is a key constraint on group formation. This will be evaluated later in the year. Connected to this is our intention to introduce some form of self and peer assessment of their group work skills.

During the time of the course developments, Mathematics Education moved to City Campus. This led to students raising the issue of being able to find suitable accommodation to carry

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

out learning group tasks. In addition some students suggested that it might be useful to have tutors on hand when learning groups were meeting. Due to timetabling processes we were unable to address the issue properly, but we are considering timetabling large rooms when learning group times are indicated and possibly arranging to have a single tutor available for the whole cohort for some of this time, to support individual groups, particularly around any issues that may arise around group process.

In 2008/09 Mathematics was also part of a cross subject project supported by the CPLA called 'Developing enquiring teachers through peer group learning'. This involves tutors and students from Mathematics, Science, RE and English Education. Details of this project can be found at http://extra.shu.ac.uk/cetl/cplaprojectsmain.html

References

Bruner, J. (1996) *The Culture of Education*. Boston: Harvard University Press.

Boylan, M. (2004) *Questioning (in) school mathematics: Lifeworlds and Ecologies of Practice.* Sheffield Hallam University. PhD: March 2004

Davis, B. & Stimmt, E. (2003) Understanding learning systems: Mathematics Education and complexity science. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education* Vol 3(2) Page 137-167

Falchikov, N. (2001) *Peer Tutoring in Higher Education* New York: Routledge Falmer:

Jacques, D. (2000) Learning in Groups: a handbook for improving group work. London: Kogan Page

Lave, J., & Wenger. E. (1991) *Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Mercer, N. (1995) The Guided Construction of Knowledge. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters Ltd.

TDA (2007) Professional Standards for Teachers: Qualified Teacher Status. London: TDA. http://www.tda.gov.uk/upload/resources/pdf/s/standards_qts.pdf

Wenger, E. (1998) *Communities of Practice: Learning, Meaning and Identity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wenger, E., Demott, R. & Snyder, W. (2002) *Cultivating communities of practice: a guide to managing knowledge* Boston Harvard Business School Press

Weiner, R (1997) *Creative Training: Sociodrama and Team-building.* London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
Promoting learner autonomy and creative engagement in first year Engineering students through media MIKE BRAMHALL (M.D.BRAMHALL@SHU.AC.UK)

KEITH RADLEY, LEARNING AND TEACHING INSTITUTE (K.RADLEY@SHU.AC.UK)

JOHN METCALF (J.METCALF@SHU.AC.UK)

FACULTY OF ARTS, COMPUTING, ENGINEERING AND SCIENCES, SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Module Title: Materials, Manufacturing and Environmental Engineering *Level of module*: Level 4 (First Year Undergraduate)

Abstract

This project builds on the premise that first year undergraduate students enter higher education with a high motivation to learn and to adapt to new ways of learning that differ from their previous learning experiences (Fazey and Fazey, 2001; Yorke and Longden, 2008). The central idea was then to give engineering students a challenge that would allow them to engage creatively with an 'authentic' learning task that would encourage them to develop a greater degree of learner autonomy. Ultimately, this positive engagement was seen as key to creating greater level of enthusiasm among first-year engineering students for their chosen degree course. Moreover, while learner autonomy and creativity characterise an ideal engineering graduate, it was felt that these qualities are typically less emphasised in engineering education itself, and this project also sought to address this obvious shortcoming.

This case study therefore presents the learning, teaching and assessment methods used in a first year engineering undergraduate module, with a view of tapping into what are perceived as first-year students' intrinsic aptitudes and motivations to learn actively and creatively. The aim was also to encourage students to take responsibility for their own learning processes, improve their confidence as new learners in Higher Education and so to improve module pass rates, and ultimately, student retention. In this case, video and media production were introduced in the module to allow engineering undergraduates to take a non-traditional approach to learning.

Background and Rationale

The module ('Materials, Manufacturing and Environmental Engineering') that the project focused on, had previously been taught over two semesters through a very traditional method which consisted of series of keynote lectures, followed by seminars and practical laboratory classes. Level 4 (first year) students enrolled on the BSc Automotive Technology

and BSc Engineering Design and Innovation degree courses are required to take this module as part of their degree.

While some problem-based learning through case study exercises had been undertaken by previous cohorts of student during Semester 2, attendance rates were low and the first-time pass rates remained at a less than satisfactory level of 75%. Moreover, the exercises appeared not to develop learner autonomy in first-year students, even when this was identified as one of the key learning outcomes of the course. This appeared to be due to the fact that the exercises were technically prescriptive and very much tutor-led, and allowed students very little control over the learning task itself, or the way the task was completed.

It was therefore decided that a new approach that would encourage students to take the initiative and lead in exploring an engineering problem, in a hope increasing levels of motivation and learner autonomy. Drawing from the definitions developed by the Centre for Excellence in Teaching and Learning (Promoting Learner Autonomy) at Sheffield Hallam University, the characteristics of an autonomous learner were conceptualised as:

- Critical thinking skills
- Self-awareness and self efficacy
- Taking responsibility for one's own learning
- Confidence
- Working creatively in complex situations (CETL bid, 2004)

To develop these qualities in first-year undergraduates, the module organisers decided that the course should be, to a significant extent, learner-led so that the students would have a real opportunity develop the above qualities as learners (see Peters, 2004). One way of allowing this development to take place, was to allow students to learn through processes of social interaction while working in groups. The module leaders also wanted to capitalise on student's existing skills and competencies in using information technologies, which students now often 'take for granted and integrate them seamlessly into their daily lives' (Caruso and Salaway, 2007). In particular, as students in mainstream education are becoming increasingly knowledgeable and proficient in creating and up-loading digital media¹, it was felt that these resources are bringing about new opportunities in the way teaching and learning is delivered and managed in higher education. Finally, the module leaders wanted to make the most of the fact that most first-year students are generally positive about their first year at university (Yorke and Longden, 2008) and are equally willing to adapt to new learning styles at this stage than during the preceding years when their ideas of what higher education is like is already formed (Fazey and Fazey, 2001).

The main aim was therefore to enhance student retention through improving student motivation and engagement, as well as fostering creativity and confidence in first-year

¹ MySpace' and 'YouTube' are just two examples of free user-generated on-line video sharing. Recent studies conducted by JISC (2007) and ECAR (2007) show that those who do enter Higher Education tend to have higher expectations, and are much more skilled compared with their predecessors.

engineering students through enquiry and authentic learning. To this end, students were asked to produce a digital media presentation on an engineering-based issue. The rationale behind asking engineering students to engage with visual and digital media was to offer them a creative opportunity to move beyond their 'comfort zone' through giving them a challenge that did not necessarily directly relate to their chosen topic of study. However, the idea was not to turn engineering students into media students, but to give them a task that required a considerable amount of background research and creative thinking in order to produce a video clip that was grounded on solid subject specific knowledge and understanding, but simultaneously presented in an 'easily-digestible' format.

This was a considerable challenge for students who had typically just less than a year before finished their 'A'-levels exams and felt confident about studying independently to pass an exam, set in a familiar format. For many, the prospect of learning to work collaboratively (and yet autonomously in that there was no familiar exam format for them to study for) was a challenge. They were therefore required to 'think outside the box' in that while the subject topic was directly relevant to their degree course, none of the students had previously had an opportunity to approach and showcase an engineering-related learning task in this way.

As well as developing skills in media production, this was also presented as an opportunity for students to develop other key employability skills, such as presentation techniques, project management and communication skills whilst working collaboratively and effectively in groups.

Teaching Practice

The first semester of the two-semester module was taught in more 'traditional' way in that teaching consisted of lectures and seminars, which gave students grounding in the study of engineering. The new learning and teaching approach took place in the second semester over a period of twelve teaching weeks. The main difference was that students were asked to be more autonomous and self-directed in their learning. The cohort was divided into two groups, which in turn were divided into smaller groups of no more than five students. The small groups were expected to work on their projects independently and in collaboration with their group members. The two tutors involved in teaching this module met with the groups every two or three weeks, where the students could discuss their progress and raise any issues that they might have with regards to their project.

There were two types of project work that the students were asked to choose from:

Video presentation: One half of the first year group of students was required to produce short video clips (of less than two minutes) related to the theme of 'Materials, Manufacturing or Environmental Processes'. This involved filming in the laboratories to capture some actual materials engineering processes. These students were then introduced to basic digital media



CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

skills through a series of lectures on video and media production, such as camera skills, the 'grammar' of television, interview techniques and editing skills. The resultant clip (or asset) was embedded within a PowerPoint presentation, and located within the Blackboard Virtual Learning Environment (VLE) for other students to view.

Brief: The second half of the student cohort covered the theme of 'Engineering Disaster Management'. As part of their task, during the first two weeks of the semester the students were required to develop a half page 'brief' related to an engineering disaster that had happened anywhere in the world, on real-life topics such as 'Why did the Twin Towers collapse after impact?' Or 'The NASA shuttle disaster'. The brief was developed during the first two weeks of the semester. This brief had to:

- give the background to the disaster and where it fits within the context of materials and/or manufacturing and/or environmental engineering;
- define the project/problem, provide details of the outcomes/solutions (particularly in relation to future prevention); and
- present a work programme or project plan to include how they would find information, the type of information, responsibilities and team roles for the different aspects of the project.

The final piece of work also involved students having to download pre-edited video clips from the internet to use as visual aids in their presentation.

Both groups of students presented their projects at the end of module 'Student Conference'. An external speaker was invited from industry to deliver the keynote on 'Engineering Disasters'. This added a level of formality and allowed students to get a feel for a 'real-world' conference event.

Students presenting at the end of module conference



Support

Because the students were not used to this type of assessment, it was deemed essential that they would be well supported throughout the semester. The students were supported and prepared for the project work in a number of ways. A series of seminars on video and media production skills was provided during semester 1 and then again in semester 2. Scheduled drop-in sessions were also provided, where students could raise and discuss any relevant issues with the tutors.

In order to allow the groups to build on each group member's strengths, students were also introduced to the Belbin's description of roles within an effective team (2003) at the beginning of the semester and before embarking on researching for their assignment. Students then undertook a self-perception analysis of their Belbin team role and were encouraged to reflect upon this analysis in assigning roles within the group.

Assessment

The assessment for the module involved:

- Student conference presentations (25%)
- A time-constrained, multi-choice test based on the research findings presented at the student conference (50%)
- Report (25%)

The end of module 'student conference' was held during the latter part of semester 2, but early enough to be able to have the in-class test a few weeks afterwards. To ensure that the students engaged with their peers presentations, questions based on the knowledge disseminated at the conference were included in the test.

Students were assessed on their presentations and marked by a panel of staff and external specialists working in the engineering industry. Students were asked to submit copies of the presentations prior to the conference, which allowed the tutors to produce a conference programme. This again added to the gravitas of the event itself.

Only the presentations were marked as no group reports were required. This reduced the staff assessment burden and allowed for a fast turn around of feedback to the students as well.

The students were also invited to reflect on the skills they had gained through the process and include these in their Personal Development Portfolios (PDPs), although this was not part of the formal assessment.

Module Evaluation

The evaluation focused both on the students' views on the module, as well as on the extent to which the students' felt that this course had enhanced their autonomy as learners. At the beginning of Semester 2, a questionnaire was distributed to students to find out about their perceptions of learner autonomy, their existing learning styles and expectations, as well as on the extent to which they felt they were confident in their vocational skills. The questionnaire has a good response rate at approximately 70% (28 out of 40 students). Additionally, a number of focus groups were carried out at the end of the module to further explore student views on the assignments in order to identify the benefits (and possible challenges) of this type of learning and teaching methodology.

Initial Questionnaire on Learner Autonomy and Learning Styles

Perhaps unsurprisingly, more than half of the students who responded to the questionnaire had no idea what the term 'autonomous learning' might refer to (students were not given a definition but were invited to give their own views on what the term might refer to). The remainder thought it meant either 'to take control of one's own learning' (7 responses), 'independent or self learning' (4 responses) and 'planning my own studies' (3 responses). The fact that most equated autonomous learning with independent study was reflected in their responses whereby majority of students felt that they were 'autonomous learners' already, and that although group work was considered beneficial, they felt that the best way to develop learner autonomy was through independent study.

Other findings showed that students were very strongly assessment driven, and would only research and gather information when undertaking an assignment. In addition, most students expected clear guidance from their tutors and lecturers with regards to learning tasks and relevant sources of information.

With regards to which vocations skills they thought most important for a qualified engineer were problem-solving skills, ability to work in a multidisciplinary environment, ability to organise workloads effectively in order to meet deadlines. Not surprisingly, the students also rated IT skills important, but felt that they were already competent in using IT.

Focus group findings (after the student conference)

A focus group was organised to find out the extent to which the students had found the assignment and the experience of presenting at the student conference helpful or challenging.

The day itself was a great success and students commented on how much they had learnt from their engagement on the project. They particularly enjoyed the fact that presenting at a simulated technical conference in front of their peers and keynote speakers from the industry allowed them to practice for the 'real world of work'. They also felt much more confident and motivated about tacking engineering related problems in the future, and felt more employable as a result:

"Presenting information and ideas to an audience helps with employers."

"[Working like this] gave me skills to apply in any situation in the future."

"Doing this has boosted my confidence."

Presenting at a simulated conference also enhanced students' motivation and confidence, and also gave them the impetus to make the most of the strengths that can be capitalised when working effectively as a team:

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

"We [as a group] also benefited from....the experience of doing something like this [student conference. It's the first time I've done something like this."

"Working as a group is the best option as you get to know who they are and how other people work, what are their strengths plus their weaknesses."

Finally, the students felt that the active and autonomous nature of this assignment was a motivational factor, and allowed them to learn more effectively as a result:

"Going away and looking for the information for ourselves was quite good, rather than being spoon fed."

"I've found out much more about manufacturing and materials and how engineering disasters are investigated [...] my presentation skills have definitely improved as well."

The challenges the students typically faced during the process included:

- Technical issues (getting to grips with the audio-visual technology)
- Engagement with other member in their groups (difficulties in encouraging some of their fellow students to attend)
- Fear of the 'unknown' (the open-ended nature of the new case study work; undertaking a student-led activity, rather than tutor-led)
- Time management (balancing the time spent on this type of project compared to other assessments as most spent more on the project time than originally envisaged)
- Discipline-specific issues (the need to quickly gain understanding of the deeper technical concepts that underpinned their case studies)

Conversely, tangible benefits of this learning process included:

- Increased student motivation which lead to much deeper learning
- Employability skills gained through this way of working were directly linked to students' Personal Development Plans (PDPs)
- Increased confidence
- Enhanced skills in effective team working and project management
- Course marks improved
- Working with multimedia promoted digital fluency
- Students felt much more autonomous as learners from early on in their studies

Staff perspectives

For staff embarking on a new way of approaching learning and teaching was fraught with risk as there was no guarantee that the approach would actually work. Initially, there was also a considerable amount of 'front-loading' to be done, which was quite time consuming.

However, once the module was running, there was less direct contact with students, and the contact hours were always directly relevant to the students' learning needs - albeit this required the staff to be highly adaptable and quick to respond when it came to the students' learning needs. The assessment method also reduced the burden of marking for staff quite significantly, and therefore the overall teaching burden on the staff was less than in previous years.

Moreover, the tutors involved in the running of this module also relished the challenge of being pushed out of their own comfort zone (along with the students), and strongly felt that 'something creative like this' was needed in order for the first year students to showcase their true potential. The success of this teaching approach, evidenced in the highly creative and high-quality presentations produced by the first-year engineering students, was therefore particularly satisfying experience for the staff. The staff felt that this had allowed students to showcase the two key qualities of skilful engineers: creativity and critical thinking. Moreover, they felt that they had also managed to capitalise on the fact that most first-year students do typically feel very positive about their studies (see also Yorke and Longden, 2008), and that allowing students to engage in enquiry-based and authentic learning, while handing over the responsibility for their own learning from the tutor-led mode to a student-led one, had enabled students to keep motivated and challenged throughout their first year at University.

The increased attendance and retention rates were also evidenced in the pass rate for this module. Overall, the first time pass rate for the first year module increased from the previous 3 years from 77% 75% and 80% to 95%. (The only referrals were those students that failed to attend the conference.)

Conclusions

Overall, this approach was highly successful, albeit the less flexible format assigned to 'Manufacturing Processes' groups was less popular simply because it did not capture the students' imaginations in the same way as the 'Engineering Disasters' did. This, whoever, was more to do with the subject topic than the process itself. The main issue was with the fact that simply filming manufacturing processes in a lab appeared to have much less connection with how materials engineering impacts what happens in the 'real world', like it was in the case of the NASA space shuttle disaster.

Despite the risks initially associated with introducing new media technology to students, the staff found that students quickly adapt to the technology. They also readily rose to the challenge of managing their own learning processes, and many commented having got immense satisfaction from having tackled and mastered a new skill as part of their engineering course.

For staff, facilitating course was challenging, yet rewarding. In terms of cost and staffing, the format proved highly cost-effective, despite the initial front-loading. The media files that students produced, could be used as a learning resource for future cohorts of students,

adding to the long-term benefit of working in this way. Most importantly, however, it was satisfying to observe that compared to previous years' cohorts, who had been taught in much more 'traditional' way, students were more motivated and enthusiastic about their chosen degree of study.

Interview clips on student feedback on this module can be viewed at:

http://cyclops.shu.ac.uk:8080/ramgen/archive/lits/LTI/studentvoices-1.rmvb

References

Bramhall, M, Radley K, Metcalf, J, 'Users as producers: students using video to develop learner autonomy', presented at Engineering Education 2008 - Innovation, Good Practice and Research in Engineering Education, Loughborough University (2008).

Belbin, R M., 'Management Teams- Why they succeed or fail', 2nd Edition, Butterworth Heinemann (2003).

Caruso JB and Salaway G, (2007). ECAR Study of undergraduate students and information technology [online]

Last accessed 23 November 2008 at: http://www.educause.edu/ir/library/pdf/ers0706/rs/ERS0706w.pdf

Fazey, D. and Fazey, J. (2001), 'The potential for autonomy in learning: perceptions of competence, motivation and locus of control in first-year undergraduate students', Studies in Higher Education 26(3): 345-361

JISC (2007). Student expectations study [online]. Last accessed 23 January 2008 at: http://www.jisc.ac.uk/media/documents/publications/studentexpectations.pdf

Peters, O. (2004), 'Visions of Autonomous Learning', keynote at the European Distance and E-learning Network (EDE), Conference University of Oldenberg.

Yorke, M. and Longden, b., (2008), The First Year Experience of Higher Education in the UK, Final report to the Higher Education Academy. York: HEA.

Using E-role play in teaching ICT skills to Occupational Therapy students CLAIRE CRAIG (C.CRAIG@SHU.AC.UK) FACULTY OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Course: BSc occupational therapy

Yearly cohort: 65 students

Abstract

Higher Education institutions are placing increasing emphasis on electronic learning (elearning). This is partly in recognition of the increased flexibility it offers (Hollis 2000) and partly in acknowledgement that information communications technology (ICT) is now a key skill required by most employers. This is particularly true of the health service where advances in digital technologies are moving apace. With the inclusion of e-learning within the health service modernisation agenda (DH 2001, Cavell et al 2004) it appears more imperative that students studying these subjects are able to leave university IT literate, and with a clear command of the technologies they will encounter in practice. This case study describes an initiative that used e-role play to help students develop their ICT skills on an undergraduate occupational therapy degree course. It considers the practicalities of setting up such a project before examining the respective strengths and limitations of this approach.

Introduction

Occupational therapy students need to develop a sense of autonomy and confidence in reasoning and understand the need to continue developing their knowledge and skills on graduation...the process of learning online provides graduates with the customs and routines that promote continuing educating, enabling them to remain current in their profession (Mueggenbury, 2003).

Over the last five years there has been a growing interest in the potential of e-learning for students accessing health courses. For example, virtual learning environments, wikis, CD Roms. Video conferencing and the Internet have opened up many opportunities and added a further dimension to the learning experience. For students who are confident in using technologies these advances offer increased flexibility in terms of the range of learning opportunities available and the pattern of delivery (Hollis et al 2006). Some authors have argued that the use of new technologies promote learner autonomy and prepare students for future practice (Gould and Maitland, 2002). Indeed, Knowles (1992) singled out computerised simulations using videos as being particularly effective in enabling students to develop skills in critical thinking and decision making.

However for students who lack confidence in using ICT _this increasing emphasis on new technologies can act as a barrier to the learning process. Some authors have gone so far as to suggest that 'distance education may bar students from the crucial element of interchange with teachers, researchers and other students that prepares students for a lifetime as knowledge workers.' (Gould and Maitland, 2002: i) This has led to repeated calls to assess student readiness to on-line learning (Bentley, 2003).

Background

The undergraduate degree in occupational therapy at Sheffield Hallam University utilises elearning within its overall teaching and learning approach which focuses on enquiry based learning. Students are given a stimulus to trigger the learning process. Working together they undertake the necessary research, share their findings and identify further questions for study. The process is intensive and they are expected to undertake electronic literature searches, communicate and share information via an on-line learning environment. Modules are short and summative assessments are completed at four week intervals. The course attracts a diverse mix of students. A typical yearly cohort would comprise of 65 students, probably half of whom are school leavers and the remainder are more mature students who have come through an Access route. These students arrive with varying skills relating to Information Communications Technology. Some are very confident and highly competent in using the computer, others less so. For example, this is an on-line entry made by a student just two weeks into an occupational therapy degree course. It is remarkable on two accounts. Firstly in terms of her grasp of the case study and secondly her command of ICT given that she had not used a computer prior to coming to university:

It appears that Liza entered the MH (mental health) services with severe depression that was identified by her neighbours. She was initially treated with Venlafaxine. However this may not have had an effect as she was eventually given ECT.

Following treatment she experienced memory loss (this is a side-effect of ECT) and moved into sheltered housing, where she was coping, until she fell in January. The consultant has suggested that the decreased mobility that Liza is experiencing has had a negative effect on her socialisation opportunities and therefore potentially caused a relapse of depression (note also that the effect of ECT is only short-term). No doubt her other symptoms are not helping with her communication with others (the anomia, poverty of speech etc). We could also maybe explore the 'coping strategies' mentioned in the referral and any further information about family would be useful as this may give an indication how often and how long she is in the company of other people. All of this may help us to give some consideration to where she goes next. I personally believe that she should stay at the sheltered housing as moving to a different place may confuse her further (as Claire explained during the workshop) but we may need to convince the warden on this!

However, for other students, who are less confident in using ICT, the emphasis placed on elearning can become problematic. The intensity of the course means that they have little time to develop additional skills. This is particularly apparent within the first module, Individual Experiences of Health which introduces students to key concepts of occupation, health and well-being. It provides an orientation for students onto the course and helps them to prepare for placement which takes place immediately after Christmas. Feedback from students has been consistently positive. However over the four years two common themes from this feedback have emerged: the challenge of accessing so much information on-line and the perceived gulf between theory and practice. To the students three months of learning in the classroom without the necessary practical experience make it difficult to place their learning in context.

From a staff perspective there are concerns in terms of how the lack of IT skills impact on the overall learning experience. The university has invested heavily in new technologies and much of the inter-professional learning is taught via the virtual learning environment (Blackboard). In some worrying cases it has been noted that some students going into their final module of the first year still lack confidence in using technology.

Rationale

The challenge therefore was to create a learning experience where students could develop skills in using information communications technology and build their confidence in research. Motivation was a key factor and it was important that students perceived this learning as authentic, applying their evolving knowledge and understanding to situations they may encounter in practice. Safety was also a consideration. Students needed to feel that they could learn from their mistakes without putting service users at risk and receive regular feedback about their progress.

During discussion over coffee with a colleague we hit upon the idea of creating an on-line scenario where the discussion tool within Blackboard would provide the mechanism for a form of e-role play. Students would be given a referral for a client and would then have the opportunity via the virtual learning environment to engage in discussion with 'the client' and the 'multi-disciplinary team' in charge of the person's treatment. I would play both roles, responding in character in order to set challenges, pose dilemmas and create further scenarios for learning. This would sit beautifully with the ethos of enquiry based learning.

Service users play an integral role within our teaching and there was a question as to whether they should take on the role of the 'client'. However given that the students have only been in the university for one week before undertaking my module I wanted to use this as a mechanism to learn who they were and to gain an insight into their thinking in order to grade and differentiate activities. To this end I included a third strand within the discussion board for student interaction, a place where they could share and talk through issues with each other and collectively think through how to approach a particular task or dilemma. This would offer the rare opportunity of being privy to their interactions and to gain insight into their clinical reasoning skills.

Teaching Approach

E-role play sits very comfortably within enquiry based learning. The process begins with the student receiving a paper copy of a referral just as they would in practice. An example of one such referral is shown below:

Students use their existing skills and knowledge to identify key terms or terminology they are familiar with. Starting from this positive stance builds confidence. The referral mirrors what students will encounter in practice and offers the opportunity for orientation to terminology and for research around a particular 'condition', its signs and symptoms. Working as a group the students identify unfamiliar terms, information that they need to research, who will take responsibility for this and how they will share the information.

The second trigger takes the form of an entry on Blackboard. Students are informed that the person and the multidisciplinary team (the consultant, physiotherapist, nurse, and psychologist) are on-line and that they need to work together as a team and with the MDT and client to identify the client's needs and to establish a treatment intervention.

This provides the perfect opportunity to set dilemmas, challenges, to open up a range of learning opportunities and raise questions so that even at this point students learn that sometimes a definitive answer does not exist. The opportunity to literally 'see inside' the mind of the student and to track their reasoning processes provides the tutor with a unique opportunity to create a very individualised learning programme so that the range of tasks and 'dilemmas' can be generated according to levels of understanding. The tutor can be very responsive and can act quickly on the evidence provided thereby maintaining student engagement, confidence and motivation.

All communication takes place through the virtual learning environment. Students work together in small groups around the computer during enquiry based learning sessions and as a consequence are able to share their skills.

Assessment

This initiative fits within the wider assessment strategy. It enables the tutor to formatively assess:

- Levels of understanding in terms of the content of information
- Written communication skills: particularly the ability of the student to use language appropriate for purpose, for example the subtle differences between communicating with the client and their family and communicating with a consultant and the multi-disciplinary team
- Skills in using Information Communications Technology (ICT)
- The students thinking and reasoning processes
- Group work skills

One of the greatest strengths of the overall approach is that the tutor can offer on-going feedback in 'role'. Responding 'in role' as a client or consultant can be quite powerful as the students are able to 'see' and 'experience' the consequences of their actions. For example if students use language inappropriately or address a person incorrectly the 'virtual client' or member of the MDT can respond appropriately. The student then has to find ways to rectify this. Similarly if a student misinterprets a piece of information the tutor can either correct this immediately or allow them to pursue this path, weaving in the consequences of this misinterpretation before they venture too far off track. Again this can help the students to recognise the need for accuracy and also to develop problem solving skills as they try to recover this mistake.

As a tutor it has been possible to reflect back to students the level of their achievement and to offer on-going encouragement. Here is a short extract from one of the on-line responses to a group:

You are really thinking like OTs. This is excellent. Do you remember that I mentioned this term called clinical reasoning which is basically how you think and arrive at decisions. Well you are doing it. You are using these very subtle observational skills to pick up on the details, giving you clues in terms of what is important to Liza and then transferring this into a possible treatment plan based on her interests and needs (and your understanding about depression and dementia. I have attached some slides from a recent workshop about depression and older people which you may find useful. Keep up this excellent work.

Evaluation and Feedback

Ongoing evaluation through the use of questionnaires has highlighted the value that students attach to this initiative. One of the most striking outcomes is that we have witnessed a significant rise in the number of students using Blackboard. This year, records showed that 62 out of 65 students had engaged with the discussion board, which was consistent with the previous year's results. As a result students are able to make more use of the resources in subsequent modules and to confidently navigate the virtual learning environment.

Above all students express energy and enjoyment. E-role play is extremely challenging but also great fun. The following comments are reflective of the general feedback we have received about the module,

'I really enjoyed the role play on line'

'It brought learning to life. Completely engaging: the time flew by'

'It made me feel like a real OT'

As a result of this learners are incredibly motivated to participate in the learning tasks and to undertake extensive secondary research. There is a real sense of the 'spirit of enquiry' pervading their work as the following quotes, made just one week into the module, illustrate:

I just looked up poverty of speech - it is also known as alogia (was this in the referral? I don't have it on me to check). It means a general lack of additional, unprompted content that is seen in 'normal' speech. It can make it hard to hold a fluent conversation and can sometimes be seen as avoiding questions (tend to be one word answers, I think)

Okay, Diurnal Variation in Mood seems to be about changes in mood in relating to waking and sleeping. People with depression disorders may wake up feeling severely depressed or suicidal but then mood lifts during the day..or it can be the reverse; mood okay on waking but becomes more depressive as day continues. I wonder whether we can ask the MDT how Liza has experienced this?

All but a handful of students fully embrace the role and very quickly they become immersed in the process. It is remarkable to see the subtle shift that occurs as the acquisition of knowledge for an assignment is no longer an end in itself, rather learning becomes the means to help the client, to provide vital information that will influence the course of treatment they will experience. In 'thinking like a detective' students have to confront the fact that there may be ambiguities and that learning doesn't stop after one set of answers has been reached. Once one avenue of thinking is exhausted they have to begin again, researching from a different angle, teasing out new understanding. They need to master the art of asking the right questions and not take their reading at face value as the following quote taken from the discussion board indicates,

ECT is Electroconvulsive therapy!! Sounds dramatic but is apparently quite common. ECT is used predominantly as a treatment for severe depression. It is generally reserved for use as a second-line treatment for patients who have not responded to drugs. (Liza may not have responded to Venlafaxine). The first-line use of treatment is for situations where immediate clinical intervention is needed or alternative treatments are not advisable. There are concerna about the effects of ECT on memory though! Maybe this is what is causing problems with Liza? Or maybe the memory problems were there first?

In using the medium, students are using skills in research, reading and summarising information in written form. This occurs at various levels. For example, they need to extract the main points from their reading to share amongst the group and also to clarify and relay their progress to the multi-disciplinary team. These are key skills required in practice and the ability to condense their intervention.

Dr C Craig,

In response to your e:mail enquiring about the OT assessment for Eliza. To date I have met with the warden of her sheltered accommodation who saw Eliza at irregular intervals and felt that prior to the fire there had been a change in Eliza's memory and increase in confusion which had affected her relationships with other residents. Eliza had been joining others in the communal areas on a regular basis, and was thought to have been responsible for cooking her own meals. I plan to meet with Eliza's social worker and carers in the next few days to get a better picture and will feedback then.

As the 'MDT' I can add in an element of pressure, requesting reports at short notice or making requests for progress to date.

And another one:

Dear Occupational Therapists.

I understand from Dr Craig that you are involved with this case. I am her allocated social worker. Please make sure I have a copy of your report as I will use this to justify my application for funding for a residential care or nursing home place or package of care at her present accommodation. As you will be aware funding is very tight in the current climate. I do hope you will bear this in mind during your assessment.

Interestingly, the students rise to the occasion without the usual anxiety that such assessments usually generate. This suggests that allowing students a degree autonomy and control over their assessment improves not only motivation, but has other unintended benefits, such as decrease in the levels of anxiety that relates to academic achievement.

Further Discussion and Conclusions

As yet we have not evaluated how this has impacted on placement and the next stage of the development would be to look at this. Plans are already afoot to undertake a full scale evaluation involving clinicians as well as students.

In reflection, this approach is very successful, mainly because of the creativity of the students and their willingness to fully immerse themselves in the learning and technology. There are examples where students have been on-line over weekends to 'check' if the person in the case study is all right and we have had to build in 'closure' because students have become so involved, treating these electronically constructed case studies as though they are real individuals.

This level of engagement perhaps reflects the authenticity of the scenarios. It is interesting that we do not include lots of high tech gadgetry and images, simply a paper case study and

a blackboard site. Perhaps this lack of structure provides the students with the freedom to develop their ideas and to use their imagination in a way that is far more liberating than if we imposed our thinking about what the character 'looks like'.

From a staff perspective the process is highly enjoyable, stimulating and fun. Being able to observe and track the students' reasoning processes and to create challenges and dilemmas based on where they are at in their level of understanding means that learning is incredibly personalised and even after three short weeks we possess a great deal of information about the strengths and needs of individual students. It feels important that during these first few weeks we create a 'safe' environment for learning so although many of the dilemmas posed can be extremely challenging students have the opportunity to rehearse their responses before being confronted by real-life scenarios where the decisions they make could have considerable implications.

Experience has shown the importance of setting clear boundaries in terms of when the multidisciplinary team and service user are 'available'. Otherwise it is possible to find yourself constantly on-line, engaging in stimulating debates and role play but at the expense of personal life.

The main challenge we have faced has been around practical issues such as the organisation of rooms so that during enquiry based learning sessions groups have access to a computer. This is not always easy when you have six groups scheduled for three two hour sessions each week.

Further development

The project has generated a great deal of interest and colleagues from nursing, social work and physiotherapy have expressed an interest in taking on a role within the multidisciplinary team. Students have asked whether it is possible to extend this initiative to other modules, perhaps remaining with the same 'service user' as they continue their journey through occupational therapy. Next year we plan to invite third year students to work with us and to contribute to the role play. This will enable the third years to consolidate their skills and draw in dilemmas they have faced on placement.

Overall this initiative has raised a number of questions for me as a tutor. I have been challenged by the depth and level of understanding students reach within a few short weeks. The final word, however, belongs to the students:

'The last few weeks have been truly inspiring. I really hope that other students have the opportunity to experience this forms of learning. This virtual world has let me glimpse something of what the future might offer and this is somewhere I definitely want to go.

References

Bentley G, Cook P, Davis K, Murphy M, Berding C (2003). RN to BSN Program: Transition from traditional to online delivery. *Nurse Educator* **28**(3): 121-126

Department of Health. *Skills for Life: How the Workforce Development Confederations are Implementing the Skills forLife Strategy in the NHS.* London: DfES Publications, 2001.

Department of Health. *The NHS Knowledge and Skills Framework (NHS KSF) and the Development Review Process.* London: Department of Health, 2004.

Hollis V and Madill H (2006) *Online learning: the potential for occupational therapy education*. Occupational therapy international 12 (2) 61-78

Knowles M (1992). Applying principles of adult learning in conferences presentations. Adult Learning 4(1): 11–14.

Mueggenbury K (2003). Taking undergraduate students into the online learning environment. Nurse Educator 28(6): 243-244.

Making Media Hilary Cunliffe-Charlesworth (H.cunliffecharlesworth@shu.ac.uk) Faculty of Arts, Computing, Engineering and Sciences Sheffield Hallam University

Level of module: Level 4 (First Year Undergraduate)

Number of students: 200

Project team: Annette Baxter (Careers Adviser, Student and Learning Services), Sue Cooper (Module Leader, ACES), Keith Radley (Learning and Teaching Institute), Andrew Middleton (Learning and Teaching Institute)

Abstract

Making Media was a new level 4 core module for all students of Media Studies, Journalism and Public Relations courses. The module aimed to embed and evaluate student learner autonomy, allow students opportunity to apply media theory to practice, and to develop reflective practice to enhance employability. There were 200 students on the module undertaking a programme of lectures and practical workshops supported by on-line learning resource and a reflective Blog space. Assessment was through two tasks: submission of a group digital audio and digital video product and a personal reflective account. Evaluation indicated that while students by and large recognised their development of personal transferrable and practical technical skills as a result of undertaking this module, only the most academically able stated that it had significantly enhanced their understanding of the application of media theory to the practice of making media. Most did, however, demonstrate a developmental shift to becoming active and autonomous learners.

Background and Rationale

There were 200 students enrolled onto these courses in the academic year 2008/2009, consisting mainly UK home students and just a small number of EU and international students. It was noted that while the majority of entrants had an A-level in Media, 28% expressed having no experience of media or confidence in their media production skills. In contrast to students entering other SHU film and media degrees, this cohort typically had therefore only minimal (or very limited) experience of media production at A-level, even when all four examination boards do include this aspect as part of their syllabus. Therefore, it appears that there is a disparity here in that while the academic staff expect new entrants to have undertaken practical media studies prior to entry, the students who apply to university to undertake a theoretical media-related course have, in fact, had only limited previous experience of using a range of digital media.

The module had a number of aims and objectives to bridge this gap between tutor expectations and existing level of expertise. To this end, the module aimed to:

- To ensure confidence in the use of equipment for the production and editing of a media product
- To develop an understanding of the relationship between media theory and media practice
- To encourage inter-professional learning and develop skills related to working for/with a client while managing a media project as a group
- To establish the use of PDP and reflective practice towards career planning.
- To embed and evaluate student learner autonomy by encouraging students to 'take ownership' of their learning from the onset of their undergraduate studies.

As well as these academic aims, it was also intended that this core module undertaken in the first semester of their first year would help the students to socially integrate with peers, to settle into university life in Sheffield and become familiar with the different study patterns and autonomy expected of learners in higher education.

The original module concept centred on enhancing learner autonomy in first year students. In the planning process consideration of the content of the A-level Media syllabi offered within the UK demonstrates a significant gap between theory and practice. This module was designed to respond to this apparent gap in existing theoretical knowledge and (lack of) practical skills, in order to ensure students had robust basic skills in media production. This module was also intended to contribute to a more balanced syllabus to compliment an already well-established theory module in the first semester. However, the relationship between theory and practice was perceived as key to the courses, and thus the staff who wrote the new module were keen to ensure that the theoretical principles taught in the lectures should underpin practice developed in the workshops.

The assessment tasks consisted of a range of group created pod-casts and digital videos (50% of the mark but a mark amended by the members of the group evaluation) and an individual reflective report (50% assessment that asked for reflection on level of prior experience and skill development, the relationship between theory and practice, an understanding of employability and the growth of learner autonomy). Thus, there was to be a balance between formative and summative assessment, group and individual autonomy. The aim was to ensure that students could both develop and consolidate autonomy (Brown and Knight, 1994). Indeed, the concept of the module was to provide a model module where the students had control of their learning, and the role of the teacher shifted to that of a colearner and co-researcher (King and King, 2009). Furthermore, the students were to demonstrate their reflexivity (Brockbank and McGill, 2007), and shift from individual directed learners, to a group of autonomous, critically engaged and questioning learners. The aim was therefore to initiate learners who can be confident, professional and prepared for employment in an industry that emphasises the need for competency in practice over theory (Dickson, 1999). And yet, the aim was also to help students to realise that they were now to be university students who comprehend the purpose and function of the educational

opportunities offered within university (Lamb and Reinders, 2008), and who take control of their own learning in the following semesters.

The Approach

The module ran in Semester 1. In the introductory lecture the module leader provided an overview, and directed students through the module guide, expectations and assessment process. Each seminar tutor then explained the focus for the component that their seminar offered, and how that contributed to the basic framework of the module. These included issues on making the moving image and making digital audio. In addition to this, the careers adviser led a session on technical and personal skill development and their relevance and/or application to current and future employment and industry expectations.

The students were divided into ten timetabled seminar groups and scheduled for eight weeks of workshops. The students were allocated into these groups randomly, and consequently some groups included a mix of course pathways, while others had no experience in media production. The workshops were to be organised so that students were given opportunities to work collaboratively with their peers from other disciplines. In practice this meant that students would be encouraged to make links with those at Level 5 (second year) on a different course route within the faculty (computing) who would act as clients for the production of a press release (PR), article (Journalism), podcast or digital video (Media). This facilitated an exchange model of support, a cross pollination of techniques across the disciplines and encouraged student peer support. Reflecting this, it was decided that the assessment exercise should also focus on the process rather than the end-product. The emphasis was therefore on both collaborative learning to enhance interpersonal working skills (key to employment in the subject area) and on enhancing learner autonomy through encouraging critical thinking and problem solving skills.

Some groups held strong expertise in filming and editing. During these sessions the students undertook four workshops in digital audio then swapped and undertook the making moving image workshops. The workshops were timetabled and compulsory. However, the timing of these workshops did not relate well to the lectures, which meant that the students were frustrated with the order of the content of the workshops, or even the perceived relevance to their core study topic (notably the Journalism students).

Due to the large student numbers involved, five of the workshop groups covered audio workshops and five parallel workshops focused on digital video. After four weeks the groups swapped so that by the end of the eleven weeks each student had each done eight weeks of the practical and interactive digital video and digital audio workshops in which they developed their practical skills of using the equipment and developed confidence in applying the media theories to practice. In these workshops the student groups developed digital video and digital audio based products on the topic of student life at Sheffield Hallam University or living in Sheffield. The lecture and workshop programme was complemented by a module Blackboard site where lecture notes were maintained and tutors posted podcast summaries of the issues arising. A 'Blog' spot was also established on the site, which gave the students a space to reflect upon the learning from each week's sessions and could comment on the group dynamics, skills development and project progress. The blog was well used, but not all students engaged with the format. The staff could access the site, and they monitored the site to gain a view of students' concerns regarding technological issues. The blog was not edited or commented on by staff.

Workshop leaders also posted weekly topics onto the Blog to prompt the reflection on topics related to the technical skills and theoretical aspects of media for example: 'How important are the technical, creative and communicative aspects of working with digital media to me? Why?' and also on the personal and employability skill aspects developed in the course, such as 'How am I improving the planning and design approach my team is taking based on what I learnt from the previous exercise?' The Blackboard site also contained a grade centre, where staff input marks and students had access to results. There was also an area for feedback on the module from the students.

However, although considerable detailed planning of the module had been undertaken, the absence of the original module leader created a delayed start for the planned changes. There was also a significant increase in the number of students recruited to the module and due to work planning issues, no extra staff members were available to take on the extra responsibilities this created. As a consequence of these factors, the module plan had to be revised and simplified while maintaining the same learning outcomes. Timetabling issues prevented the originally planned cross-faculty collaboration being possible, meaning second year Computer Network students could not work with first year Making Media students as planned. Moreover, a Showcase Event, in which students would have had an opportunity to showcase their achievements, was cancelled. In part this was due to an official visit by a dignitary which led to reduced student access to facilities. In retrospect it was also felt that for this new module, organising such a showcase event with invited special guest was 'too much too soon.' Nevertheless, the key focus was still on engaging students through a production of group work project in their process of transition to higher education learning environment. Peer support also allowed for the development of learner autonomy (Ecclestone, 2002). Moreover, while formative assessment was recognised as key to achieving the key aims and objectives for the module, this aspect in the actual module had to be deferred due to practical issues with timetabling and (lack of) resources.

Assessment

Within the original module proposal, the assessment tasks involved peer evaluation of storyboards, and interaction with level five students from the BSc (Hons) Computer Networks course. There were a number of unusual circumstances that prevented this: the planned module leader went on long term sick-leave and the anticipated number of students rose from around 120 to 220 requiring additional teaching sessions, room bookings and equipment. A member of staff from the Learning and Teaching Institute (LTI) had been

seconded to the Faculty and was key to supporting the replacement module leader, plus another member of the LTI was drafted in to teach the digital audio. Furthermore, it was not feasible to work with students at level 5 and the Venture Matrix due to the size of the student cohort, and the small number of staff available to undertake the teaching and assessment.

These tensions led to the nature of the assessment tasks being reviewed. Within the original module design there was meant to be a peer-assessed assignment, whereby the second year Computer Network students (acting as 'clients') assessed the first year Making Media groups' work. As the second year computing students did not participate in the eventually redesigned format of the module, each team of Making Media students instead assessed their peers in their task groups. The assignment requirements therefore also had to change, so rather than groups submitting a story board and product, the students were required to submit a group digital audio and group digital film instead. The second assignment task remained unchanged and students were required to submit a reflective report.

Marks were allocated equally between practical and reflective assignment pieces.

Evaluation and Reflection

Evaluation of the module was undertaken in a number of ways at various times throughout the module. At the mid way point immediately after the workshops had swapped over, the module evaluator visited two workshops sessions (one video and one audio). A series of questions were prepared and the students undertaking the series of video workshops interviewed each other on video responding to the questions. For the group studying audio, a facilitated focus group discussion was recorded. At the end of the module, students were encouraged to complete a course evaluation questionnaire hosted on the module Blackboard site. This generated a 49% response rate.

Considerable feedback was also obtained from Blog entries and the students' final reflective assessment task. This assignment asked the students to consider their prior levels of expertise; how and if these had altered; to comment on the relationship between theory and practice; and to reflect upon their development towards employability. A further two follow up focus groups were arranged and a selection of students invited during semester two. However, as students did not attend some follow up topics could not be pursued.

A focus group evaluation meeting was also held with participating staff in order to collate their feedback and observations of the course. This was followed up during semester two with further individual meetings with the teaching staff which formed part of the planning process for the future academic year. These meetings also provided further reflection, notably on the high standard of work undertaken by the former Making Media students subsequently taking a practical module during semester two. This progression was therefore seen as evidence of on-going reflection and development arising from the students' semester one learning experiences.

61

Evaluation Findings

Assignments

The assessment outcome changed from the original plan. Among the staff teaching on this module there was on-going debate about the nature of the assignment, and specifically what was to be assessed. The key disagreement was whether the assessment should focus on the end-product and the extent to which it demonstrated the level of practical and technical skills that the students had acquired; or whether it should focus on the learning process and how the students negotiated with each other and referred to the relevant course materials in order to produce the end-product. While the latter would clearly encourage students to reflect on the development of their self-reflective and critical thinking skills, enhance their awareness of personal skills development, relevant theories, working styles and so forth, it is crucial that staff agree on what is assessed and how.

Students also expressed a need for assignment guidelines and a marking schedule so that all were clear on what was expected of them in the assignment. In response to this, the module leader will arrange a module meeting with all participating staff and to amend the module documentation as necessary for future use. In the future, the module leader will also place clear dates and information on the Blackboard site for students.

The reflective writing task identified weaknesses in the students' academic writing skills. This was perceived as a positive feature by the academic staff, and led to discussion across staff teams. In response to this, the administrative staff will link students to the Blackboard organisation Writing Pad. While the Blog was useful for formative development as it allowed students to get used to reflective practice (and helpful for the project team in evaluating if students were enjoying the module), it was not assessed. This confused some students, and in future the purpose and format of the Blog will be clarified on the Blackboard and in the module guide.

The assessment timetable was planned over the second half of the semester. However, because incorrect software had been loaded onto the PCs and due to events on campus that restricted students' access to the building and editing equipment at a critical time in their module, the submission date had to be shifted. The problems submitting assignments and subsequent lost work from some groups, was therefore only detected after the students had left for the vacation. The process of assignment submission was therefore confusing for some and some groups lost their work as they did not know how to manage and store digital files. Introduction to digital fluency required to ensure students are aware of file management. It is also suggested that there is a 'trial run' for submitting work before the final assessment deadline. In future it is also important to ensure formative task enabled early in semester with a mark, and then amend the assessment submissions dates to account for non-submissions and module retrieval.

From staff perspective, one member of staff was required to mark 181 pieces of individual work; this may have created inconsistencies in marking. In future, reflective reports need to

be shorter to restrict word count and staff work planning processes need to ensure sufficient staff time is allocated to the module for delivery and marking.

Feedback mechanism

Audio feedback provided via the Blackboard site was positively received.

Course content

Some students found the project topics 'boring' ("Induction to SHU" and "Student Life at SHU"), and noted that these topics had already been covered in other modules. It is suggested that in the future risk assessment and health and safety procedures are addressed at an earlier stage of the module planning process, and that 'buy in' from a wider range of staff across departments on campus is arranged so the students can film in different locations, and cover a broader range of topic areas in order to extend their critical engagement and improve motivation.

Progression

Of the 204 students enrolled onto the course, 27 failed or were referred (13.1%). Of these, 11 were referred (5.3%) and 16 failed to submit an assignment of any form (7.8%). This includes those students who had withdrawn from the course within the first semester.

At the outset of the module, 28% considered they had no expertise in the area of media production, and a further 57% considered they had only a basic knowledge. At the end of the module the students demonstrated that 32% had still not made a direct, but rather an implicit connection between practice and theory; 28% demonstrated some relationship; a further 18% showed a clear understanding; 15% a strong understanding and 7% a high level of comprehension of the relationship between theory and practice and had been able to demonstrate this on the module. It seems that the make-up of each group may have had an effect on this, and therefore rather than randomly allocating students into groups, in the future more attention will be paid in order to ensure there is a balance of technical skills, experience and abilities within each group. The skills levels will be determined by using prior experience and pre-entry qualification as a guide.

The most interesting data produced was that regarding if and how students recognised they had demonstrated and developed learner autonomy during the module. Just 0.5% indicated no engagement with this aspect, 35% showed some engagement, 36.5% showed a good understanding, and 23% showed very strong perception of how they were now autonomous learners, with 5% showing excellent development as autonomous learners. This data was obtained from the tutor evaluation of the individual reflections submitted for assessment as the summative assessment.

Practical Issues

There were a number of practical issues that emerged in the planning or during the running of this module. The main issues concerned, learning spaces, the availability and (lack of) expertise in using IT software or other relevant equipment. For example, during lectures student computers were set differently than staff computers which made practical demonstration of packages and processes in class difficult. Moreover, IT technical support is based in the Harmer Building and most of the digital media teaching was based within Furnival Building. Consequently the students felt this 'disjointed' and restricted their access to equipment and technical support, and the lack of technical support and facilities also led to complications for the students in storing their work. The needs for lecture or seminar room space also changed due to changes in the module outline, but it was difficult to change room bookings to account for these timetabling changes. This meant that the teaching spaces were not always appropriate or effective and even stifled interactive teaching and restricted group activity and communication. There were also issues with new equipment (HD cameras) that was bought, but which turned out to be inappropriate to the project. In line with the new emerging trend for citizenship journalism it appears that more MP4 cameras need to be available to enable students to develop good pieces on simple equipment that compare well to the more contemporary professional standard equipment that is being used in the industry.

Requests for IT support and packages need, therefore, to be made earlier in the module planning process. This will ensure that relevant software, such as Adobe Element (for editing), will be installed onto all student and staff machines in the labs/newsrooms/media rooms. Careful consideration needs to be paid to significant issues such as storage of student work and ensuring that funding for the cost of software licences has been obtained well in advance. Finally, it is also important to ensure that information on equipment availability, booking systems, risk assessment, health and safety, copyright and ethics are available on the Blackboard site and referred to in the module guide so that the students and staff are equally aware of these issues.

Feedback

In student feedback, many students recognised the enhanced employability and transferrable skills they had gained from the module. They commented that the course had enabled them to gain 'a greater understanding about the career options open to them', given them 'experience in a range of media related techniques', had helped them to 'sort out what they liked/disliked', and an 'opportunity to try things for the first time and become aware of options that they had previously not considered'. The majority felt they had gained from the module, either in terms of personal skills development and/or practical media related techniques. Several students recognised their need to get experience outside their studies in order to continue to develop both personally and professionally, and stated an intention to join volunteering and student union societies in order to build upon their experience and skills. Another example of students using their own initiative in response to recognising the

need to embrace new platforms of self promotion and broadcasting can be illustrated in a group of students who uploaded their video assignment to YouTube.

Working in groups appeared to have worked well, and while tensions arose within groups from non-attendance or non-participation of certain members it was interesting that this did not affect the group members' overall assessment of each other. This said, a 'group agreement' that was designed for this year but not subsequently used will be implemented in future. Several groups of students talked of 'procrastination' that initially held them back from embarking upon their group practical projects. However, once they grasped the aim of the project they acted together to complete the project assignment.

Some students expressed alarm at autonomy and the amount they were expected to do independently; they had expected to be taught and told and then 'released' gently. In the future this balance between autonomy and tutor facilitation will be achieved through teaching students how to do the first project and facilitate their second project. Several students also noted that, despite having asked, they did not get tutor help until the final few weeks of the module. There were manuals and downloadable resources available enabling students to be autonomous and find the answers to their questions for themselves. The role of the tutors needs to be more clearly explained in future as students seemed unsure and surprised about the difference in staff roles (both tutors and technical staff) at university compared to those they had grown accustomed to at school.

Project Findings

Despite numerous, mainly practical, difficulties, the outcomes of this course were by and large positive. In terms of student achievement, while many students entered the course with self-defined low levels of technical skill and ability, the same students have demonstrated evidence of on-going reflection and development arising from their semester one experiences and application of learning between modules in semester two. The result has been, albeit anecdotally evidenced, work that has been of an exceptionally high quality.

Evidence from the module evaluation indicates that students entering the Making Media module developed confidence in their practical technical skills. They recognised the personal skills required to create a piece of media and saw the relationship of these to their improved employability. Many also identified practical steps they would take to continue to develop their personal and technical skills during the remainder of the course listing such activities as volunteering, part time work experience, joining student union societies etc. As such, students appreciated the employability focused development from this module. Students also recognised that learner autonomy is good as long as the support is available for them in the right place and time when they recognise they need it.

Further Development

Many of the specific suggestions and action points for further development for this module are detailed above. Many of these have already been actioned in preparation for next year's delivery. In this section, however, a few additional evaluative observations will be outlined.

A new date for a Showcase Event is to be arranged at the beginning of the next academic year, and it is expected that this event will serve to be an inspiration to the new first years on the module as well as be a reflective opportunity for the second year former Making Media cohort to see 'how far they have travelled' since the start of their first year. It is also anticipated that the event will celebrate the achievements of the Autonomy CETL and the formation of a new department of Media Arts and Communication.

Due to changes in the course structures and the need for greater course distinctiveness it has been decided that this module is to be dropped from the Public Relations routes (Public Relations, Public Relations and Media, Public Relations and Communication). While the need for clear course routes is vital, the decision to drop this module was undertaken reluctantly by some of the PR course team. However, due to continued buoyant recruitment for Media and the Journalism degrees, it is anticipated that the module will remain large and this year number some 160 to 180 students in total.

However, some students, particularly those on the Journalism pathway, expressed a sense of frustration and disillusionment at the seemingly 'irrelevant' audio/video practical assessment task. Therefore, to ensure a sense of inclusion, relevance and engagement for students from all pathways, it is suggested that in future the course assessment recognises media in its broadest sense, including not just audio and video, but also print-based media.

It is recommended that the assignment focuses on a reflection of the students' personal development, employability skills and transition into university level study, and includes a personal action plan for their continuing personal development, effective learning and employability while they study at SHU. Moreover, these good reflective techniques and practices need to be sustained, and unless 'a space' or mechanism for on-going reflective practice is created and formalised for all students on all course pathways, the skills these students have developed in this first year module are at risk of being lost.

While there is a PDP process in some courses to allow for 'joined up' reflection on learning and its application of between modules and over academic years, similar systematic mechanisms for reflecting upon and storing personal learning development materials would need to be created and supported for others.

In terms of module evaluation, only the most 'academically-able' students identified specific factors in their reflective reports that demonstrated greater awareness of theoretical understanding. This does not mean, however, that other students did not develop such awareness. On the contrary, there was much evidence within the evaluation data to suggest

that students developed a 'greater awareness of what went into producing a piece of media' than they had originally appreciated.

It is also recommended that future evaluation should be conducted with discontinuing students, those who did not engage with the module and those who did not submit assignments. Due to time constraints this was not feasible within this project, but further exploration of the issues that affects these students' lack of progression is required, particularly in relation to the module delivery style.

Although there was much support from the Promoting Learner Autonomy CETL team to support the development of the module, many of the emerging good practice evaluation tools and resources were developed too late to be of value for this year. However, it is anticipated that these developing methodologies can be employed in future. Evaluation strategies need to be designed and planned within the course design, content and timetable of the module. This will prevent the 'over collection' of (qualitative) data that took place this year, not all of which could be feasibly used, analysed or referred to within this final evaluation report.

With regard to staff development, however, great benefits were identified from staff of different teams working collectively to design, deliver and support the running of this module. The interaction of a multi disciplinary team of academics, seconded staff from LTA and a Careers Adviser from Student and Learning Services, led to all staff learning from each other and being able to contribute and add synergy to the running of the course. Different perspectives, skills and collaboration led to greater synergy and subsequent ongoing cross departmental working practices and sharing of good practice. In fact, to an extent it can be said that this way of working was possible this year by default and not design, due to the changes in module design as explained above, CETL support as well as thanks to LTA secondments to the Faculty. It is essential, therefore, for these collaborations to be formalised if this synergy is to be sustainable, and for the benefits of cross- and inter-departmental working to be continued and developed in future.

References

Brocklebank, A, & McGill, I. (2007) (2nded) Facilitating reflective Learning in Higher Education Society for Research into Higher Education

Brown, S. & Knight, P. (1994) Assessing Learning in Higher Education Routledge

Dickson, T. (1999) Mass Media Education in Transition, Preparing for the 20th century USA Southwest Missouri Styate University

Ecclestone, K. (2002) Learner Autonomy in post 16 Education: the politics and practice of formative assessment Routledge

King, K.P. & King, S. (2009) The Handbook of the Evolving Research of Transformative Learning Information Age Publishing

Further Reading

Boud, D. (ed.) (1988), Developing Student Autonomy in Learning (London: Kogan Paul)

Jenkins, A & Healey, M. (2005), Institutional Strategies to link Research and Teaching (York: Higher Education Academy), available online at: http://www.heacademy.ac.uk/resources/detail/id585_institutional_straties_to_link_teachin g_and_research

Levin, P. (2005) Successful teamwork! For Undergraduates and Taught Postgraduates Working on Group Projects (Maidenhead: Open University Press)

Ramsden, P & Dodds, A. (1989), Improving teaching on Courses: A Guide to Evaluation (Parkville: University of Melbourne)

Schön, D.A. (1983) The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action (Aldershot: Ashgate Arena)

'Now I feel like I am at university': using the Philosophy for Children (P4C) approach to promote engagement and academic literacy amongst undergraduate students FUFY DEMISSIE (F.A.DEMISSIE@SHU.AC.UK) CATHY BURNETT (C.BURNETT@SHU.AC.UK) MARY HAYNES (M.HAYNES@SHU.AC.UK) SHEILA SHARPE (S.SHARPE@SHU.AC.UK) FACULTY OF DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIETY SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Abstract

This paper describes a project which supported students in taking responsibility for their learning by encouraging them to pose and interrogate their own questions during seminar discussions. The work spanned a variety of undergraduate courses related to Early Childhood and Education, including professional courses for trainee teachers and early Feedback from students and tutors had highlighted a lack of years professionals. engagement by some students in the academic dimensions of these courses and drawn attention to the significance of social and cultural contexts to the nature and quality of seminar discussions. In order to address possible barriers to participation, the team decided to support the development of academic literacy initially through promoting engagement, confidence and critical thinking through oral work. Using a community of enquiry approach, tutors worked alongside students to support them in pursuing enquiry and critical thinking. The project evaluation has suggested that participants are becoming increasingly confident in generating their own questions, influencing and shaping discussions and reflecting upon the development of their own thinking. Moreover, tutors have begun to question and adapt their teaching styles in order to promote student-led dialogue more effectively. This paper will provide a detailed overview of the approaches used and report on the evaluation of the student and staff experience. The work will be used to prompt consideration of the value of oral work in developing academic literacy.

Background

Philosophy for children

Philosophy for children (P4C) originated in the USA, in an attempt to balance school curricula that prioritised content over process skills (Lipmann, 1988). Influenced by Dewey, and Vygotsky, Lipmann devised a programme to develop children's reasoning skills using stories as stimuli for enquiry and dialogue. His aim was to promote 'skillful, responsible thinking that facilitates good judgment; by helping teachers to create supportive communities of enquiry (Lipmann, 1988; SAPERE last cited 23/6/09). In Lipmann's programme, teachers used philosophically themed stories as starting points for an enquiry. This was followed by children formulating their own questions, before voting on a question

that became the focus of the enquiry. By helping children to formulate their thoughts and respond to others' views, the teachers' role was to facilitate rather than direct the discussion (Haynes, 2002).

In the UK, the P4C approach is increasingly popular in schools, and actively promoted by the Society for Advancing Philosophical Enquiry and Reflection in Education (SAPERE). Whilst retaining the key principles of Lipmann's programme, SAPERE has adapted and developed aspects of the original programme to suit the UK context. Unlike Lipmann, SAPERE encourages using a diverse range of stimuli such as films, photos, songs, stories, and promoting P4C across all age groups. Its central aim is to promote a way of teaching and learning that encourages:

'..Children (or adults) to think critically, caringly, creatively and collaboratively... by helping teachers to 'build a 'community of enquiry', where participants create and enquire into their own questions, and 'learn how to learn' in the process.' (SAPERE last cited 20/06/09)

The next section describes the background and aims of the project, followed by a rationale and a detailed description of the methodology. The findings will be analysed in relation to students' and tutors' perspectives, followed by reflections on the strengths and limitations of the project.

Motivation, aims and objectives

The stimulus for this project was my participation at a two day teachers' introductory course on the principles and methodology of P4C. At the end of the course, all the participants felt that the experience was highly enjoyable, and the approach extremely successful in promoting high quality discussion. The experience encouraged me to trial the P4C methodology in my own seminars, as levels of student participation and engagement were often limited. On the first occasion, I used a book chapter as stimuli for discussion, and on the second occasion, I used a poster as stimuli, to help students to reflect on their experiences at university. My own observations suggested that students appeared to show higher levels of engagement, and more students than usual contributed to seminar discussions. In addition, informal feedback and findings from two in-depth interviews highlighted that, for some students the approach was motivating and helped to deepen their learning.

This project builds on these earlier experiences of using P4C and aims to:

- Investigate whether P4C can be used in a higher education context,
- Explore tutors' perspectives on the effectiveness of P4C in improving engagement and participation, and,
- Explore students perspectives of P4C-led seminars

Tutor participants

The project involved 4 tutors from the faculty of Development and Society. All the tutors were ex-school teachers, and taught on a range of courses including teacher training, early childhood studies and foundation degree in early years. Tutors were used to working in different ways: some taught on seminars that followed on from lectures, whilst others used free-standing seminars and/or sessions that included elements of both lectures and seminars. Notably, seminars were primarily tutor directed; tutors specified the learning outcomes and provided appropriate resources and learning activities. But in using the P4C methodology, tutors had to modify aspects of their normal practice. Apart from providing stimuli for the discussion, they did not determine the content or directly influence the discussion. Instead, their role was to facilitate the discussion by helping students to set ground rules, and to intervene as appropriate in order to clarify, summarise, or highlight links and contradictions between the suggestions put forward by the students (Haynes, 2002).

Student participants

The group of students who took part in the P4C led seminars included three first year seminar groups from the BA Early Years QTS and Foundation degree in Early Years courses, and three third year groups from the BA Early Years QTS and BA Early Childhood Studies degree courses. The group size ranged from 7-30, and included both younger and more mature students.

Rationale

Since Dewey's time, influential learning theorists have argued that interaction and communication with others are fundamental to learning and development. In attempting to express ideas and make sense of others' perspectives, individuals clarify and develop their own thinking and sense making (McGregor, 2007; Alexander, 1995; Lipmann, 1988). In the context of higher education, seminars provide the ideal opportunity for learning through dialogue and provide opportunities for team work, communication skills, and learning from peers. Moreover, in listening and responding to others' perspectives, students can also begin to develop increasingly sophisticated conceptions of knowledge, that are considered to be important in developing critical thinking skills (Moon, 2005; Perry in Jaques, 1984).

Notably, despite the advantages of small group learning contexts and students' apparent reluctance to engage and participate, the literature on student learning has not fully explored the seminar learning context. Instead, the research has mainly focused on improving teaching strategies to develop students' conceptions and approaches to learning (Casey et al. 2002; Jaques, 1984). Whilst insights from these findings have helped tutors to think carefully about aligning learning outcomes, assessment and teaching strategies, they have not sufficiently focussed on the nature of the student experience of learning in seminars (Mann, 2001, Barnett, 2005, Casey et al. 2002).

One possible barrier to engagement and participation may be the nature of the seminar learning context itself. It is possible that some students may find seminars a challenge on a number of levels (Barnett, 2005, Jaques, 1984). For example, not only do students need sufficient knowledge and understanding of the subject area, but they also require effective communication skills such as asking questions, speaking clearly and explaining ideas (Casey et al., 2002; Brookfield and Preskill, 1999; Jaques, 1984). Moreover, seminars entail significant affective aspects; whether students feel safe to speak, and/or feel that they have something worthwhile to say can influence readiness to take part in seminar discussions (Jaques, 1984; Mann, 2001). For some student groups in particular, such as females or first generation students, the affective dimension could have a significant influence on the extent of engagement and participation in seminars (Mann, 2001).

So, given the importance of effective participation and engagement in seminars and students' apparent reluctance to engage effectively, it seems appropriate for tutors to reflect on how they teach and how students learn in seminars. In section 3, I will describe the stages of the P4C methodology, and in section 4, I will outline the key themes that emerged from interviews with tutors and students on using P4C to improve engagement and participation in seminars.

The approach

After a half a day training event on the principles and methodology of P4C, the tutors selected the sessions that would best suit the P4C methodology. They used the approach in a range of contexts including: an introductory session (learning through play), exploring controversial topics (equality and quality education, safeguarding and parents' role) and topics that encouraged students to reflect on professional and personal experiences (leadership, the role of key workers in early years). In the following section, the pre-preparation and methodology are explained in detail.

Preparation activities:

Before the first enquiry, it is essential to start with an overview of the principles and practice of the P4C approach. P4C advocates joint knowledge construction with an emphasis on a community of learners who are caring, collaborative, critical and creative (SAPERE last accessed 23/6/09). However, depending on previous educational experiences and preferred ways of learning, students may dislike the approach because of their unfamiliarity with the pedagogy. Thus, it is vital to outline the pedagogy of P4C prior to carrying on the first enquiry by clarifying the nature of learning in P4C and the role of the tutor.

Methodology for P4C

a) Presentation of stimuli: e.g. photo, poster, set reading

Tutor encourages students to focus on what is puzzling/interesting about the stimuli and to reflect individually or to discuss in pairs.
b) Posing questions:

Based on the stimuli, students generate questions they would like to explore further. The tutor writes questions on a flip chart

c) Analysing questions:

Tutor encourages students to analyse questions –e.g. by encouraging students to identify similarities and differences between questions.

d) Voting

Tutor asks the group to vote for 1 question. Once the group decides, the chosen question is written out separately on a separate piece of paper, and the 'owner' of the question is invited to say why they chose the question and to clarify the key words and phrases.

e) Discussion

Tutor invites students to share viewpoints on and experiences relating to question. Often a discussion begins to develop its own momentum. Tutor interjects where necessary, e.g. when discussion comes to a stop by asking 'does anyone have a different viewpoint, does everyone agree with that point.?', or when same points are repeated but speakers do not realize they are agreeing with someone, or when speaker says a contradictory statements but is not aware that they have done so, or when the discussion loses coherence (tutor might summarize key points so far and invite new perspectives/thoughts), or promote critical thinking skills by encouraging students to ask for evidence.

f) Final thoughts

Tutor suggests a period of quiet reflection (a few minutes) and asks each student for their last thoughts, on the question raised and the discussion that followed. The comments may relate to process (e.g. voting procedure, opportunities to speak) or content (aspects individuals may have liked to pursue in more depth) or both.

In a group familiar with the process and principles of P4C the enquiry can be concluded in 1 hour. However, time for debriefing is important because it gives an opportunity to reflect on the enquiry. Students can be encouraged to reflect on the ground rules, their perceptions of the stages of the enquiry, or they may be directed to consolidate insights gained as a result of the enquiry. For example, they may reflect on the individual questions raised, apply insights to practical tasks, identify new questions for discussion for the next enquiry, or begin to write a reflective account in a journal or online forum. The tutor may also give a follow-up paper or book chapter to read, or provide students with relevant data/research to consolidate the enquiry.

Impact on student learning experience

In order to evaluate the impact on student experience, all students were invited to meet a researcher to review their experience of using P4C. To enable all those that expressed an

interest to share their views, two focus groups and one-to-one interviews were held. These were supplemented by a paper-based questionnaire. Surprisingly, although the methodology was used with a diverse range of students, interviewees reported broadly similar experiences. Responses were mostly positive, although perhaps, this is not unexpected in a self-selecting group of students. Similarly, all the tutors felt that the levels of participation and the quality of the discussion were significantly higher than what they would normally expect.

The next section outlines students' perspectives of the impact of taking part in enquiries on their learning experiences. Key themes were empowerment and participation, critical thinking and the learning environment.

Empowerment and participation

Interviewees' responses and post-enquiry evaluations referred to aspects of learner autonomy, such as increased engagement and motivation (Sheffield Hallam University, CETL last accessed 7/7/09). In one focus group in particular, the students related engagement and motivation to notions of empowerment. As the following comments shows, contrary to popular expectations, the students seemed to value the opportunity to take charge of their own learning:

'Normally, we'd be given information and then told to do something with it. This way we were given the information, we read it and interpreted it in our own way and then shared it with other people.'

'The students taught the students rather than the lecturer teaching the students kind of thing... the learning I got out of it was more valued, the fact that we had done it ourselves rather than being a piece of paper... I valued it a lot more. I think the learning was a lot more'.

'I think we got a lot out of it. We felt quite satisfied when we were asking the questions.'

'... and we were asking the questions ourselves – so I was more about us teaching ourselves in a sense.'

The responses were surprising because they challenge the popular discourse on student passivity in seminars (Brookfield and Preskill, 1999). The students were clearly enjoying the experience, and rather than relying on the tutors, appeared to use their own experiences as a rich source of learning.

Critical thinking

Throughout the interviews, participants referred to a variety of learning experiences that arose out of the experience of using P4C. In one seminar discussion on junk food and children, one interviewee, (a parent), reported how her peers found her perspective 'really valuable', because it enabled them to get a better perspective of the parents' role. Others

reported how the opportunity to hear different perspectives enriched their learning experience:

'You notice a lot more things that you didn't before as well, people bring up issue that you never thought ...would have thought of... which was useful.'

'I think it worked really well because it seemed to give everybody else the onus rather than the tutor talking...you were questioning yourself, questioning your development and your idea about things...'

Students' comments also suggested that P4C gave them an opportunity to use and reflect on key skills such as analysis and evaluation. For example, commenting on the teaching and learning aspects of P4C-led enquiries, students reported that the methodology allowed them to 'dissect a subject', and to learn to reflect on, and be critical and analytical of reading material. Students also reported that the opportunity to analyse questions enabled them to use a range of skills: such as justifying their own reasons, analysing similarities and differences between questions, and challenging each other on the exact meaning of words and questions. As one student commented '... it was interesting because we'd all meant similar things but to other people it came across in a different way....' For another interviewee, the process showed her the importance of using precise words to aid meaning '...you need to think a lot about the wording and how that question is interpreted by someone else... .'. The learning experiences students referred to are significant because they illustrate how the seminar can be a powerful context for learning (Brookfield and Preskill, 1999).

Learning environment

The learning environment can have a critical impact on student engagement and learning (Moon, 2005; Biggs, 2003). This is particularly pertinent in social learning contexts such as seminars (Moon, 2005; Jaques, 1984). As one interviewee commented, '*You are always a bit apprehensive to talk...In case what you are saying might not be relevant or might be seen as silly to other people....*' A recurring theme in all the interviews was how the rules helped the discussion flow, and gave a sense of security so that even reluctant students were contributing to the discussion. Supporting this point, findings from anecdotal and interview data suggested that the inclusion of the rule 'you don't have to speak if you don't want to', was apparently significant. Some interviewees commented that the rule signalled a more relaxed ethos that appeared to encourage more people to speak out: '...*it was so laid back, they felt they could speak...one of my friends is quite shy but she still said quite a few things*'.

Participants' commented on the importance of seminar atmosphere on students' willingness and ability to participate in discussions. For example, in one seminar group, negative group dynamics were apparently impacting on students' willingness to express opinions. But the interviewee seemed to suggest that taking parting in these seminars improved the atmosphere somewhat: '...We have not done that before and it was a different atmosphere in the group. In one group there has been quite a bit of tension... If we'd done that right at the start we probably would have got to know each other more'. These comments are significant because they give tutors useful insights into the importance of the learning environment in promoting effective student participation and engagement in seminar discussions. In following section, I will outline the tutors' perspective on using the P4C methodology.

Impact on tutors teaching styles and approaches

Supporting reflections on teaching

Post-enquiry evaluations and interviews held by a researcher showed how P4C led to interesting critical reflections on practice. One tutor found the approach '*liberating*' because, in contrast to her usual teaching style, it was a way of teaching that required and supported students to think for themselves! Another tutor reflected on how using P4C gave her a deeper insight into existing tensions between her practice and her philosophy of teaching and learning, '*I have constant battle between content and process … It helped me to reflect upon the importance of giving time, the way I support and extend student discussion*'. A third tutor felt that she gained useful insights into the influence of the physical environment on student learning. She was surprised to note that once students had experienced sitting in a circle, they were keen to repeat the experience, because they valued the benefits of eye contact when talking and listening to others.

Engagement and involvement

There was a clear sense of tutors themselves getting involved and excited. Most seemed pleasantly surprised at the level of thinking students displayed, and the clear evidence of students changing perspectives and opinions as they became engaged in a community of enquiry (Haynes, 2002). As one tutor commented, '...*at times the level of student engagement was so intense it made the hairs on the back of my neck stand up*!' The satisfaction of seeing students showing higher levels of autonomy and the more reserved students expressing viewpoints was also noted by another tutor. Initially concerned about relinquishing her usual role, she commented: '*by letting the discussion go off, they still came back to something; I thought it was a really interesting question for enquiry – they pruned it down themselves*'. Another commented:

'The most positive aspect was the confidence students showed in challenging particular ideas, while doing this in a way that was sensitive to the possibility of different point of view. Also positive was the very natural way in which the discussion focussed on picking key concepts, ...I was very impressed by the depth of students' thinking and the way in which they were able to draw on their own professional experience in an authoritative manner'.

Anxiety/uncertainty

For some tutors, teaching using the P4C approach required a qualitatively different way of behaving and being, and inevitably created some anxiety and uncertainty. In addition to concerns about coverage of content, tutors reflected on changed roles and identities. For example, one tutor commented; 'I was quite anxious... because I would be taking more of a back seat ... I found that I had to give a lot more thought into what I was doing than usual'. When a student commented that the tutor became 'invisible' during the discussion, the tutor was pleased but at the same time, the observation raised important questions about her

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

teaching style. Another tutor was concerned about the effectiveness of her facilitation skills, commenting, *'it is a challenge to intervene appropriately and facilitate the process with good open questioning'*.

It seems then, that whilst tutors' experience of using the P4C methodology was enjoyable and satisfying, it was also pedagogically challenging. In the next section, I will evaluate the strengths and limitations of the project and the methodology, followed by the conclusion and possibilities for further development.

Evaluation

Strengths

The aim of the project was to trial a school-based enquiry methodology to promote student engagement and participation in seminars at University. The project was successful in a number of ways. It showed that both students and tutors reported observable improvements in the quality of seminar discussions. In addition, tutors found the approach a useful tool for reflecting on their pedagogical practices and a scaffold for enabling students to become actively engaged in their learning. Moreover, the findings highlighted the challenges students face in engaging successfully in discussions. As the findings in section 4 showed, P4C gave students a valuable opportunity to reflect on their learning, and a supportive structure that enabled them to express viewpoints, and to learn from each other.

From the perspective of the methodology, the project was successful in demonstrating that P4C is suited to the higher education context, and could be a useful tool for enhancing learning in seminars. In particular, the simplicity of the methodology meant that the approach was accessible to tutors, and at the same time, gave them a clear structure for modelling and promoting important thinking skills.

Limitations

There are a number of limitations relating to the methodology. It is possible that for some students the formalised nature of the methodology may not be appealing. Notably, whilst one interviewee positively remarked on the seating arrangements, some expressed uncertainty. Students may also fail to see the relevance of the approach to their learning, unless the tutor clearly communicates the principles and aims of P4C methodology. Indeed one student, when reminded of a previous P4C session, remarked *'is that one when we didn't know if we were learning anything*? Lastly, from the tutor's perspective, over-enthusiasm for P4C and/or a lack of the sensitivity to students' views and preferences may lead to student disengagement. Nonetheless, anecdotal evidence has suggested that it is possible to overcome some of the practical difficulties through careful preparation, understanding of the purposes and principles of P4C, and sensitive and knowledgeable tutors.

There are also limitations with regards to the nature and scale of the study itself. Firstly, this was a small scale qualitative study that focussed on students' and tutors' perspectives; it does not provide evidence of a large-scale impact of P4C on student learning, or on

module grades. Secondly, all tutors were self-selected and using the approach for the first time, which may have impacted on tutors' largely positive perceptions. In addition, the students were all female and training to work with young children; it is possible that their particular context may have coloured their perception in ways that might not be relevant to other students. Thus, further work with other groups and in other contexts over time is needed to fully explore the potential of this approach in higher education.

Conclusion

Tutors' use of the P4C methodology created an enabling environment for learners, and students felt supported to learn and relate to each other in new and exciting ways. Moreover, the project enabled tutors to gain a useful insight into the student learning experience, and at the same time, gave students the opportunity to reflect on their learning. However, the small-scale nature of the study means that generalisation to other courses is limited. Ultimately, it is unlikely that one approach, such as P4C can address all the concerns about students' engagement and participation. But this project has shown that a closer look at seminars can provide useful insights into students' learning experience, and that P4C can provide a starting point for professional dialogue on pedagogy, and be a useful tool to initiate students into the culture and expectations of learning in higher education.

Further development

The outcomes of the project will be extended in the following ways. Firstly, through establishing a community of enquiry where tutors can take part in enquiries, enhance facilitation skills and continue the professional dialogue on pedagogy. Secondly, there are plans to use the P4C approach on a more systematic basis within a 1st year personal and professional module, to promote engagement and to model and articulate the concepts of enquiry, argument and evidence.

References

Alexander, R (2005) Culture, dialogue and learning: notes on an emerging pedagogy. Key note speech July 12th, 2005. Education, culture and cognition: intervening for growth. International association for cognitive education and psychology (IACEP) 10th international conference, university of Durham, UK, 10-14 July, 2005

Barnett, R.; Coates, K. (2005). Engaging the curriculum in higher education. 1st ed., Maidenhead, UK., Open University Press.

Biggs, J. (ed.) (2003) Teaching for quality learning at higher education. 2nd ed., Buckingham: Open University Press

Brookfield, S. and Preskill, S. (1999). Discussion as a way of teaching, 1st edition ed., Buckingham, England, Open University Press.

Casey, N., Sutton, P., Casey, B., Dawson, C., and Warren, D. (2002) Comparing seminars and workshops; student views on learning in sociology.

http://www.c-

sap.bham.ac.uk/resources/project_reports/findings/ShowFinding.htm?id=26/S/03 last
accessed, 29/7/08

Centre for promoting learning autonomy (CPLA), http://extra.shu.ac.uk/cetl/cpla/cplahome.html, last accessed 7/7/09

Haynes, J. (2002). Children as Philosophers – learning through enquiry and dialogue in the primary classroom. 1st ed. London: Routledge Falmer

Jaques, D. (1984). Learning in groups. London: Croom Helm

Lipmann, M. (1988) Philosophy goes to school. 1st ed. Philadelphia: 1st Edition

Mann, S. (2001). Alternative perspectives on the student experience: Alienation and engagement. [Online]. *Studies in higher education*, **26** (1), 7-19. Article from informaworld last accessed 5/8/07 at: http://dx/doi.org/10/1080/0307507002003689.

McGregor, D (2007) Developing thinking, developing learning – A guide to thinking Skills in Education. Maidenhead, Open University Press

Moon, J (2005) We seek it here... a new perspective on the elusive activity of critical thinking: a theoretical and practical approach. Bristol: Higher Education Academy Education Subject centre

Society for the Advancing Philosophical Enquiry and Reflection in Education. http://www.sapere.org.uk last accessed 23/6/09

Developing Learner Autonomy through student-led resource creation within the Faculty of Development and Society

Julie Evans (j.evans@shu.ac.uk) Faculty of Development and Society, Learning Hubs, Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

This case study shares the experience of a small scale project that was based in the Learning Hubs in the Faculty of Development and Society (D&S). The Learning Hubs provide a way in which the Faculty aims to enhance the experience of our students during their time at Sheffield Hallam University. This is achieved, in part, through maximising the effectiveness of the use of the physical and virtual space available to us to support student learning.



The aim of the project was to provide the opportunity for students to work as enquirers to create re-usable learning resources to be 'housed' within the Learning Hubs. The focus was therefore not on a module or a course, but on supporting individual students within the Learning Hub itself. Links to modules, where they existed, provided a positive dimension to the project. Our intention was to encourage students to engage with the project as members of small teams of 'consultants'. Each team was asked to develop and produce a reusable learning resource based on their own research in response to triggers provided by the 'client' - i.e. the Learning Hub Managers and module teaching staff. The anticipated effect on learning was that students taking part would develop their research and enquiry skills from the experience of taking on the role of 'consultant' with the creative freedom that working in this way would bring. This was to be evaluated through interviews with students to find out if this way of learning had been beneficial and to encourage those taking part reflect on their own preferred personal learning style.

In facing the challenges this project presented, the project team have learnt lessons for future projects run through the Learning Hubs in D&S; namely:

- Less may sometimes be more. By focusing on one of the ideas for student projects,
- we may have been more successful in achieving our outcomes. There is a sense of us having set out to do too much.
- Despite student feedback suggesting a demand for extra-curricular activity, getting students to engage in this activity and to remain engaged is very difficult without drivers such as links to assessment.

• Also, the number of projects running in the Learning Hubs at the same time as this one meant that there were a number of opportunities competing with each other when recruiting students to take part.

Background

The project was based in two 'Learning Hubs' (LH's) in the Faculty of Development and Society. The LH's are one of the ways in which the Faculty is responding to the challenge of providing our students with a positive experience during their time here at Sheffield Hallam. Through the Learning Hubs we provide opportunities for personalising a student's journey through Higher Education. This is achieved, in part, by working in collaboration with Faculty staff and University Central Departments to 'join up' the services available to support our students and to embed them as appropriate within, and alongside, modules and courses. Through the localisation of support mechanisms - for example, the provision of study support drop-in sessions held within the LH - we are able to bring services to the student rather than asking our students to go in search of the services they require. The result of this is the provision of a more coherent experience that makes more sense from the student perspective rather than asking our students to fit in' with the way that we are organised as an institution. This student centred approach encourages engagement with the support that is available.

The LH's provide a way in which we can develop, embed, and share, innovative learning and teaching (L&T) practices. Each LH has a manager who works with students and staff from across the LH to devise and facilitate projects that encourage new ways of working and learning together. In addition, a key aim of the LH's is to promote a strong sense of community and identity amongst its users. The physical environment of the LH is used to visually celebrate the subjects based there and to support learning through shared experience and knowledge.

Rationale

Working initially alongside with the Research Informed Teaching (RiT) initiative, and with involvement from the Student Union, this project set out to develop enquiry-based learning skills in our students, and take an increasingly student-centred approach to learning, teaching and assessment (LTA). The focus of the project was not on a module or a course but on the student within the Learning Hub itself, albeit indirect links to modules were to provide a positive dimension to the project. It was hoped that successful outcomes would result in a rolling-out across the Faculty. Previous research into what our students wanted from the LH's had indicated that there was a demand for extra-curricular activity and that students were keen to work with experienced staff to develop their skills.

The two areas of the Faculty (pre-departmental restructuring) in which we ran the project were:

- Arundel Learning Hub at City Campus which 'houses' Primary & Early Years Programme, Applied Studies in Education, Childhood and Counselling (ASECC), and Professional Curricular Development, which formed part of the Division of Education and Humanities
- Southbourne Learning Hub at Collegiate Crescent Campus, home to 4 subject groups: Criminology & Criminal Justice; Law; Psychology; Sociology, Policy & Politics; within, what was at the time, the Applied Social Science Division.

Our aim was to involve students from across subject areas with groups of students from different courses and levels working together. Teams of students were to be encouraged to put forward project proposals that would engage them in research activity around their subject or a specific part of their student experience. The outcome would be for the teams to produce a learning resource based on their research. The resources produced would then be displayed in the Learning Hubs so that they could be reused by the Learning Hub Community.

Anticipated benefits and outcomes were intended to:

- provide students with the opportunity to reflect on the type of learning resources and activities that would be useful to them to encourage fuller engagement with their subject
- enable students to research and experience activities which will develop enquiry skills
- give students the freedom to develop creatively and, through 'owning' their project, build self-confidence
- develop team-working and communication skills
- develop transferable skills in students that will enhance their learning experience and also create stronger employability prospects following graduation
- provide an extra-curricular activity within the Learning Hubs which could potentially be rolled out across the University
- provide visual evidence of links between student-led research and learning and teaching
- produce 're-usable' learning resources that could be displayed within the Learning Hubs to promote subject identity and to support our developing sense of community

The approach

A project plan had been agreed across the project team in the summer before semester one. The project was due to begin in semester one but due to conflicting priorities that a number of other LH projects the start was delayed until semester two.

Roles and responsibilities within the LA Project Team were defined as:

Clients	Two Learning Hub Managers and relevant teaching staff (based to any modules linked to student project proposals)
Consultants	Student Teams
Project lead	Learning Hub Manager - responsible for overall project management and evaluation

Our initial plan was to market the project, outlining potential benefits of involvement, to students across the LH's. Student teams (each consisting of 3 to5 students) who would develop and submit their own proposals would be recruited. The LA Project Team would then meet to select projects from those submitted and would allocate funding.

However, delaying the start of the project (from semester one to semester two) due to the number of other LH projects being implemented at that time, gave the team time for reflection. From a student perspective, we had to consider what would draw students to get involved in the project. The team acknowledged that the opportunity to develop skills and be involved in something through pure interest might not be enough to encourage involvement, especially since this would be additional to their assessed workload . Our project plan was therefore revised to reflect this acknowledgement, and we developed what was referred to as a 'basket of ideas' of projects for student teams. These were aimed at target groups in the two LH's and so were more specific with a view of encouraging intrinsic motivation for students to get involved.

Arundel Learning Hub

The following ideas were suggested for Arundel LH:

- Resource packs for (ECS) placement (to develop creativity in young children with links to the Reggio Emilia Approach already utilised in the department of Education)
- Written Guide for teaching placement

These ideas were based on feedback from Early Years Education students who had suggested that there were not enough resources to support them whilst out on placement. These project ideas were supported by teaching staff who helped us to promote the idea to students in seminar sessions. Two student teams were recruited, both of whom decided to research and develop resources packs for placement.

The ideas developed by the student teams, based on their research, were thought to be innovative and useful by teaching staff. Funding was allocate for the purchase of relevant resources which could be put together the placement packs as recommend by the students. Unfortunately, at this stage the students opted out of the project due to being under pressure from placement attendance and assessment deadlines. The LH staff then made the decision to go ahead and purchase the resources and to put together the resources packs. These packs are now located within the Arundel Learning Hub and are being used by students out on placement this year. Follow-up evaluation into how useful the resource packs are, and their effect on learning, will be completed at the end of this academic session.

Southbourne Learning Hub

In Southbourne LH we took a slightly different approach. Our target groups and suggested projects were:

- Mature student team (from the peer support group that had recently been set up) to develop information resource that would support the mature student experience. There was a suggestion that this could be an information guide, a short film, a web page or something similar.
- L4 Applied Social Science programme students were asked to reflect on their own induction and experiences during semester 1, and to produce material for 09-10 incoming L4 students about the transition into HE. The suggested resource title was 'Surviving your first semester'.

The student projects were to be structured in the format of two 3 hour workshops. Students would take on the role of Consultant and the Learning Hub Manager was the client. The reason for choosing this approach was to give students an opportunity to experience a 'real-life' situation. By formalising the roles of those involved we aimed to provide students with an increased sense of ownership and responsibility for their projects. In doing so we intended to improve the students' employability by enabling them to develop transferable skills and to have an 'actual' experience that they could reflect back on and refer to in the future. The learning in this sense, would be ongoing beyond completion of the project.

Workshop 1 - Learning Hub Manager (LHM) was to introduce the idea and communicate clear expectations, provide 'triggers' (pictures, words, phrases, web links, references, related resources); and to advise on methods of production and support available. The group was to be left alone to work on the idea for a specified time span. Group feedback was to be gathered at end of session, including a 'map' of thought process and the project outline on what is to be produced and how it would be done.

Workshop 2 - Production of the final resource. In the time between the two scheduled workshops, the LHM was to arrange support and materials to make this possible.

It was thought that this method would allow us to limit the time commitment expected and also reduce the level of responsibility in terms of the range of things we are asking the groups to do.

This approach was seen to have many tangible benefits to students, namely:

- open to all students across the LH with the intention of working across subject and level boundaries;
- provision of an extra curricular student opportunity to develop skills; and
- provided the opportunity for students to feel responsibility for 'owning' a project and to think more freely and creatively.

Our initial expectation had been that it would be enough to make links to a module or to work with a specific group of students with a common interest students. It was hoped that students would engage with the project despite the lack of connection to assessment within a module. This expectation was soon acknowledged by the project team to be too ambitious. Despite offering payment of £30 to anyone taking part in both workshops we were unable to secure any interest in the L4 project around experience of induction and orientation. Initially five mature students expressed interest, but only one of the five committed to the dates proposed and so neither project ran. It appears that because none of the activities were linked to assessment within a module and so getting students engaged and then maintaining that engagement was a challenge. Moreover, having such an 'open' brief initially could have been off-putting for students who may have felt daunted by the prospect of doing a project like this.

An additional Faculty project idea was going to be put forward in both LH's which involved a Student Representative team developing a guide for student representatives, for example on 'being more effective representative' or a short film about the experience of being a rep. However, again prior to the semester two start of the project this idea was withdrawn as it had been decided that this would be developed elsewhere in the Faculty.

Assessment and impact of the project on the student learning experience

As there were no direct links with assessment within modules, there was no measureable impact (anticipated or real) on the development of assessment or the way in which students were assessed.We had initially planned to evaluate the effect on the student learning experience through a number of means. Our original project plan had indicated that:

- Individual student feedback would be requested from students taking part in the form of a reflective log. The project team will use these to assess student experience of the project and the impact of involvement in the project on the development of autonomy skills.
- Student groups will be asked to evaluate (with guidance) their individual projects and this will feed into the overall evaluation of the project.
- Feedback will be obtained from users of the Learning Hubs to assess the impact of the resources produced.

On reflection, it is clear that this was a lot to expect from students who were volunteering to participate in an activity that they were not being assessed in. As we became more realistic in our expectations, the evaluation plan was reviewed and in November 2009 looked like this:

- Questionnaire to students at the beginning of their projects to find out about their previous learning experiences and preferred learning methods
- Interviews and/or focus groups at the end of the projects to encourage students to reflect on output (learning resource produced, what (if anything) they have learnt and how they have found this way of learning.
- Feedback from teaching staff involved through links to modules about the effect of student involvement in this project in terms of the development of transferable skills.

It is disappointing to report that this project appears to have had very little impact on the student learning experienced due to the limited numbers of participants. We have been unable to gain any feedback from the students who initially showed interest and who developed ideas.

Discussion, summary and evaluation

Despite not achieving our intended outcomes, many lessons have been learned from the development and running of this project. The LH's were in a relatively early stage of development when we secured funding to run the project. A number of other projects were also running in the LH's and so there was competition in terms of the numbers of opportunities for students to get involved. As some of the other projects were further embedded into modules with assessment links, these projects were tied into a stronger structure in terms of timing. As such, this project may not have been given the resource it required to make it a success.

The project was very ambitious in its scope. Any one of the final student project suggestions could have been a project in its own right. In setting out to try out many things we achieved very little, and therefore 'less would maybe have been more'. Had we selected any one project that came out of our 'basket of ideas' then we may have been able to have gained more from having a narrower, more concentrated focus.

Further developments

Any one of the student team project ideas could be taken forward and developed as a project in its own right. However, it is clear that this would be more effective if the project was embedded within module delivery and linked to assessment.

From a personal point of view, my own understanding and interest in learning autonomy, and what it is that encourages our students to engage and take responsibility for their

learning, has been strengthened. Despite disappointing results from this project, I feel better equipped to develop my own knowledge further and to develop and take forward similar projects in the future.

Case studies as simulation of industrial practice Ivan Launders Simon Polovina (s.polovina@shu.ac.uk) Computing, Faculty of Arts, Computing, Engineering and Sciences Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

Case studies can be used as a simulation of industrial practice in order to capture and model the semantics in business transactions in an Enterprise Architecture (EA). Students assigned themselves into EA design teams on the Architectures for Enterprise Applications (AEA) module, which is a final year undergraduate (Level 6) module on the BSc Computing route as well as a post graduate (Level 7) module on the MSc Advanced Computing programme. In their teams the students apply a requirement elicitation framework for agent-oriented software engineering referred to as Transaction Agent Modelling (TrAM) (Hill 2006).

TrAM provides a theoretical framework to capture the semantics in business transactions for EA and then to model those semantics through the use of a transaction pattern. Applying TrAM to case studies exposes the students as it would industrial practitioners (e.g. Enterprise Architects) to the complexities of enterprise applications. This approach is innovative in that it reveals to students (and industrial practitioners) how to capture meaning within data in business transactions. The qualitative data collected from student design teams provides the evidence to test the theory that suggests a transaction pattern could be used to assist in the early requirements capture stage. Data collected also provided the evidence to examine the usefulness of semantic models for EA.

To assess the validity of this approach, we have conducted qualitative data analysis using the NVivo software (Bazeley 2007). NVivo reflects, codes links and visualises the results of the students work on applying TrAM to the case studies. Results showed that through the case studies and TrAM, student design groups were actively engaged in applying reasoning through this theoretical framework. This analysis also informs the enterprise architect of the steps to take when applying the transaction pattern in an EA.

Background

Modelling notations and representations play important roles with the system analysis, design and development processes. Developers who have to work with such notations can be seen as users of the facilities offered by the notation. Hence, there are likely to be features of a notation that support its intended use and uptake, and conversely some other features that may prevent or limit its effective use. In this paper we consider not so much the "ease of use" of TrAM, but rather the "influence of its use" when solving a number of design case studies for Enterprise Applications. The exploration is based upon qualitative examination of the use of the TrAM in the context of specific case studies. This report outlines the

approach and method taken to qualitative data analysis using NVivo. NVivo (Bazeley 2007) provides a software tool for working with and analysing qualitative data, reflecting, coding, linking and visualising with the results of case studies.

Ten student design groups were formed from the course "Architectures for Enterprise Applications" (AEA) at Sheffield-Hallam University. Each student design group consisted of up to four individual designers. The first collective task for the design teams was to select from one of the following six case studies to model, outlining their reasoning for choosing a particular case study:

- Sheffield Hallam Mortgage & Investment Company;
- Mobile NHS;
- The XLSIOR Reinsurance Company;
- Synergy Finance Solutions Ltd;
- Deontic Logic Providers;
- Scrupulous Chemicals Company.

Each case study provided business transactions within different business settings. One of the goals of analysing design data from multiple case studies (or cross case) is to examine if the events and process in one well described setting can occur in a different setting, the aim being to see processes and outcomes across several cases, to understand how they are qualified by business conditions and therefore develop a deeper understanding (Miles and Huberman 1994). Analysis will examine the same case studies designed by separate groups as well as multiple case studies across multiple groups. Figure 1 illustrates the approach of applying multiple case studies after Yin's (2003) multiple case study method. Figure 1 also illustrates the link in terms of data captured over a three year period with 'Constructive Alignment' after (Biggs 1999). Biggs (1999) provides an explanation of why 'Constructive Alignment' is important to the learning process.



Figure 1. Multiple case study method after Yin (2003) linking with Constructive Alignment, Biggs(1999).

A case study constitutes a narrative account of situations focusing on the business transactions and the exchange of resources for events. The mobile NHS case study is a direct capture of an industrial experience. Case studies provide accounts of complex practical situations which embody elements of theoretical and process knowledge, for example in the case of mobile health a GP could reduce the risk of prescription error though mobile access to patient records allowing greater knowledge and alerts of drug-drug and drug-condition interactions at the point of treatment.

Case studies provide life like experiences of situations and events by describing them in all their complexity and uniqueness (Elliot 2009). Engaging with case studies and reasoning about a complex business situation allows theoretical and practical skills to be practised and developed. Student design groups approached the case studies through a number of steps for the analysis. Firstly, addressing TrAM model fundamentals, drawing Transactional Use Case Diagrams and CG that capture the concepts and relations of the case study enterprise, including transaction models, and the type hierarchy. Secondly, applying model automation using Amine (http://amine-platform.sourceforge.net/), which demonstrates the integration

of a Conceptual Catalogue (CC) into the enterprise design, showing how the Transaction Model develops through the various stages of the TrAM framework allowing the modelling of business rules in CG.

Figure 2 illustrates TrAM as an enterprise system model showing the transactions between multi-agent systems as conceptual graphs. The main purpose of TrAM is to capture semantics and model concepts with multi agent system transactions.



Figure 2. A Theoretical Framework Called Transaction Agent Modelling (TrAM)

Figure 3 illustrates the idea that a model is an approximation of a real world scenario. Enterprise system models derived from business case studies can be assessed as being good, fair, or poor models. An awareness of the limitations of a model is essential to the use of theory derived from that model.



Figure 3. Box (Box, 1979; Sowa, 2000) "All models are wrong, but some are useful"

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Rationale and approach to qualitative data analysis

From the user perspective, it is important to distinguish when and where a model is useful. We need to see if our activities lead us to findings that otherwise could have been missed from a good design. This would be a measure for the usefulness of our modelling technique. To do that we need to employ a rigorous approach to qualitative data analysis.

Qualitative data analysis benefits from an organised approach and methodology to ensure rigour (Richard and Morse, 2007). NVivo provides five principle ways supporting analysis of qualitative data, these include the following:

- *Managed data*: To organise and order records including data files, student case study design presentations, observations, and conceptual maps (not to be confused with conceptual graphs) of what is happening in the data.

- *Manage Ideas*: provide access to conceptual and theoretical knowledge with supporting data.

- *Query data*: to ask simple or complex questions of the data and to retrieve from a database the information relevant to the answer. Results of queries are saved allowing further searches to build during the enquiry process.

- *Graphically Model*: to show cases, ideas or concepts being built from the data, and the relationship between them and to present ideas and conclusions using models and matrices.

- *Report from the data*: using the content of the qualitative database using information from the original data sources.

Prior to using NVivo, design data collected from AEA case studies had not been managed in order to make theoretical links between design results. The query process of examining design results had been a manual process by inspection. NVivo allowed for further interrogation, building up queries as part of an ongoing process of analysis. NVivo also allows for ideas to be represented graphically showing how ideas and concepts relate.

Model design activities (embedded in the TrAM framework approach) allow students who are new to the subject of enterprise architecture to explore the underlying complexities of enterprise applications in a rigorous way through the use of a model as experienced industrial practitioners. Practitioners would draw on a similar stock of knowledge derived from previous examples of cases congruent with a reflective practitioner (Schon 1983).

Methodologists lead researches to assess the fit between purpose and method (Maxwell, 2005). Qualitative methods are used in situations where a detailed understanding of a process (TrAM) or experience (case studies as a simulation for industrial practice) is

wanted and where more information is needed to determine the nature of the issues being investigated and where information is textual or visual (Bazely 2007).

Qualitative research begins with a vaguely defined question or goal (Bazely 2007). Informal visualisation techniques such as concept maps are used to help clarify research questions and ideas. The data explorations serve to refine the question so that more focused data collection can occur. The approach adopted starts with a theory whilst remaining open to new ideas from student design groups. TrAM theory defines that enterprise system designs will include the following:

- *Model fundamentals*: providing a compete Transactional Use Case Diagram (TUCD) capturing the transactional behaviour of the initial use case. A close mapping between TUCD and Conceptual Graph (CG) transforming that transactional behaviour and adding semantics through comprehensive analysis with CG, including co-referent passing and few syntactic and or semantic errors in CG. Transforming into a Transaction Model (TM) derived from the generic (TM) including a supporting type Hierarchy.

- *Model Automation*: good use of Amine transferring the initial transaction model analysis into an Amine ontology (a specification of the concepts and relationships using the Amine software environment) with accurate type hierarchy and TM. Integration of the model with a conceptual catalogue (CC) showing how form can be applied to words and concepts in the transaction model. Use of the ontology to achieve a successful projection with the inclusion of the business rules in the ontology.

- *Model Visualisation*: visualisation of business rules, using pierce logic. Proof of the case study business rules, specialisation and projection within the proof of the rules. Refining the TM.

Model fundamentals, model automation and model visualisation are recorded in NVivio as classifications. Each classification is a work area for setting up attributes and their values, and types of relationships.

Figure 4 illustrates a matrix categorising the usefulness of the case study enterprise model in terms of TrAM model fundamentals, automation and visualisation. The matrix categorises likely outcomes are based on common scenarios.

Right & useless	Right & useful
"Don't bother"	"80% of work just to get thet 20%"
"Precisely wrong"	"Periectionism"
"Modelling the immaterial"	"Unrealistic to achieve"
Model Complete in terms of fundamentals, automation and visualisation but an inappropriate use of the model.	Model Complete in terms of fundamentals, automation and visualisation resulting in design benefit.
Wrong & useless	Wrong & useful
"Not e model"	"20% effort, 80% impect"
	"Approximately right"
Poor or incomplete model fundamentals meaning the following steps of automation and visualisation are going to be wrong.	"Wrongness in model is not sufficiently material"
	Model incomplete in terms of fundamentals, automation and visualisation but resulting in design benefit. Model completion required to substantiate design benefit.

Figure 4. "Categorisation of an enterprise models usefulness"

In terms of categories of figure 4 above the crucial question is how do we recognise something as a design benefit? In the context of our modelling activities it could mean that we come up with important findings which are only discovered through our modelling activities. Even if our model is wrong but if it leads the design team to a discovery that benefits their design we should be pleased with the modelling effort. On the other hand if the design team modelling is right but it does not lead to any tangible findings we should be disappointed!

Case study design group results show that through the case studies and TrAM the student design groups were actively engaged in applying reasoning and this theoretical framework to different business settings. The following students' reflections are extracts from student case study observation summaries:

- "Models may be wrong as they don't accurately reflect reality as it really is"
- "It is impossible to model the real world. Assumptions can be made but, real model parameters will also change sometimes in an unpredictable way"
- "The purpose of the model is to maximise the usefulness"
- "A model can be useful to help us see and make changes to the design"
- "Models are better used as a guide for understanding an enterprise"

These student reflections are all correct in terms of meeting the leaning objectives; they show that students have learned the usefulness of applying enterprise models through case studies as a design step. They indicate that student designers are able to explore and to become aware that building a model is a really useful design activity and design tool which has close parallels to industrial practices. Good industrial design practice is about re-use and refinement and being a reflective practitioner (Schon 1983). Exploring design limitations through a model or prototype at the same time being aware of the limitation of that model can be a crucial and very cost effective step to ensure that a design will perform as expected

in industry. For instance modelling and simulation is commonly used for sizing a solution to collect evidence that the performance of a production solution will scale up to meet future enterprise requirements.

AEA data is captured in an NVivo workspace project. Sources (case studies) are identified with details such as ideas, and case study assessments linked to their sources; descriptive material and evidence for emerging understanding and ideas are captured in nodes. Nodes are organised to facilitate querying the data so that research questions might be clarified, developed and answered. Emerging insights can be explored in models.

Figure 5a and 5b illustrate the workspace area in NVivo. Student design groups provide case study designs as a sequence of power point slides which are organised in NVivo. A workspace provides a data collection area for evidence which can then be analysed and used to explore possible theoretical links in AEA designs.



Figure 5a. Workspace area in NVivo showing a generic Transaction Model (TM)



Figure 5b. Workspace are in NVivo linking in Observations

Classification

Figure 6 illustrates classification in NVivo showing how attributes are set up so that values can be assigned to cases and how relationship types are defined. Each step in the TrAM framework is classified allowing comparisons to be made between designs at corresponding steps in the framework. Correlations can then be made between design steps across multiple case studies.

Classifications	Look for:		•	Search In *	Attributes	Find Now	Clear	
Attributes Relationship Types	Attribu	ites						
	Name	ν	Туре				Created On	
	💾 I - Pres	sentation	String				13/09/2009	20:32
	🚼 H - Re	ferences	String				13/09/2009	20:32
	🗄 G - Co	onclusions	String				13/09/2009	20:32
	🚼 F - Tei	am Organsat	String				13/09/2009	20:31
	🚼 E - Co	mparative C	String				13/09/2009 2	20:30
	🚼 D - Mo	del Visualis	String				13/09/2009	20:30
	🚼 C - Mo	del Automati	String				13/09/2009	20:29
	🚼 B - Mo	del Fundam	String				13/09/2009	20:28
	🗄 A - Ca	se study Intr	String				13/09/2009	20:27
		Unassign Not Appli B1			tribute Values Description		Default	
		B2			asic TUCD			-
Sources		B3			iood TUCD			-
Nodes		B4		E	xcellant TUCD			-
Sets		85		P	oor/no use of CG			-
Queries		B6		B	asic use of CG			
Models		R7			dequate use of CG			
		Add	Rem	we	Sort	Move Up	Move De	own
Links					<u> </u>			
Classifications					Apply	ОК	Cano	xel
Folders								
»								
8 II 9 liama	L							

Figure 6. Classification assigning values for Model Fundamentals

Modelling Relationships

Creating a model about ideas about projects is a way of journaling thinking (Bazeley 2007). In NVivo, concept maps, flow charts, or project diagrams are referred to generically as models. NVivo is not prescriptive about nodes or concepts in a model; it treats capturing models as a means of exploring possible theoretical links. The research model serves multiple purposes during qualitative analysis recording where the research started from and what assumptions have been brought into the project. Models also support the clarification of research questions and the planning of data collection. With this in mind NVivo is used to make AEA model diagrams of patterns the research expects to find. For example Figure 7 illustrates the outline steps for a TrAM Framework in NVivo which can be shown to link to the case study design data as those steps taken across each of the case studies.



Figure 7. Outline Steps for a TrAM Framework in NVivo

Casebook with Attribute Data

Figure 8 illustrates a casebook which is a table in NVivo in which there is a row for each case and a column for each attribute, where values are entered in the cells. The example case book below shows AEA assessment data for each student design group case study, according to classification values. The assessment data indicates a measure of how complete the enterprise model is in terms of satisfying model fundamentals, model automation and model visualisation.

Attributes											
Relationship Types	Attributes										
	Name	∇ Type				Dn	Created By		Modified On		
	- Presentation	on String				13/09/2009 20:32			24/09/2009 10:	48	
	H - References					13/09/2009 20:32 II		IL.		48	
	🚼 G - Conclusion	usions String				13/09/2009 20:32		IL.		24/09/2009 10:48	
	🚼 F - Team Orga	F - Team Organsa String				13/09/2009 20:31 IL		24/09/2009		48	
	🚼 E - Comparatio	E - Comparative String				19 20:30	IL.		24/09/2009 10:48		
	🚼 D - Model Visu	alis String			13/09/20	19 20:30	IL.		24/09/2009 10	48	
	C - Model Auto	ma String			13/09/20	19 20:29	IL.		24/09/2009 10	48	
	R - Model Euro	B - Model Funda String					IL.	24/09/2009 10:48		48	
		A - Case study Int String									
					13/09/20	19 20-27	IL.		24/09/2009 10:	48	
	A - Case study	Int String	▼ B:H - Refere	. ▼ C : G - Conclu	13/09/20	19 20-27 ▼ E:E-Compa ▼		G:C-Model ▼			
	A - Case study	Int String	▼ B:H - Refere H2,H10	▼ C : G - Conclu G2.G6	13/09/20		F : D - Model V				
	A - Case study	A : I - Present			13/09/20	▼ E:E-Compa ▼	F : D - Model V		H : B - Model ⊽	I : A - Case st A6.A8.A15.A16	
	A - Case study Casebook 1: Cases/4C1	Int String A : I - Present [12,15,19,110,111	H2,H10	G2.G6	13/09/20 . V D : F - Team F3,F4	▼ E:E-Comps ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17	F : D - Model ▼ D1.D5.D7.D9.D13	C2.C5.C12.C17.C	H : B - Model V B3,B14,B20,B16,	I: A - Case st A6.A8.A15.A16 A1.A2.A3.A15.A1	
	A - Case study Casebook 1: Cases\4C1 2: Cases\4C2	A : I - Present 12,15,19,110,111 12,18,111,112	H2,H10 H8	G2.G6 G3.G5	1309/20 ▼ D:F-Team F3,F4 F1,F5	▼ E: E- Compa ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17 E3.E4.E7.E11.E1	F : D - Model V D1.05.07.09.013 D1.04.09.012.01	C2.C5.C12.C17.C C3.C7.C8.C10.C1 C4.C10.C11.C15.	H : B - Model V B3.B14.B20.B16, B3.B4.B7.B8.B10,	I: A - Case st A6.A8.A15.A16 A1.A2.A3.A15.A1	
	A - Case study Casebook 1: Cases/4C1 2: Cases/4C2 3: Cases/4C3	A:1-Present 12.15.19.110.111 12.18.111.112 12.16.112	H2,H10 H8 H2,H8,H10	G2,G6 G3,G5 G3,G5	13/09/20 V D : F - Team F3/F4 F1/F5 F2/F3/F5	▼ E: E - Compa ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17 E3.E4.E7.E11.E1 E2.E6.E14.E17	F : D - Model ▼ D1.05.07.09.013 D1.04.09.012.01 D8.09.015.016	C2.C5.C12.C17.C C3.C7.C8.C10.C1 C4.C10.C11.C15.	H . B - Model V B3.B14.B20.B16, B3.B4.B7.B8.B10, B4.B8.B14.B18,B	I: A - Case st. A6,A8,A15,A16 A1,A2,A3,A15,A1 A1,A7,A9,A14,A1	
	A - Case study Casebook 1: Casesi4C1 2: Casesi4C2 3: Casesi4C3 4: Casesi4C4	A : I - Present 12.15.19.110.111 12.18.111.112 12.16.112 12.15.16.18.110	H2,H10 H8 H2,H8,H10 H3,H4	G2,G6 G3,G5 G3,G5 G3,G5	13/09/20 V D:F-Team F3,F4 F1,F5 F2,F3,F5 F3,F4	▼ E: E - Compa ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17 E3.E4.E7.E11.E1 E2.E6.E14.E17 E4.E5.E11.E12.E	F:D-Model V D1.05.07.09.013 D1.04.09.012.01 D8.09.015.016 D8.016	C2.C5.C12.C17.C C3.C7.C8.C10.C1 C4.C10.C11.C15. C4.C8.C15.C19.C C3.C7.C10.C14.C	H . B - Model V B3.B14,B20,B16, B3.B4,B7,B8,B10, B4,B8,B14,B18,B B4,B8,B13,B14,B	I: A - Case st. A6,A8,A15,A16 A1,A2,A3,A15,A1 A1,A7,A9,A14,A1 A7,A9,A15,A16 A6,A9,A14,A16	
purces	A - Case study A - Case study Cases/4C1 Cases/4C1 Cases/4C2 Cases/4C3 Cases/4C3 Cases/4C4 S: Cases/4C5	A : I - Present. 12.15.19.110.111 12.18.111.112 12.15.112 12.15.16.18.110 12.15.112	H2,H10 H8 H2,H8,H10 H3,H4 H3	G2,G6 G3,G5 G3,G5 G3,G5 G3,G5 G3,G4	1309/20 ▼ D:F-Team. F3F4 F1,F5 F2,F3,F5 F3,F4 F2,F4	 ✓ E: E - Compa ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17 E3.E4.E7.E11.E1 E2.E6.E14.E17 E4.E5.E11.E12.E E3.E4.E5.E11.E12 	F:D-Model ¥ 01.05.07.09.013 01.04.09.012.01 08.09.015.016 08.016 01.07.011.012	C2.C5.C12.C17.C C3.C7.C8.C10.C1 C4.C10.C11.C15. C4.C8.C15.C19.C C3.C7.C10.C14.C C2.C3.C5.C9.C12	H . B - Model V B3.B14.B20.B16, B3.B4.B7.B8.B10, B4.B8.B14.B18,B B4.B8.B13.B14.B B4.B8.B13.B14.B	1: A - Case st A6,A8,A15,A16 A1,A2,A3,A15,A16 A1,A7,A9,A14,A1 A7,A9,A14,A1 A7,A9,A14,A16 A6,A9,A14,A16 A6,A7,A8,A9,A14	
urces	A - Case study Casebook I: Cases/4C1 2: Cases/4C2 3: Cases/4C3 4: Cases/4C3 4: Cases/4C5 6: Cases/4C4	A:1-Present. 12,15,19,110,111 12,15,11,112 12,15,16,110 12,15,16,110 12,15,112 13,15,17,111	H2,H10 H8 H2,H8,H10 H3,H4 H3 H3 H2 H2 H4	G2.G6 G3.G5 G3.G5 G3.G5 G3.G4 G2 G3 G3.G9"	13/09/20 F3/F4 F1/F5 F2/F3/F5 F3/F4 F2/F4 F1/F2/F5 F2/F4 F3/F4'	▼ E: E - Compa. ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17 E3.E4.E7.E11.E1 E2.E6.E14.E17 E4.E5.E11.E12 E3.E4.E5.E11.E12 E3.E4.E5.E11.E1 E2.E6.E7.E9.E13.E1 E4.E8.E12.E16.E	F:D-Model7 D1.05.D7.09.D13 D1.04.D9.012.D1 D8.09.D15.D16 D9.015 D1.07.D91.D12 D1.06.09.010.D1 D8.013.D16 D8.012.D15	C2.C5.C12.C17.C C3.C7.C8.C10.C1 C4.C10.C11.C15. C4.C8.C15.C19.C C3.C7.C10.C14.C C2.C3.C5.C9.C12 C2.C5.C13.C16.C C3.C4.C8.C17.C1	H: B- Model V B3.B14.820.B16. B3.B4.87.B8.B10. B4.B3.B14.B18.B B4.B3.B14.B18.B B4.B3.B14.B17.B B1.B3.B7.B8.B17. B1.B3.B4.B8.B13.B1 B4.B3.B4.B13.B1	1: A - Case st A6 A8,A15,A16 A1 A2,A3,A15,A16 A1 A2,A3,A15,A16 A5 A9,A14,A16 A4 A8,A11,A15 A4 A8,A11,A15 A6,A7,A8,A9,A14 A1 A2,A3,A8,A9,A14	
	A - Case study Casesbook 1: Casesl4C1 2: Casesl4C2 3: Casesl4C3 4: Casesl4C4 5: Casesl4C4 7: Casesl4V1 7: Casesl4V12	A : 1 - Present [2]:519]10.111 [2]:519]10.111 [2]:516]8210 [2]:5516]8210 [2]:5516]8210 [3]:557,711 [3]:58,711 [3]:83,11	H2,H10 H8 H2,H8,H10 H3,H4 H3 H3 H3 H2	G2,G6 G3,G5 G3,G5 G3,G5 G3,G4 G2 G3	130920 ▼ D: F - Team F3,F4 F1,F5 F2,F3,F5 F3,F4 F2,F4 F1,F2,F5 F1,F2,F5 F2,F4	▼ E: E - Compa. ▼ E7.E11.E13.E17 E3.E4.E7.E11.E1 E2.E6.E14.E17 E4.E5.E11.E12.E E3.E4.E5.E11.E1 E2.E6.E7.E9.E13.E1 E2.E5.E7.E15.13.E1	F: D - Model	C2.C5.C12.C17.C C3.C7.C8.C10.C1 C4.C10.C11.C15. C4.C8.C15.C19.C C3.C7.C10.C14.C C2.C3.C5.C9.C12 C2.C5.C13.C16.C	H : B - Model V B3.B14.B20.B16, B3.B4.B7.B8.B10, B4.B8.B14.B18, B4.B8.B14.B17, B1.B3.B7.B8.B17, B3.P4.B8.B13,B14, B4.88.B13,B11, B3.B7.B3.B14,B13, B3.B7.B13,B14,B13	1: A - Case st A6, A8, A15, A16 A1, A2, A3, A15, A16 A1, A7, A9, A14, A1 A7, A9, A14, A1 A7, A9, A14, A16 A6, A9, A14, A16 A6, A7, A8, A9, A14	

Figure 8. Casebook with Attribute Data for AEA

Data Queries

Having built up a project of AEA case study data in NVivo the next step in the qualitative analysis process is to build up data queries allowing further searches into the enquiry. Searching and asking questions of data in NVivo is managed primarily through the query tool. Strategies for analysing data and generating results provide greater insight into enterprise models produced from the TrAM framework.

Identifying and Coding Relationships between Items

Identification and coding enables an analysis of data patterns across TrAM case studies to be explored. It is important to identify the use of the generic transaction model as a pattern between design groups working on the same case studies, as well as the linkages (or relationships) between multiple case studies. Hierarchical ordering of concepts in tree-structured coding systems provides categorisation within sub-categories, or concepts with their unique dimensions (Bazeley, 2007).

Focus Group Evaluation

To capture student feedback, AEA with the support and guidance of CPLA carefully designed a questionnaire and presented these questions to a focus group using a "CPLA Guide to Practice" (Elfving-Hwang and Garnett 2009). The questionnaire was carefully designed in that its purpose was to encourage discussion and honest feedback in terms of the learning experience. An analysis and discussion of student feedback demonstrated how engagement with the TrAM framework impacted on the learning experience. The deeper insight into the design teams experiences (particularly comments on challenges, successes, and improvements) are of particular interest to consider in the development of the framework. The main purpose of the focus group was to investigate the extent to which the use of Amine software has enhanced the students' autonomy as learners of TrAM using CG designed to deepen their understanding of the advantages and limitations of enterprise application models. Specific objectives included assessing how students identified their:

- *learning goals (what they need to learn)*: question 1 and 2
- *learning processes (how they will learn it)*: question 3 and 4
- evaluation of goals / process (how they will evaluate and use their learning): question 5 to 7

The focus group questions with a sample of student feedback comments corresponding to the learning goals are as follows:

Question 1: What we found most helpful about using the TrAM Framework ...

*Student feedback: "*The iterative nature of TrAM means that the model can change and be added / removed from, during the process."

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Question 2: The most useful thing/skill we learned from applying the TrAM framework ...

*Student feedback: "*How to pull important information from a case study to create a use case to allow us to see how a system works."

Question 3i: The aspect of the TrAM framework that most changed the way we learned was ...

Student feedback: "There is no wrong answer as you always learn from what may not be right so you can approach from a different angle."

Question 3ii: In what ways has it changed the way we learn?

Student feedback: "The iterative process of the model embeds the method because the model is repetitive."

Question 4: The thing we found most challenging about the TrAM framework was...

Student feedback: "Transaction model (is difficult in balancing)"

Question 5: In the context of using TrAM framework, in order to improve as learners (students), the thing we need to work on most is ...

Student feedback: "Grasp model fundamentals early on."

Question 6: In the context of using the TrAM framework, in order to improve as learners (students), the thing we need to stop doing ...

Student feedback: "Jumping ahead and attempting things before we fully understand them."

Question 7i: What we enjoyed the most about using the TrAM framework was ...

Student feedback: "Learning new modelling concepts."

Question 7ii: The reason we enjoyed using the TrAM framework were ...

Student Feedback: "Its visualising aspect (allowed us to visualise prospective of a system / company)."

Question 8: On understanding the TrAM framework and, to help us to improve as learners, we would like our tutor to...(stop, start, continue)

Student Feedback:

Stop, "Group assignment / long time assignments."

Start, "Drip feeding information, give more of an overview of the whole process"

Continue, "Having drop in and optional hand-ins."

The session comprised of 9 groups of between 2-6 student participants, moderated by four members of staff from the Learning and Teaching Institute (LTI) at Sheffield Hallam University. The focus group resulted in free-flowing discussion and debate based on the experience of applying TrAM to their case studies. The discussion produced data and insight that was honest and insightful in terms of gaining a deeper understanding of the design team's experiences of applying TrAM. This data may not have been accessible without interaction allowed in the group setting.

Observational Summary

Case studies are effective in providing focused narrative accounts of life-like business transactions allowing student design groups to engage in applying reasoning and TrAM as a theoretical framework. An initial analysis of designs showed them to fit into the matrix categorisations of an enterprise models usefulness illustrated in Figure 4.

These categorisations were likely outcomes based on common scenarios. Deeper qualitative analysis with the support of NVivo provided clarity in terms of which parts of a design performed well as opposed to which parts performed poorly in terms of model fundamentals, model automation and model visualisation.

Classifying case study design data and assigning values to framework design steps such as B1 = Poor/no TUCD, B2 = Basic TUCD, and B3 = Good TUCD as illustrated in figures 6 and 8 provided a means of measuring how accurate an enterprise design is in terms of architecture. Collecting design data after Yin's (2003) multiple case study method in an NVivo workspace project provided organisation for working with and analysing design case study data, reflecting, coding, linking and visualising with the results. NVivo is effective and beneficial for organising data and not missing evidence; however it has its limitations and cannot be used for analysing data content (database query) in design diagrams, in our case CG.

Key findings include establishing that there was a lack of clarity in some design teams in producing the initial 'transaction use case diagrams' (TUCD). Focusing on the use case as a transactional use case provided clarity in terms of agent roles in the enterprise transaction. Evidence showed that initial TUCD designs tended to be over complex and attempted to capture transactions at a very low level. Capturing the correct level of detail in the business transaction is key to the subsequent steps of producing CG and then refining those CG into

the generic transaction model. TrAM assumes a good working knowledge of UML which in some design teams proved not to be the case. Good UML practice would assume capturing the high level components (typically no more than six components in a use case diagram) of the business transaction. Another very key observation is that model automation using Amine enforces formalisation in terms of building an enterprise ontology, removing semantic and syntactic errors and building CG up through join operations, providing validation checks. Amine also tends to provide a more formal analysis than CharGer in terms of the Type Hierarchy (TH). The use of Amine in the automation also tests the TH logic, it may not be necessary to use CharGer in the process of creating the TH.

Qualitative data analysis across the same case studies within a given year proved to be more accurate and informative. Examining multiple case studies within a given year and over several years proved to be less accurate due to the introduction of more variables such as the introduction of Amine for model automation and small changes in the teaching emphasis year on year as a result of previous AEA student feedback.

Further Development

We feel we need to narrow our qualitative analysis to 'better' solutions from design groups. We also feel that looking across the same case study before looking at 'generic' issues amongst all 'better' groups and all case studies would be more fruitful.

Further development would include refining the use of Yin's (2003) multiple case study method in NVivo (Bazeley 2007), for example enforcing discipline across multiple case studies would ensure accurate coding and linking. NVivo is not prescriptive, it was developed primarily to meet the requirement of organising qualitative data for analysis. As Bazeley (2007) explores, this needed to be able to classify data in order to explore possible theoretical links. Yin (2003) outlined a method for multiple case study analysis which results in cross-case conclusions. Combining these two areas of work and developing a more prescriptive approach to using NVivo for cross-case qualitative analysis would enhance the professional practice of qualitative data analysis in the AEA area.

Acknowledgements

This work has been assisted by the generous efforts of Kenisha Garnett and Jo Elfving-Hwang.

References

Bazeley, p. (2007). Qualatative Data Analysis with NVivo. CA:Sage.

Biggs. J. (1999): Teaching for Quality Learning at University, SRHE and Open University Press, Buckingham. Adapted by HEA (2007) 'Constructive Alignment - and why it is

important to the learning

process'(http://www.engsc.ac.uk/er/theory/constructive_alignment.asp)

Box, George E.P. (1979) "Robustness in the strategy of scientific model building", *Robustness in Statistics*, Academic Press

Elliot, J. (2009) "Case-base learning and the acquisition of practical and theoretical knowledge". Personal communication (available from the author) Encase lecture Cambridge 2009.

Hill, R. (2006) "A Requirements Elicitation Framework for Agent-Oriented Software Engineering" PhD thesis, Sheffield Hallam University.

Maxwell, J.A. (2005). Qualatative research design. Thousand Oaks, CA:Sage.

Miles, M. B., and Huberman, A. M.(1994). Qualitataive data analysis: an expanded sourcebook. Thosand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Moore I. (2009) "CPLA Evaluation Guide - Evaluating your teaching practice" http://extra.shu.ac.uk/cetl/cpla/resources.html

Richard, L., and Morse, J. (2007). Readme first for a users guide to qualitative methods (2nd ed.). Thousand Oak, CA:Sage.

Shon, D. (1983) The reflective Practitioner, London: Temple Smith

Sowa, J. F., (2000) Knowledge Representation: Logical, Philosophical, and Computational Foundations, Brooks Cole Publishing Co., Pacific Grove, CA.

Disseminating good practice through Learner Autonomy and Enquiry Based Learning on a History programme ROGER LLOYD-JONES (R.LLOYD-JONES@SHU.AC.UK)

DEPARTMENT OF HUMANITIES, FACULTY OF DEVELOPMENT & SOCIETY SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Module Title: Making History 2 Level of module: Level 4 (First Year Undergraduate) Module Title: Britain and the Great War Level of module: Level 6 (Third Year Undergraduate) Module Titles: Inventing British Democracy and Northern Soul Level of module: Level 6 (Third Year Undergraduate)

Abstract

This case study examines the dissemination of Learner Autonomy (LA) and Enquiry Based Learning (EBL) across an undergraduate History programme. The 'seed' module, the Level 5 Historians & Research (H&R), was used as the model to extend LA/EBL both to incoming level 4 students and final year learners. Approximately 75 students take the H&R module, and the process is now rolled out to some 80 to 90 first year students and in the region (it will vary from year to year because of option choice) of 50-60 final year students.

Introduction

The undergraduate experience of LA requires 'careful scaffolding' if students are to become producers of meaning rather than passive consumers of knowledge (see Walkington, 2008). The decision to embed LA/EBL across a programme of study therefore required a systematic approach which addressed the following issues:

- LA is not reducible to independent study and is more securely located in the sphere of active learning where autonomy can progress and evolve in a stimulating environment (Savin-Baden, 2007).
- Careful consideration must be given to the design of assessment systems (see Section 6) so they are aligned to the students development as an autonomous learner (Booth & Hyland, 2000; Timmins, Vernon, Kinealy, 2005).
- The timing of implementation is a critical factor, and detailed discussion of LTA initiatives take place during key phases of the re-validation cycle and provide the opportunity and space to review and explore 'good practice'.

• To encourage the participation of younger members of staff/new lecturers in curriculum design which has specific LA/EBL focus. In short, investing in the future and therefore addressing the issue of sustainability.

Background

The History programme has an intake of about 110 students a year (80 single honours stream) and in aggregate there are approximately 280-300 students registered on the whole programme. The 'seed' module H&R which was introduced in 2000 (and was included in the original CETL bid) is taken by all level 2 single honours students. Subsequent curriculum developments in LA/EBL have followed both vertical and horizontal paths across the programme. For example, the level 4 compulsory module Making History 2 (85-90 students), at level 5 in addition to H& R the Imperial Economy (24), and at level 6, Britain and the Great War (40-65), Inventing British Democracy (25), and Northern Soul (27).

Rationale

The initial challenge was twofold:

- 1. To encourage students to take greater control over their own learning (Benson & Voller, 1997) in a core module focused on research and project work; and
- 2. To use the module as a 'seeding device' to enable the dissemination of LA/EBL more extensively across the History programme.

The intended benefits of the core module are associated with an approach to learning which invites learners to choose and develop their own research project, and to set their own aims, objectives and research questions. In other words, the learners themselves are asked to define the challenges/constraints and to set goals (Walliman, 2005). The rationale for the module is that research is not taught, but rather it is the learner who reflects on, and who searchers for the solutions to the challenges that confront any research project. The skills and capabilities are embedded through learning-by-doing, so that the learners acquire the capacity to I to act autonomously. Yet crucially important within this learning environment is also the recognition that it is collaborative both between learner and tutor, and between learners themselves. It is important to foster a partnership approach to learning. The rationale for the dissemination process was to capitalise on the 'good practice' of the core module in the context of a re-validation event and the appointment of two new members of staff.

The Approach

The Core Module

A key driver of the module is that students must choose and design their own research project; it is made clear at the outset that tutors do not provide one for them. Consequently, in the early weeks of the module it is essential to cultivate student confidence. Tutors were aware in the design stage of H & R that it would take students outside the comfort zone of

more conventional modules. (One student reflected in her final report: 'although the project provided a great opportunity to under take self-supported work, it was difficult to know where to start'.) The design and delivery called for robust 'scaffolding': how was this done and how successful has it been?

The mode of delivery was divided into two sections. In the first four weeks the focus is on collaborative learning, where students share responsibility in small groups (up to no more than four per group) and prepare for the transition to individual activity (Barker, Mclean & Roseman, 2000; Allen & Lloyd-Jones, 1999). At the end of week four students make their case for selecting their individual project, justify their choice and are allocated a tutor as mentor. Over the remaining eight weeks of the semester drop-in-sessions are available and feedback tutorials are provided on their first and second assignments (see section 6). In the critical first period (weeks 1 to 4) student groups foster collaborative learning, discussing between themselves and with tutors the feasibility of their chosen project, and sharing ideas and testing out potential research projects. In addition, there are practical exercises set and there is a group assessment element (see section 6). After week four students develop their own individual project focusing on design, challenge and reflection, which is, on the process of 'doing' a project rather than on producing a finished product. Students can use the opportunity of the drop-in-sessions to seek advice and support from tutors who are always available for consultation at set times. The four parameters which support the 'scaffolding' for the module are:

- Confidence: the cultivation of a learning environment that enables students to take greater control of their learning
- Collaboration: using group activity to foster the sharing of responsibility and to prepare for the transition to individual work
- Innovation: the student makes the case for a research project and justifies their choice
- Autonomy: students are weaned away from conventional sessions, are responsible for developing and reflecting on their project, but operate in a framework of support offered by tutors. It is important to stress that students are not required to attend drop-in-sessions; it is up to the student to decide whether to take-up the opportunity to use them.

Student responses to the module have been positive:

'Above all being more responsible and more accountable for my own work and level of commitment'

'When first starting this module I thought thinking about research ideas and having to do an individual case study a daunting prospect, but...taking on this project has made me much more confident and positive about this kind of research'.

'Working to be more involved in group activities will help me to contribute in group work in level 6'.

'The nature of the module is independent learning and it has helped me in introducing my own questions and aims'.

'To formulate objectives and research questions new skills were developed as I never previously had to take a topic, break it down to set my own objectives and form questions I intended to answer'

The student responses suggest a twofold outcome: a growing student awareness and confidence in their responsibilities as learners; and a growing acceptance' by tutors in the student's capabilities as autonomous learners. Both processes are mutually re-enforcing and provide another example of how the scaffolding enables the development of learning as a partnership between learner and tutor. The opportunity for students to frame their own questions and be prepared to answer them is the development of a practice where they do take greater charge of their own learning.

Disseminating Good Practice

H&R acted as a 'seed' module enabling the dissemination of an EBL approach to LA to be embedded at other levels of the History programme. Some of the modules adopting this approach are briefly described below:

Making History 2: This is a core module for all level 4 single honours students in semester 2 (total numbers for 2008/9 academic year - 85 students). The aim of the module is to develop autonomous learning skills through students working on a group project related to an aspect of public history in the Sheffield region. The module handbook states: 'The tutors will be there to facilitate your work, not to tell you what to do, when and how to do it'. Lectures are provided in the first four weeks (following a similar template to the H&R module) and are then supplemented by a series of fortnightly seminars. The purpose of the latter is to ensure that project groups are working smoothly and that all group members are aware of the demands of team work. The module ran for the first time in the 2007/8 session and feedback from students have been positive.

Britain and the Great War: This level 6 module is in its third year of delivery and is modelled on an EBL approach where students are engaged in exercises in informal groups. For example, groups are invited to prepare short reports and briefing papers on various aspects of the economic, political and military dimensions of the war. As a student commented in his seminar log: The main task was for the group to act as 'a small sub-committee advising the War Cabinet. The purpose of the exercise was to view the decisions undertaken by the war time cabinet from their (students) perspective to reach an understanding as to why decisions are made...' This is an example of an EBL approach enhancing the development of deep learning and students gain understanding by meaningfully taking charge of their own learning (see Wenden, 1998). Student response to the module has been very favourable, comments on module questionnaires include: 'The layout of the seminars - structures and activities have been fantastic as they allow you to engage in the topics being discussed'. 'Seminars were much better than other modules - encouraged participation'. 'The quiz was a great introduction to the seminar and was carried out well by the group work and we had good discussions at the end'. 'Enjoyed the discussions because you find different views and perspectives on topics that differ to the ones you think of'. The external examiner in his
2007/8 report observed that the module required the 'students to reflect on their seminar work and structure what they had learnt'.

Inventing British Democracy and Northern Soul: These two modules were designed by two new young members of staff who were mentored by Roger Lloyd-Jones, and who also worked with Sally Bradley from the LTI using their approach to LA/EBL in curriculum design to apply for membership of the HEA. One tutor has already gained membership and the other was awarded a small project grant from the CPLA and has recently taken up the role of History group LTA co-ordinator. Both modules will start in semester 2 of 2008/9 and have attracted 24 and 27 students as their first intake.

Assessment

Critical to the successful design and implementation of modules adopting LA/EBL is that the approach must be aligned to the mode of assessment. As Boud has argued student decisions about what and how well they learn is informed by assessment (Boud, 2002; Booth, 2000) and one might add that asymmetrical alignment leads to a significant fall in student confidence.

Assessment and the H & R Module

In the H & R module a three tier assessment package is used: the first exercise is group based and students complete a number of tasks using on-line search engines from the module blackboard site. The exercise is designed to enhance learning by the group using its own initiative (Nicholson & Ellis, 2000) to search for historical sources and to produce a short report. The exercise is submitted in week 5 and tutors guarantee return and feedback by week 7. The second exercise is an individual research proposal which is designed to prepare students for planning and writing the final report - this is submitted in week 7 and students are asked to return proposals and provide feedback in week 9. Exercise 3 is the final report which invites students to comment on their learning experience, what they consider to be their positive achievements (see 5.2) and what they consider to be their less successful outcomes (these frequently refer to time management issues). Students are also asked to comment on what ways the project has changed since the proposal in week 7 and to explain why changes have been made.

The assessment package is not simply a 'test' of what the students have achieved but an opportunity for learners to demonstrate their ability to reflect on their own learning and plan ahead for their final year. As one student put it in the final report: 'This module has taught me how a dissertation is different from an essay, because it involves more independent study and unlike an essay is not based on a subject learnt about in lecture or seminar work.' The kind of study is dependent upon the student setting out the objectives of research'. The external examiner observed 'The assessment criteria were very appropriate' and 'provide 'a stimulating intellectual environment, and 'part of that is the support and feedback system'

New Modules

Assessment portfolios in the new modules using an EBL approach tend either to use a group presentation and an individual self-reflective report evaluating the learners contribution to the presentation (MH2 & Northern Soul) or seminar logs (Great War; Inventing British Democracy). Seminar logs introduce an element of choice into the assessment system, in both the Great War and Inventing Democracy modules. Students are able to select any 3 of the 5 thematic seminars to write up their log. The logs focus on what has been learnt in the seminar, how the activities have contributed to the learning process and how students have arrived at their conclusions or judgements. They also provide a different approach to assessment compared to the more traditional essay/examination format. In terms of evaluating student assessments, consideration is given more to reflection. For example, what is achieved in the seminar, how was the topic approached, how valuable were the group activities and discussions in facilitating learning; rather than focusing on content and narrative. In his 2008 report on the Great War module the external examiner reported: 'May I start by saying what an excellent form of assessment I think this is - it requires the students not only to attend seminars but engage in them actively, and reflect on learning. Exemplary test for graduate level skills'.

Summary and Conclusion

To successfully embed LA in programme curriculum it is essential to see the LTA approach as a partnership between tutor and student. Rather than independent learning LA, is more to do with interdependent learning where students can learn from each other. Equally important, and why this approach can be recommended, is that tutors gain the confidence to wean students away from over-directed teaching and assessment, which tends to turn students into passive recipients of knowledge. The outcome for the History programme at SHU over the last few years has been to disseminate good practice in the form of LA/EBL at all levels of the curriculum and there has been a progressive embedding of these initiatives. The core level 5 module H & R was used as an exemplar and the opportunity of the revalidation cycle and the appointment of new lecturers were capitalised to disseminate good practice across the programme. Tutors are encouraged by greater participation and activity in seminars (student responses), a significantly more varied assessment portfolio and this is reflected in student work and performance (external examiners). These initiatives have also been enhanced by significant investment in Blackboard (an LTA history group action plan for 2007/8) and this formed part of the 'scaffolding' so crucial for supporting the partnership between students and tutors. For tutors and students this has been an important journey, the embedding of LA/EBL has been challenging, thought-provoking, and risky, and like all interesting journeys the means are as significant as the end.

Bibliography

Allen, J. & Lloyd-Jones, R. 1999. The Assessment of Group Work and Presentations in the Humanities: A Guidebook for Tutors, FDTL, Sheffield Hallam University.

Barker, H. Mclean, M. & Roseman, M. 'Re-thinking the history curriculum: enhancing students' communication and group-work skills' in Booth, A. & Hyland, P. (Eds). The Practice of History Teaching.

Benson, P. 2001. Teaching and Researching Autonomy in Language Learning, Pearson Education Ltd.

Booth, A. 2000. 'Changing assessment to improve learning' in Booth, A. & Hyland, P. The Practice of University Teaching.

Booth, A & Hyland, P. 2000. (Eds). The Practice of University History Teaching, Manchester University Press.

Boud, D. 2002. 'Assessment and Learning: Contradictory or complementary?' in Knight, P. (Ed). Assessment for Learning in Higher Education, Kogan Page.

Boud, D & Feletti, G. 1997. (Eds). The Challenge of Problem Based Learning. 2nd edition, Kogan Page.

Nicholson, T. & Ellis, G. 'Assessing group work to develop collaborative learning' in Booth, A. & Hyland, P. (Eds). The Practice of University History Teaching.

Savin-Baden, M. 2007. 'Challenging Problem Based Learning Models and Perspectives' in De Graff, E & Kolmos, A (Eds). Management of Change, Sense Publishers.

Timmins, G. Vernon, K & Kinealy, C. 2005. Teaching and Learning History, Sage.

Walkington, H. 2008. 'Quality enhancement of the student experience through undergraduate research opportunities - the impact of undergraduate research journals'. Paper presented to HEA Annual Conference, Harrogate.

Wenden, A. 1998. Learner Strategies for Learner Autonomy, Prentice Hall.

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Promoting and evaluating entrepreneurial learning: Assessing the effectiveness of an Enquiry-Based approach

KIEFER LEE (K.LEE@SHU.AC.UK) ROBIN LOWE (R.LOWE@SHU.AC.UK) SUE MARRIOTT (S.MARRIOT@SHU.AC.UK) SHEFFIELD BUSINESS SCHOOL SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Module Title: Northern Leadership Academy programme

Level of module: Short, non-credit bearing module

Module Title: Entrepreneurial Marketing and Innovation

Level of module: Level 7 (MSc)

Abstract

This project was about innovative learning, teaching and assessment methods that enhance entrepreneurial learning by developing learning autonomy in managers within their work environment, and taking part in a short management programme. It was based on the premise that managers have complex and dynamic responsibilities and are therefore required to engage in a constant process of learning in order to develop their professional standards and meet their particular organisational objectives. This project aimed to develop autonomy in managers. 'Autonomy', in this context, refers to an ability to be responsible for determining the purpose, content, method of learning and delivering transformation to their organisations. To this end, this project sought to examine: (a) the role of learner autonomy in the enhancement of work-based, entrepreneurial learning and managerial skills development; (b) the use of enquiry-based learning and assessment in the development of learner autonomy in the context of entrepreneurial learning; and (c) the role of the teacher as facilitator.

Based on a qualitative study that involved both managers and full-time postgraduate students, this project explored the extent to which the enquiry-based learning approach was effective in promoting and evaluating entrepreneurial learning. Enquiry-based approaches where students engage in an essentially self-determined process of enquiry (Hutchings, 2005; Savin-Baden, 2007) together with their integrated assessment strategies empower learners to take more responsibility for their own learning thereby increasing their engagement in the learning process (Bandura, 1977; Feuerstein, 1991). The research that underpins this project emphasises on the entrepreneurial process and innovation; that is, the processes involved in developing market innovations rather than new venture creation. Assessment was also seen as an integral element to facilitate and drive student learning. This case study concludes by drawing upon the implications of the findings on curriculum planning, assessment design and feedback strategy.

Background

There were two courses involved in this project:

Northern Leadership Academy programme: This is a short, non-credit management development programme designed to engage managers who are looking to enhance their professional development. This programme is in its very early stage of its development and experimental in nature. A total of ten managers participated in this programme. These managers have diverse educational backgrounds. Some are university graduates (degree level or higher) and some have qualifications associated with professional bodies (e.g. Chartered Institute of Marketing).

Entrepreneurial Marketing and Innovation: This is a Level 7 module of the MSc International marketing course with 72 students. The educational aim for this module is to enhance students' entrepreneurial learning by progressively developing learning autonomy through an enquiry-based learning approach.

The approach to learning for both courses was primarily through a series of taught seminars, underpinned by an enquiry-based learning approach. Learning was enhanced by action learning sets in which students worked together in small groups to share knowledge and expertise with a view of enhancing their learning experience.

Rationale

The promotion and evaluation of entrepreneurial (and, by implication, intrapreneurial) learning is an acknowledged area of weakness in entrepreneurship education. A typical University setting is often not conducive to entrepreneurial learning as traditional learning and assessment methods, exemplified in practices such as didactic lectures and closed-book examinations. These learning and teaching methods do not promote entrepreneurship, primarily because entrepreneurship education requires students to develop new ways of thinking and new modes of behaviour (Heinonen and Poikkijoki, 2006). Traditional methods centre upon transmission approaches ('learning about') rather than experiential approaches ('learning for'). This calls for pedagogical approaches that encourage 'learning by doing' and provide opportunities for students to proactively manage their learning. In other words, the teacher needs to encourage students to reflect on their previous life and learning experiences, to see these experiences in a wider context, and make their own theoretical interpretations of them (Gibb, 2002). It is argued here that one such approach that allows students to do this is enquiry-based learning, in which students are expected to construct their own knowledge and understandings by engaging in supported processes of open enquiries (Kahn and Rourke, 2008).

Enquiry-based learning is a term that describes any process of learning through enquiry. Learning is derived from interaction with an enquiry or problem scenario and the learning environment, through which cognitive dissonance is created. Knowledge evolves through collaborative processes of social negotiation and evaluation of the viability of the enquirer's

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

point of view (Tan, 2003). The emphasis is upon the importance of the participation of the learner in the formation of the purposes which direct his/her activities in the learning process (Dewey, 1963). In this sense, enquiry-based learning is about ensuring that students, where possible, are encouraged to acquire their knowledge by means of a process of active learning. By carrying out research and investigations into areas that they deem essential for a proper response to identified enquiries, students take ownership of that process of enquiry hence their own learning. It is proposed here, therefore, that the enquiry-based approach can better facilitate the acquisition of problem-solving, communication, teamwork and interpersonal skills and attributes synonymous with entrepreneurial learning.

Teaching Practice

The emphasis of this project was on the entrepreneurial process and innovation; that is, rather than new venture creation, the focus was on researching the processes involved in developing market innovations. Based roughly on Tan's (2003) approach, the curriculum adapted for this study used primarily real business problems and scenarios as anchors around which learners could achieve the learning outcomes through a process of actively working on self-determined, yet open enquiries. By presenting these real business problems/scenarios as focal points, learners were allowed to act as active problem-solvers, whereas teachers assumed a role of facilitators of the learning that took place in the course of solving a particular problem or issue.



Figure 1: Entrepreneurial Learning – An Enquiry-Based Approach

Students were presented with an open enquiry, which in this case was the creation of a market innovation. They were expected to formulate the topic of their chosen enquiry and to describe the scope of their engagement with it. They were then required to enquire, seek information from books and websites, and think about how to solve their immediate problems, and ultimately, develop a strategy that would help them launch a market

innovation in a chosen industry. This method of learning was aimed to trigger learning by placing the onus on the students to:

- a) Define the enquiry (what is a market innovation?);
- b) Analyse the enquiry (what is the make-up of a market innovation?);
- c) Generate ideas or hypothesis (what are the sources of market innovation? Which idea would I base my innovation on?); and
- d) Identify learning issues (what knowledge and skills are required to achieve the required learning outcomes? How would I go about doing it?) (see Figure 1).

After each learning session, students were required to work in a learning set of three to four people, and to discuss what they have learnt and how they would apply that learning into their enquiry based task. They were told to ask themselves questions, such as what they know about the topic of enquiry, what they need to know to solve the issue or problem at hand and what ideas come to mind as they discuss in groups.

Assessment

The assessment is an integral element in this pedagogy, as it is perceived to facilitate and drive student learning, and act as an important mechanism through which assessment 'of' and 'for' entrepreneurial learning is undertaken. Assessment influences the decisions students make about how as well as what they learn (Boud, 2002; Ramsden, 2003). It can shape how students view the curriculum, and make decisions about what to learn and how to approach their learning. As Boud (2002) suggests, "every act of assessment gives a message to students about what they should be learning and how they should go about it" (37). It is therefore essential that the assessment used give the right messages to students about what they should be learning.

The writing of personal learning logs in the form of a learning portfolio was an integral part of the module's assessment, and these learning logs provided important information about their learning as well as about the student's approach to managing that learning process. The learning portfolio was introduced to the students as an effective learning tool which enabled them to gain greater control of their learning. As the students deliberated on their chosen topic of enquiry, brainstorming and discussing collaboratively, they were expected to draw up their learning issues and how they sought to address them.

All learning portfolios were assessed at the end of the modules and were given a grade. Over the course of these modules, students were given opportunities to discuss their progress with their tutors, who provided constructive feedback (verbal and/or written, as appropriate). As part of the assessment, students were required to verbally present their initial innovation idea for a product or service on a poster. They received a grade and written feedback which helped them to refine their idea. The poster presentation was also used as a 'simulated' learning environment to help students develop the skills of 'pitching' their idea to potential investors. They were encouraged to 'document' and reflect on this as part of their learning journey.

Evaluation

The data used in evaluating the project relied on the qualitative analysis of written student reflections of learning and knowledge application, as well as two focus group discussions. Data was collected with an 'open mind' with no strong ties to any particular conceptual framework. Nevertheless, certain areas of focus were developed and adopted throughout the evaluation as a result of a process of negotiation between our own understanding and experiences, literature review and students' perspectives. To facilitate this, a series of codes are created to label, separate, compile and organise data. This process of coding had provided a simple, effective tool to 'drop' data into categories and sub-categories as they were collected in the field. A total of three categories were developed:

- 1. How enquiry-based learning promotes learning focuses on the way that students respond to enquiry-based learning and how it promotes entrepreneurial learning;
- 2. The role of assessment for learning focuses on students' reflection on how the assessment tasks help them to develop entrepreneurial learning;
- 3. Feedback for Learning focuses on student's reflection on their engagement with feedback to enhance their progressive development and learning.

Discussion

How Enquiry-Based Learning Promotes Learning

The findings of this project strongly suggests that the enquiry-based learning approach adopted for the curriculum design and delivery of this module not only encouraged students to adopt a deep approach to learning, but also simulated the 'learning by doing' education process associated with entrepreneurial learning. The findings suggest that students do not necessarily see the relevance of theory to a real-world context. Instead, they value the opportunity to take ownership of the processes of enquiry; that is, the development of an innovation from idea to market. In this way, they were responsible for establishing the context, the space, and the environment within which their enquiry could best be simulated.

In addition to this, students also recognised how the pedagogical structure of this module enhanced their learning, as the process of self-inquiry helped the students to progressively develop autonomy in managing own learning. The notion of learner autonomy has been described as the learners' ability to take charge or control of their own learning (Benson, 2001 & 2006). Autonomy in an educational context is therefore predicated on the students' innate capacity to take control of their own learning, and their propensity to take charge of that learning in a supportive and enabling environment (Benson, 2001). This has to be within a structured pedagogical framework that would encourage active learning and motivating students to learn towards autonomy (Booth, 2008). Accordingly, it appears that the learning and teaching method and framework utilised in this project was successful in promoting active learning and learner autonomy.

The Role of Assessment for Learning

The assessment seemed to encourage students to engage in self-determined development and progress. There was a strong focus on the output as well as the process of their learning as a formative activity as well as a summative assessment. The use of learning portfolios in which students write learning logs had been effective to allow for individual exploration and reflective learning. Students appeared to value the assessment for its formative role in knowledge and personal development.

Feedback for Learning

Feedback is central to an enquiry-based learning environment. Without adequate feedback, as Hounsell et.al. (2007) observe, students are likely to underachieve, not fulfilling the best of which they are capable. Cross (1996) provides a vivid metaphor for learning without feedback, where it is likened to learning archery in a darkened room. In this metaphor it is simply not possible to hit the target (perform to a given standard) if you do not know where the target is (how well you are doing). Further feedback is critical in making it possible to hit the target consistently by providing information that can be used to improve performance and enhance attainment. The importance of feedback in enhancing learning is supported by clear evidence (Black and William, 1998; Gibbs and Simpson, 2005) that changes to assessment practice that strengthen the use of formative feedback produce significant and substantial learning gains.

Conclusion

The key findings from this study suggest that it is possible to create learning contexts to promote and evaluate entrepreneurial learning within an enquiry-based curriculum. The enquiry-based approach has encouraged students to engage in a process of self-determined enquiry, in which they learn to make deeper sense of what they are learning and are motivated to improve their knowledge to 'get the job done'. It supports the view that innovative approaches to entrepreneurial learning can help students to develop the knowledge, creativity and competences needed to manage their own enterprises.

Changing the way students are assessed holds the key to laying the foundations for effective enquiry-based learning. Embedding assessment for learning alongside assessment of learning within the curriculum constitute a shift of focus from knowledge acquisition, and its application to specific issues, to knowledge co-construction and problem-solving. This change in emphasis implies the adoption of a very different pedagogical approach to curriculum delivery.

Getting timely, regular feedback about the work-in-progress portfolio and having the opportunity to improve before final submission were seen by students as a truly learnercentre assessment for learning. Students stated that they did not just gain more knowledge about the subject matter but also developed professional skills. Through the use of portfolio assessments, they were able to associate their existing knowledge and learning with real-life, professional contexts that enhance their skills and abilities in their field of study.

The findings suggest that portfolio can be a very useful learning (as well as assessment) tool to help students recognise the complexity of professional work practices and to enable 'learning by doing'. As Klenowski et.al. (2006) observe, portfolios enable "inquiry into learning by the learner through integration of understanding from active engagement in dialogue and collaboration with the tutor and other course-participants followed by reflection on these processes" (278). Furthermore, in the context of this project the use of portfolios quite clearly encouraged students to develop and use their capacity for autonomy in managing their own learning. Learner control implies a power shift both within and outside the classroom, with the tutor moving from a directing role to more of a facilitator in the learning process. The findings of this study suggest that this so-called 'power shift', given the right conditions, can result in the development of learning autonomy in students.

On reflection, it is important to acknowledge that this is a small-scale case study that took place within a specific institutional context in the UK. The comments made by students in the focus groups and portfolio entries represent a limited, one-dimensional perspective of their experiences within an enquiry-based learning curriculum. By undertaking a different approach to analysing the data, it may be that other underlying themes would have emerged. The interpretations from which we derived our findings may very well reflect the various backgrounds (e.g. educational, cultural and personal) of those students who participated in this study, and the ways in which they have previously experienced higher education. Similarly, these interpretations may also reflect our personal, professional, educational and cultural biases, which impact on our ways of going about interpreting and presenting enquiry-based learning.

References

Bandura, A. (1977) Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioural change, Psychological Review, 41, 191-215.

Benson, P. (2001) Teaching and Researching Autonomy in Language Learning, Harlow, England: Longman.

Benson, P. (2006) Autonomy in Language Teaching and Learning, in Language Teaching and Learning, 40, 21-40, Cambridge University Press.

Bessant, J. and Tidd, J.(2007) Innovation and Entrepreneurship, Chichester: Wiley.

Biggs, J. (2003) Teaching for Quality Learning in Higher Education, Buckingham: Open University Press.

Black, P. & William, D (1998) Assessment and Classroom Learning, Assessment in Education, 5, (1), 7-71.

Booth, K. (2008) A Review of the Literature for Learner Autonomy, Sheffield Hallam University, Unpublished.

Boud, D. (2000) Assessment for the Learning Society, Studies in Continuing Education, 22, (2), 151-167.

Boud, D. (2002) Assessment and learning: Contradictory or complementary? In: P.Knight (ed) Assessment for Learning in Higher Education. London: Kogan Page, pp. 35-48

Cross, K. P. and Steadman M. H. (1996), Classroom Research: Implementing the Scholarship of Teaching, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 9.

Deakins, D. and Freel, M. (1998) Entrepreneurial Learning and the Growth Process in SMEs, The Learning Organisation, 5, (3), p.144-55.

Dewey, J. (1963) Experience and Education, New York: Simon & Schuster.

Feuerstein, R., Klein, S. and Tannenbaum, A. (1991) Mediated Learning Experience: theoretical, psychological and learning implications, London: Freund.

Gibb, A. (2002) In pursuit of a new 'enterprise' and 'entrepreneurship' paradigm for learning: creative destruction, new values, new ways of doing things and new combinations of knowledge, International Journal of Management Reviews, 4, (3), 233-269.

Gibb, A. (2006) Entrepreneurship: Unique Solutions for Unique Environments: Is it possible to achieve this with the existing paradigm?, Working Paper 038/2006, National Council for Graduate Entrepreneurship (NCGE) UK.

Gibbs, G and Simpson, C (2005) Conditions under which assessment supports students' learning. Learning and Teaching in Higher Education (1) 3 – 31.

Hammersley, M. and Atkinson, P. (1995) Ethnography: Principles in Practice, Routledge.

Heinonen, J. and Poikkijoki, S-A. (2006) An entrepreneurial-directed approach to entrepreneurship education: mission impossible?, Journal of Management Development, 25, (1), 80-94.

Herrmann, K., Hannon, P., Cox, J. and Ternouth, P. (2008), Developing Entrepreneurial Graduates: Putting entrepreneurship at the centre of higher education, National Council for Graduate Entrepreneurship (NCGE) UK.

Sheffield Hallam University

Hounsell, D. et al. (2007) Learning and Teaching at University: The Influence of Subjects and Settings. (Teaching and Learning Research Briefings, no. 31), London: ESRC Teaching and Learning Research Programme.

Hutchings, B (2005, 2007), CEEBL Website (last accessed 30 May 2008).

Kahn, P. and O'Rourke, K. (2008) Guide to Curriculum Design: Enquiry-Based Learning, Higher Education Academy.

Klenowski, V. Askew, S. and Carnell, E. (2006) Portfolios for learning, assessment and professional development in higher education, Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 31, (3), p.267-268.

Rae, D. (2000) Understanding entrepreneurial learning: a question of how?, International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research, *6*, (3), p.145-159.

Ramsden, P. (2003) Learning to Teach in Higher Education, London: Routledge Falmer.

Savin-Baden, M. (2007) Challenging PBL models and Perspectives, In De Graff, E & Kolmos, A (eds) Management of Change, 9-29, Sense Publishers.

Tan, O-S. (2003) Problem-based Learning Innovation: Using problems to power learning in the 21st Century, Singapore:Thomson Learning.

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Overcoming the fear of figures: a Problem Based approach to Business Analysis Peter Long Muriel Eddowes (m.eddowes@shu.ac.uk) Sheffield Business School Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

The subject of this case study is a first year module taken by all students on business, finance and accounting programmes at Sheffield Hallam University. The module, Business Analysis, covers quantitative analysis and information technology. The learning and teaching approach includes project work and other group activities all of which are based on issues which would arise in a retail company. A replica retail company is used to generate detailed scenarios and the data required for analysis. The effectiveness of this Problem Based Learning approach has been evaluated from a number of different perspectives. This paper reports on the findings of this evaluation.

Introduction

Students of business subjects often have problems with numbers. There are several reasons for this: fear (Joyce and Hassall, 2006), lack of knowledge and understanding of the principles of numerical manipulation, lack of confidence in applying these principles (Burlingame et al, 2002; Pokorny and Pokorny, 2005), rustiness from lack of use and not seeing the relevance.

The first year module in Business Analysis, delivered to all students of business, finance and accounting at Sheffield Hallam University, uses an approach which integrates the quantitative analysis with the IT. The module uses a problem based learning (PBL) approach (Dolmans et al, 2005), which is applied to issues and tasks firmly located in a business setting. The business setting is provided by a replica retail company having branches across the UK.

The major focus of the module is the interpretation of the results of an analysis rather than on theoretical aspects of conducting the analysis. The approach has met with some success in overcoming students' reluctance to engage with numerical aspects in their studies. We report here the results of our evaluation of the module over the last 6 years of running it.

Background and rationale

At Sheffield Hallam University prior to 2000, numerical and IT aspects were taught to business students through two independent modules; one on "business quants" and the other on IT, specifically Excel. Although these were successful in terms of pass rates, students persistently reported they found the modules disconnected from the rest of the curriculum and irrelevant to their course and future careers. Studying these topics was seen as a necessary evil rather than adding value to the rest of their studies.

Many students became disengaged at an early stage and the resistance extended to subsequent modules in which numerical and analytical methods were used. Of the students who failed the module, a large number took several attempts before they either passed or withdrew from the course having failed these core modules.

In 2000, when the business programme was being redesigned as part of the regular updating cycle, we took the opportunity of creating a new module called Business Analysis, which combined the quantitative analysis and the IT. This was a radical redesign that addressed a number of the shortcomings of its predecessors. It aimed to: (1) make the relevance of the quantitative analysis in business more explicit, (2) start simple and develop confidence, (3) provide help and encouragement to overcome fear and resistance, and (4) locate the subject more centrally within the curriculum.

The perceived success of this module resulted, via subsequent updates of the Faculty's programmes, in all first year students who are studying courses in business, finance and accounting taking this 20 credit module in Business Analysis. In total a number of about 800 students take the module each year. These students have a wide variety of prior experiences in IT and Maths and many choose their degree subject in the belief that they will do very little, if any, numerical work.

In 2004 a proposal was submitted for the further development of the replica retail company, which is central to the Business Analysis module, into a resource that could be used across other areas of the business curriculum. This proposal was accepted and work has been going on for the last three years on the TIBER project (The Integrated Business Education Resource).¹

The approach /methodology and method

The initial challenge was to make the quantitative analysis and IT more exciting and relevant to the students. In the previous scheme where the quants and IT were taught separately from one another, the pass rate was acceptable but the general student feedback was that the subjects were not interesting and their relevance to the rest of the curriculum was not clear. Additionally, tutors reported that while on work placement, students could not successfully undertake analysis at the levels required of them.

¹ TIBER project (The Integrated Business Education Resource)

⁽http://teaching.shu.ac.uk/om/thebusiness/website/new_project). The project is funded by HEFCE's Fund for the Development of Teaching and Learning phase 5 (FDTL5). TIBER has a wider range than the original replica company, spanning part of the supply chain and including a number of features relating to the shopping centres in which the branches of the store are imagined to be located. Much of the research and evaluation that is reported in this paper arises from the TIBER project.

The objectives of the approach for a new Business Analysis module included the following:

- to integrate the quantitative analysis and IT so that calculations were done by the computer;
- to reduce the "mathematical" content i.e. simplify the theoretical aspects and remove the use of mathematical formulae;
- to adopt a project based learning approach, where activities are led by the needs of a business;
- to set the whole module within the context of a realistic company.

We explored various options for the realistic company that would form the backbone of the module. The nature of the analysis that was to be undertaken required access to detailed transactional data and it became clear that a commercial company would not allow such access to a group of around 800 people per year. We explored the idea of using a real business from within the University, the union shop for example, and even the idea of setting up a student run business for the purpose of generating the type of information and scenarios that would be analysed in the module. In the end we opted to build our own replica company and develop realistic (but not real) data and information.

We chose a department store operating branches in a number of towns and cities in England. The company was loosely based on real retailing companies including John Lewis and Fenwicks Ltd. We chose a retail company because of the students' familiarity with this sector (as shoppers or as part time employees) which would enable a speedy orientation with the issues and data.

Initially the tangible evidence of the replica company (which we called "the business") was a company website and a series of data files uploaded to the VLE site for the Business Analysis module. Subsequently, with the benefit of external funding which has supported the TIBER project, we have refined the website and added a company intranet website which holds the "commercially sensitive" detailed data and company information. Additionally we have extended the resource to include a logistics company and explicit links to shopping centres. These widen the scope of the resource in line with a wider remit to integrate the first year business curriculum. These websites are now freestanding so that they can be accessed from the VLEs of a number of different modules on the business programme.

For the Business Analysis module the resource (TIBER) supplies issues, problems and data on which to base the practice and assessment of the quantitative analysis and IT tools and methods. The pedagogic model on which the module is based is shown below:



Figure 1: Pedagogic model for the Business Analysis module

The module is divided into 8 study blocks of two weeks each. The remainder of the teaching year is devoted to directed study and student project work. There are two major assessed projects, one in each semester, which provide a basis for the work that the students undertake in the study blocks.

The first project, covering topics from the first four study blocks, involves a team of 3 or 4 students presenting a report on the performance of their department in one of the branches of "the business". The report is via a poster and is a graphical representation of data and information, on both internal company performance and external market and competitor information. Students are allowed a five minute oral presentation to support their poster and have to answer questions on their findings.

The second project relates to a proposed business development within the company and requires students (working in pairs) to apply a range of analytical methods to both historic company data and future estimates of market and competitor interest. The focus is on financial modelling and introduces notions of sensitivity analysis. This project requires students to write a management report which also develops their report writing skills.

Students work on these projects over the whole semester. They learn the methods and undertake practice exercises during the associated study blocks. They also build up their project work incrementally and receive formative feedback on progress by undertaking a number of small assessment tasks. Additionally, each study block has an associated on-line self assessment test so students can monitor their own development.

The topic of each study block is introduced through a lecture and is supported by written learning materials (bound together in the module handbook). The IT skills required for the study block are developed through a 90 minute computer laboratory session comprising directed practice exercises. Students are required to prepare the results of their computer laboratory work for the following week's seminar session. The seminar sessions provide the opportunity to discuss and explore the interpretation of the work students bring to the class.

Assessment

The module centres on its assessment. The in-module assessment (2 projects, small assessed tasks, on-line self assessment tests) is intended to keep up the students' momentum and engagement throughout the year. There is also an end of module exam which assesses a general understanding of principles and the ability to apply them.

During the 7 years of running the module, various changes have been made: the organisation of support materials has been rationalised; drop-in surgeries have been introduced; the number and frequency of assessed tasks have been changed. Many of these changes have been in response to student feedback on the module and what they like most and least about it.

Evaluation

The module has been evaluated in several ways:

Analysis of the student performance (through marks);

We have tracked the students' performance in the Business Analysis module (and its predecessor modules) over the last 9 years. The series starts in 1999/2000 with the predecessor scheme. In this series we have considered only the quantitative analysis module of the predecessor scheme as it was this that was causing the greater concern.

Figure 2 shows the average marks over the 9 year period.



Figure 2: Average marks and numbers of students taking the module

The introduction of the new scheme in 2001/02 produced a dramatic increase in the mean overall mark for the module (red line). The mean exam mark (green line) shows a similar pattern, although the mean coursework mark (blue line) shows an immediate decline but with an increase in the following year. As with any new module, there were refinements in the nature and balance of the assessment and these undoubtedly had an effect on average marks. However, there is a dramatic fall in all three mean marks in 2003/04. These have stabilised since and have now reached levels exceeding those of the old scheme.

The dramatic falls in mean exam marks (in 2003/04 and 2006/07) coincide with reductions in numbers of students taking the module as shown by the purple line in the figure. The dips in these years indicate lower than usual recruitment levels, which may indicate a lower than usual standard of student entrant.



Figure 3 shows, for the same time period, the pass rates for students completing the module

Figure 3: Pass rates and rates of good performance on the Business Analysis module

In comparing the percentage of first time passes over this period, it is necessary to take account of a change in assessment regulations which were introduced in 2005/06. This change removed internal compensation between coursework and exam marks, making it necessary to separately pass both the coursework and exam components at 40%. To make a comparison meaningful we have standardised the pass rates on the basis of the previous set of assessment regulations (with internal compensation).

The overall first time pass rate increases dramatically with the introduction of the new scheme and recovers from the dip in 2003/04 (where the numbers on the module fall) to a level above that before the new scheme was introduced.

The two other series shows how the proportion of good performers (obtaining more than a 60% mark in coursework and exam respectively) has changed. Coursework performance took a hit with the new scheme but has recovered; exam performance showed an immediate improvement and has slowly recovered from the dip in 2003/04.

As part of regular module review (through end of module questionnaires)

As part of regular module evaluation, questions relating to the resource have been included in the module evaluation questionnaire in each of the last two years. The statements relate to the replica company. The findings are shown below.



The number who see the replica company enhancing the relevance of the module to a business career has grown to a convincing majority.

This shows how the resource has brought relevance to this part of the curriculum





The number who agree that the replica company helps to see connections between the different business subjects has grown over the last two years to a substantial majority.

This supports the role of the resource in curriculum integration.

Figure 5: The use of the replica company helped me to see connections between the different subjects I have studied this year.

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy



It seems that the replica company is seen as less realistic in 2007-08 than in the year before. This result could have been influenced by the introduction in 2007-08 of a critical appraisal of the company's web site undertaken as an exercise in the Financial and Information Management module. This exercise might have drawn attention to weaker aspects of the resource.

Figure 6: The replica company, the business, was convincingly realistic.



The percentage of students claiming to find the website difficult to navigate has increased in 2007-08 than in the year before. This may due to the exercise mentioned in the previous question.



As part of the funded TIBER project

As part of the evaluation of the TIBER project, a series of on-line questionnaire surveys has been undertaken. The design of the survey was informed by student focus group meetings and a series of interviews with staff within the Faculty. The findings reported below derive from the analysis of the on-line surveys.

Students study 6 modules in their first year. Five are mandatory. As the subject of one of the five mandatory modules was changed in 2007-08, only the four remaining modules have been included in this comparison.

If each module was equally disliked among the students, then we would expect 17% of the students to claim each module as their least liked. Figure 8 below shows over 40% of students like Business Analysis the least in the cohort 2005-06. By 2007-08, this has reduced to just over 30%, which is a still a long way from being a reasonable expected value, but is a significant improvement since the start of the project.



Figure 8: Which module do you like the least?

Figure 9 below shows the breakdown of the most liked modules over these three years.



Figure 9: Which module do you like the most?

Again a proportion of about 17% would be expected for each module if each was equally liked. The chart below shows that only 4% of students claimed Business Analysis as their favourite. By 2007-08, this proportion had risen to over 15%, a level much more in line with expectations.

These results indicate that Business Analysis has become much more liked among the mandatory first year modules. Of course it could be that other modules have become less liked which is elevating the relative popularity of Business Analysis.

The last year (2007-08) of this series of surveys also asked questions about the resource and the way it was used across the first year curriculum.



This aspect was included as focus groups had emphasised the importance of real companies. This comes across clearly in this breakdown.

Figure 10: Realism is important to me



A direct question on interest was asked and it is encouraging to see that a third of students agree that the use of the resource has increased their interest in the subject.

Figure 11: Use of resource increased my interest



A much more encouraging result here, where nearly half of the students agree that the use of the resource has convinced them of the importance of the skills they are learning.

Figure 12: Using the resource convinced me skills are important

These results show in general terms that the resource is well received by students and found to be useful in developing their skills. It is important to note that although a significant proportion agrees with these statements, a significant proportion are either neutral or disagree. This underlines the importance of recognising the differences in perception of such resources and the way they are received.

What does this have to do with learner autonomy?

The experience that we have described started out as a means to an end. We had a situation where disengaged students could not see the relevance of what they were studying and were being challenged to do things they were intellectually uncomfortable with. Learner autonomy was not such a key agenda item when our journey started as it is now. However, it became clear to us that what we were doing was strongly connected to the notion of developing learner autonomy in our students (Benson, P. & Voller, P., 1997).

Since those taking the module are first year students, they suffer from all of the problems of adjusting to university study: encountering a change in the approach to teaching and learning, having to manage their own time (spent both on study and on other activities). For many, the subject is familiar to them (although it may have been treated in a different way previously), but for others the subject matter will be new and unfamiliar. Previously many will have had a poor experience with numbers and may have chosen to study business because of this poor prior experiences with the "harder" maths based subjects. Nearly all of these students are embarking on a journey which starts with a period of transition from the familiar to the unfamiliar. This journey also involves the path to becoming an autonomous learner.

The pedagogic model underpinning this module includes notions of problem based learning (PBL) and assessment. As a pedagogic approach, PBL develops confidence and competence in facing a problem (a project) and achieving the required outcomes. The model relies on TIBER, a resource that presents information in a realistic and logically structured way. Appropriate use of the resource will encourage students to learn by discovery (action/activity based learning) within a semi-closed landscape.

The module's main aim is to facilitate students developing their information skills. The transfer of the responsibility for researching and processing the information to the student is phased through graded exercises. Navigation through the information landscape can start with highly "way-marked" exercises. In the first Business Analysis project, for example, students are given precise instructions as to what they should do and how to find the information they need to do it. The next stage in the transfer might be categorised as "map reading". So, for example, in the second Business Analysis project, students are given precise instructions on what analysis to do, but little guidance on how to find the information they need to do it. The full evaluation requires them to go outside of the replica environment and investigate real companies. The possibilities are then for "compass-bearing" activities in later stages of the programme. For example in the second year,

students will encounter much less well structured exercises in the follow on module to Business Analysis.

Further development

There are two areas in which the module could be developed further. Firstly, an expansion and refinement of the structure and content of the resource (the replica company) upon which the module relies as its underpinning context to the application of the Problem Based Learning approach.

Even though the externally funded project (TIBER) which supported the development of the resource has finished, data and information relating to the replica company continues to be updated on a regular basis. There is however potential for expanding the resource to incorporate relationships with companies supplying the retail company as well as improving the way in which the relationship between the company and the shopping centres is represented.

Secondly, here are opportunities for improving the realism of the projects which students undertake as part of their problem based learning in order to move up the spectrum of autonomy described above. In the students' second year follow on module, there is a development into "compass bearing" activities but, this could be improved.

There are also areas for further evaluation of the module and the approach. An evaluation at a later stage in the programme, for example in the placement year, would produce useful information on the longer term effect of the approach on the students' appreciation of business analysis methods and their confidence in applying them.

The Integrated Business Education Resource (TIBER) had a wider objective of integrating the first year business curriculum by providing a resource that can be used across the curriculum. So far the use of the resource in other modules has been limited. A further development would be the redesign of all modules in the first year to make greater use of the resource's potential through a PBL approach.

The division of the curriculum into subject based modules provides a challenge to curriculum integration. A more ambitious development would be the design and development of modules which cut across subject areas and provided students with problem based learning opportunities that develop their appreciation of business as a holistic enterprise.

References

Benson P and Voller P (1997), "Autonomy and Independence in Language Learning". London: Longman Burlingame SM, Lebsack SA, Luthans KW, Palmer DK (2002), " Dazed and Confused: Business Students and Quantitative Analysis", 45th Meeting of the Midwest Academy of Management, April, 2002

Dolmans DHJM, De Grave W, Wolfhagen IHAP & van der Vleuten CPM (2005), "Problembased learning: future challenges for educational practice and research", Medical Education, 39, 7, pp 732-741

Joyce J and Hassall T (2006), "Communication apprehension and maths anxiety as barriers to communication and numeracy skills development in accounting and business education", Education and Training, 48, 6, pp. 454-464

Pokorny M and Pokorny H (2005), "Widening participation in higher education: student quantitative skills and independent learning as impediments to progression", International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology, 36, 5, pp 445–467

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Developing Learner Autonomy in international and UK students at Sheffield Hallam University

GUDRUN MYERS (G.MYERS@SHU.AC.UK) CHRIS LYNE (C.M.LYNE@SHU.AC.UK) YULAN SONG (Y.SONG@SHU.AC.UK) SHEFFIELD BUSINESS SCHOOL SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Abstract

This project aimed to find peer-support mechanisms that would enable international and UK students to develop autonomous learning skills and capabilities during the transition to a different cultural environment. While the starting point was an initial concept and the implementation of the classical TANDEM model (peer partnerships of one UK to one Chinese student), which promotes the development of long-standing one-to-one relationships, the project revealed that there should ideally be a network of relationships involving previous and subsequent cohorts of students. Such a system leads to beneficial UK/Chinese, UK/UK and Chinese/Chinese partnerships with the development of an "autonomous tandem" system (Calvert, 1999: 57-58) with a drop-in approach and a more ad hoc pairing/grouping rather than an insistence on longer term (and perhaps more artificially imposed) partnerships. The emerging approach is one that provides opportunities for self-regulation, and allows students to determine their own agendas based on tutor-led events. It is anticipated that this will allow students to develop from 're-active' toward 'pro-active' autonomy (Littlewood, 1999: 75). In addition to this, language teaching staff and second year students undertaking work-based projects as part of their BA (Hons) English Studies will support the emerging UK/Chinese club that has resulted from this project.

Background

The experience of staff working with international students reveals that a proportion of these students do not engage effectively with the learning opportunities on their courses, showing weaker language skills, lower levels of participation in seminar activities and a lack of meaningful contact with UK students. The same is true of UK students going abroad to study or work (Tang *et al.*, 2008). Engagement with learners from other cultures does not happen automatically hence the aim of the project to find enabling peer-support mechanisms between UK and Chinese students so they could tackle cultural transition in a more holistic way.

The rationale for the project drew on existing research in the areas of autonomy, peersupported interactions, TANDEM learning, issues of cultural transition, academic and social integration, as well as the team's own experience of some of these aspects. Of particular interest in terms of autonomy were the concepts of 'relatedness' and 'pro-active' and 'reactive self-regulation'. Drawing on the work of R. M. Ryan, Littlewood (1999) discusses autonomy (or self-regulation) and its relationship to 'relatedness' and suggests that autonomy develops most effectively in an interpersonal environment where learners relate to each other, thus supporting each other in their learning process. He makes a further useful distinction between proactive and reactive autonomy whereby the former, based on the work of Holec (1981), is defined as the learner taking charge of their own learning, determining objectives, methods and so forth, whilst in the latter the learner accepts and pursues actively and through their own initiative a goal that has been set for them.

Green (2007) quotes a range of studies which, whilst not quantifying the relationship between peer-assisted learning and a reduction in attrition rates, point to the fact that students put significant emphasis 'on making new friends and initiating and sustaining a good social life.' (8) She also states that

The first year undergraduate who arrives on campus with the objective of assimilating specialised formal curricula is, temporarily, devoid of a wider informal framework of rules, values and general understanding in which to fit their official learning. (1)

This disjuncture will be even greater when crossing over to an entirely different culture. In this context, Gu (2009: 42-43) points out the phenomenon of "learning shock", which manifests itself as an experience of intensely unpleasant feelings and a deep psychological and emotional strain on learners who have to operate in a foreign learning environment.

TANDEM learning, with its supporting principles of reciprocity, responsibility and autonomy, has been in operation for a number of decades. Calvert (1999) defines it as:

A form of open learning whereby two people with different native languages work together in pairs in order:

- to learn more about one another's character and culture;
- to help one another improve their language skills, and often also
- to exchange additional knowledge for example, about their professional life. (56)

Given the wealth of experience that already exists in the area of TANDEM and peersupported learning the project team decided a facilitative approach in running the programme. This said, the course was also given structure through a number of staffinitiated events with suggestions of activities that the students could follow up together on their own, although they were also given the option to choose ones that suited them better. Each individual event was designed to offer opportunities for experiential learning, reflection on the activities that were undertaken, as well as subject specific learning and skills development.

Participating students

Students from three undergraduate areas were invited to take part in the project, namely from:

- the Graduate Diploma (Grad Dip) in Business and English, a pre-masters course (January 2009 intake: 35 Chinese students)
- the BA (Hons) International Business Studies with Chinese (BAIBL) (years 1 and 2: 8 students),
- Chinese 1 and 2 on the University Language Scheme (ULS) (26 students).

The Chinese students on the pre-masters course undertake a range of modules which include English, two modules in Business Skills and a number of other business modules. The overall aim of the course is to prepare students, who already have an undergraduate degree from their home country, to go on to a Masters level course either at SHU or elsewhere in the UK.

The students on the BA (Hons) International Business Studies with Chinese are typically home or EU students, and study a range of business modules as well *ab initio* Chinese language modules. They are required to spend their third year studying Chinese at the Beijing University of Chemical Technology (BUCT).

The students studying Chinese on the University Language Scheme come from a range of SHU courses and undertake Chinese as an option module. They are not required to go to China as part of their studies at SHU and often view the language module as enriching their main discipline.

Rationale

The purpose of the project was to identify effective peer-support mechanisms to enable international and UK students to develop further their levels of autonomy by working in tandem. This overarching goal was broken down into the following steps, namely:

- the identification of student and tutor views about the type of peer-supported arrangement they considered beneficial;
- the design of a set of peer-supported interactions;
- the evaluation of the student and tutor experience after the engagement in the process and the identification of successful elements, as well as the resulting resource implications;
- an exploration of embedding some/all of the student interactions within the assessment of their existing modules; and
- an assessment of the viability of a credit-bearing module accessible to UK and international students for roll-out to the university.

The expected benefits and outcomes for the participating students were:

- the acquisition of intercultural knowledge, understanding and skills, leading to a greater willingness to make contact with people from other cultures;
- the experience of "social" learning, including the development of greater interaction, negotiation, collaboration, and so forth; and
- the development of the students' ability to make decisions regarding their own learning, which in turn should enable them to engage more pro-actively with learning opportunities on their courses.

The approach

Based on the existing literature and the project team's own experience relating to the International Student Tandem learning at Sheffield Hallam University, it was decided that there would be an initial review of student and staff views an a pilot event with the purpose of establishing general goals and activities for the main events. The events were held at the university and were staff-led. However, the activities were informed by the learners, who were encouraged to develop the relationship with their partner further according to their own individual agendas. The team's expectations were that students would pass from reactive to proactive autonomy, increasingly taking charge of their own goals and sustaining mutually beneficial relationships.

The initial student questionnaire, distributed in October 2008 to all relevant student groups yielded 23 UK and 11 Chinese responses. The themes that emerged as of interest for mutual support centred on language, culture, surviving and enjoying daily life, making friends, study methods and working in China (cf. Appendix 1a for English and Chinese language versions of the questionnaire and a more detailed description of the results). Table 1 shows the distribution of themes highlighted by each student group. "Making friends" and "Study methods" appears more prevalent for Chinese students, whilst "Working in China" seems more important for some UK students. Language, culture and surviving daily life were considered as the most significant areas of interest by all groups.

Group	1.Language	2. Culture	3. Surviving daily life	4. Making friends	5. Study method	6. Working in China
ULS 1						
ULS 2	\checkmark					
BAIBL Level 4	\checkmark					
BAIBL Level 5	\checkmark					
Grad Dip						

TABLE 1: Distribution of themes

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

The questionnaire distributed to relevant teaching staff (cf. Appendix 1b) yielded four out of a possible eight responses. The themes that emerged echoed student views on issues of importance, with the exception of the explicit mention of the concept of autonomy by the tutors. The issues that staff considered of significant nature, and which the Tandem programme should address, were:

- *Language*: poor English-language skills, lack of oral confidence, not developing language skills out of class, concerns with entry language level being set too low at 4.5 IELTS (low intermediate) when the materials, lectures and assignments required a language skills level that equals to IELTS 6.0 7.0 (upper intermediate to advanced level);
- *Lack of understanding* of UK teaching methods, academic conventions, assessment culture (e.g. group work) among international students;
- Lack of engagement with UK lifestyle, socialising with English students; and
- Lack of learner autonomy.

A pilot event held in November 2008 was used to test a mixture of guided activities and other ways of students making contact and keeping in touch with each other. At the event, the UK/Chinese peer-supported TANDEM scheme was introduced and the earlier questionnaire results were shared, after which the students took part in a 'speed-dating' icebreaker activity in order to get to know each other. Students then took part in paired/small group TANDEM activities, which gave them the opportunity to discuss their respective university environments ("What's your system like?"), life in Britain and China ("Living in Britain/living in China"), talk about their experience with university exams ("University Examinations") and compare notes about their tutors ("Them and Us") (see Appendix 2 for copies of the worksheets). For this exercise the students were paired by the project team and asked to give verbal feedback, on record, regarding the suitability of the topics and accompanying worksheets. Before everybody shared a buffet of English and Chinese food, the students were invited to continue meeting with their new contacts and take part in a competition, which involved designing a bilingual guide to the SHU campus and Sheffield City Centre. Students were expected to work in mixed UK/Chinese teams.

The 15 students who attended the pilot event fed back that they enjoyed all aspects of the event. Chinese students commented that this was a very good opportunity for them and in a number of recorded messages students expressed the wish for this type of event not to be a one-off but something that would continue. The reaction to the event can be seen in the following student quotes:

"It was helpful to compare both countries. I now have a better understanding of living in China. I was getting real answers." (UK student)

"I want to know more about Philip. I hope we can keep in touch and then we can ask each other more and help each other." (Chinese student) "The questions were a good starting point, but we often went off at a tangent. We found we had lots in common." (UK student)

"I got a lot of information about Britain. I like her! I want to communicate further." (Chinese student)

The learning points for the project team included the following:

- Authentic interaction between Chinese and UK students provides a different perspective from books or tutors, i.e. answers are considered "real".
- There is interest in continued contact with peers and an appreciation of the help they can give each other.
- The activities were good as a stimulus to get started but students also found their own questions; the only activity that was not particularly liked by the Chinese students was "Them and Us", which invited the participants to compare notes on their teachers (possible fear of criticism getting back to the tutors);
- The pre-event task that had been set had been completed by two students only and no entries were received for the competition and none of the students had met up after the event. This was probably due to the Graduate Diploma students finishing their course by Christmas and then departing from Sheffield;
- The buffet of food was very much appreciated, especially by the Chinese students, and the two-hour format worked reasonably well;
- There was a need to be flexible in terms of pairing/grouping students as UK and Chinese student numbers were not equal.

The First Event

Following the positive feedback, the project team then organised three semester 2 events. The first of the semester 2 events was attended by 18 students. Students were asked to sign learning contracts with each other, in which they agreed on set dates for further meetings. Students were then asked to present the individual programmes to the rest of the group (done by Chinese students in English with tutoring from UK students). The event also included an opportunity for the UK students to practise their Chinese language skills (see the booklet in Appendix 3). The programme for the event consequently included:

- 1. Welcome
- 2. Explanation of the peer-supported Chinese/UK TANDEM programme
- 3. Working out of individual programmes
- 4. Peanut challenge (game)
- 5. Chinese language practice
- 6. Food

The feedback from the event was overwhelmingly positive. Here are some of the student responses:

Overall enjoyment:

"I enjoyed everything." "That is a wonderful change for us." "It's a good opportunity."

Meeting others and engaging in activities together:

"Today I have enjoyed meeting Chinese students and the activities we did." "Today I have enjoyed meeting new people and practising my Chinese." "Today I have enjoyed the new friends and practise English well." "I have enjoyed the challenges and meeting new people."

Peanut challenge:

"I have enjoyed the peanut challenge!" (6 responses)

Reflecting on the feedback, the project team recognised:

- The need to balance out the time spent on English and Chinese to allow equal attention;
- The importance of playing games for group dynamics and pure enjoyment; and
- The importance of allowing both student groups to have the perceived locus of control (i.e. for students to be able to take on the tutor role in an area where they are the "experts", i.e. Chinese students vis-à-vis teaching the UK students Chinese, UK students helping Chinese students to prepare their presentation).

The Subsequent Events

The second event, which was attended by 15 students and took place in March 2009, followed the same pattern as the first event. It included Chinese language practice, the playing of Pictionary, and a session on cultural differences. Food was shared at the end of the meeting. The learning points previously mentioned were confirmed. We asked students for feedback on the activities we had been using, by telling us what they would like us to stop, start and continue to do. The responses indicated that they were happy with all the existing activities and did not want us to stop any of them. Suggestions for further activities included watching Chinese and English movies, practising writing Chinese characters and cooking English food.

This feedback broadly supported the team's approach to the structure and dynamics of the way events were organised. Games, language/communication and food continued to be rated highly by the students, reflecting the social nature of this kind of learning practice.

The third event in April 2009 concentrated on the topic of food and involved activities both in Chinese and English describing typical foods (English and Chinese), ordering food in a Chinese restaurant (Chinese) and playing a memory game based on food cards. The evening was concluded by going to a Chinese noodle bar to have authentic Chinese food.

Evaluation and discussion

The evaluation included three questionnaires, two to participating students, and one to those who had chosen not to take part. In addition there were two focus group discussions with the Graduate Diploma students (see Appendix 5 for focus group format and questionnaires). Following this there was a project team meeting at which the results were shared, discussed and future developments agreed.

Before looking at the results it will be useful to have a closer look at the attendance at the events. Table 3 shows that all the BAIBL students attended at least one event compared with about 34% of the Chinese students. The lowest attendance rate was by the ULS students. It is also worth noting that four students attended all events, nine students attended two and nine attended one. This means there was a floating membership. Attendance dropped off for the last event due to the fact that students on the Graduate Diploma had just finished a major piece of work on their course and the Easter break was in sight. Timing and participation in the scheme will be discussed below as part of the overall reflection on the feedback we received.

Course	Potential number	Actual number				
BAIBL Level 4 and 5	8	8				
Graduate Diploma	35	12				
ULS 1 Chinese	12	1				
ULS 2 Chinese	14	1				

TABLE 2:	Pool of	fstudents	and	attendance
	1 001 0	students	unu	uttenuunte

Two focus groups were conducted with the Graduate Diploma students. The UK students did not participate in this activity. As outlined in Appendix 5 the students worked in groups of 4 - 6 and prioritised nine tips or pieces of advice for fellow Chinese students who were planning to come to Sheffield to study. As the focus groups were held during a normal seminar, there was also a group of African students (from Libya, Nigeria and the Sudan) who were included. After agreeing on their priorities students presented their tips to the rest of the class. See Appendix 6 for the detailed tips given by the different groups. The discussion here will concentrate on the Chinese students but it is worth mentioning that the three African students showed quite a different orientation, listing what they thought were the best skills and aptitudes to adopt once at university.
The Chinese students' discussions revolved around a number of themes, namely:

- preparing for the sojourn in Britain (look at relevant websites, practise your British English);
- secure your accommodation, sort out money/bank and police matters;
- bring your own medicines, spare glasses (NHS system very different to China);
- be safe don't put yourself in dangerous situations;
- learn to cook/bring rice cooker;
- make contact with friends from own country and new friends with UK/international students;
- get to know the local culture and join activities.

Reflecting on the students' views it becomes obvious that their concerns are very much about living independently and safely, relying on things (e.g. medicine, rice cookers) and people (e.g. other Chinese students) they understand but also looking for contact with UK/international students and the local culture. They appear to inhabit a world with roots in their homeland and tentative shoots reaching out to new contacts and environments. An issue that was surprising to the tutors was the preoccupation with personal safety, especially as far as girls were concerned, and the advice of not going out after 10 pm. In response to questions about contacts with students from the same country of origin, first year UK students mentioned that it was useful for them to meet up with the second years on their course as part of the Tandem events.

Questionnaire 1 was completed by UK and Chinese students. The Chinese students had the option of completing the questionnaire in Chinese. The following provides a summary of the detailed Chinese and UK responses that were received and are contrasted in Appendix 7.

Communication emerged as the most useful aspect of the TANDEM programme. Students found it beneficial to meet and practise English or Chinese with native speakers and to learn more about each others' culture and lives. Talking with each other, the activities, sharing experiences, their partner and meeting up outside of university helped them to improve their understanding of UK/Chinese culture.

In terms of improving their understanding of the UK/Chinese Higher Education system, the UK students identified the tasks and asking questions of their Chinese partners as the most helpful. The Chinese responses concentrated on the use of making local friends and having a partner whilst two of them cited the "process/activities of the events" as the most helpful aspect.

Students supporting each other is a key element of the TANDEM programme and for the UK students this involved two main areas, the first one being the realisation that they could communicate in Chinese and were able to use their skills in a real context. Secondly, they appear to have gained an insight into how to support an international student, e.g. socially:

"I think them just having an English friend made them feel more comfortable." "Took them around to a few pubs that they had never been to before."

or in terms of university work:

"I helped her with a presentation. She was very grateful. She corrects my Chinese when I pronounce it wrong."

The Chinese students mention the encouragement given to each other with language work. One response relates to becoming more confident:

"While listening to the person speaking I keep eye contact to build up confidence."

The UK students felt that communicating in Chinese was a challenge, especially as they were at a basic level. One student reported a timing issue as the event clashed with his football activities.

The Chinese students cited speaking English as challenging but one Chinese student felt that "The whole event is very relaxed and a happy environment." The playing of games emerged as the most enjoyable part of the TANDEM programme for both student groups. One Chinese student said that "through the game we know each other," whilst a UK student thought that games were enjoyable "because they were fun and people behaved naturally and didn't concentrate on speaking the target language." Other aspects mentioned were meeting new people and helping each other.

Given the opportunity to do the programme again students expressed a wish to have more events, in the university and outside, creating more talking (and writing) opportunities, and playing more games. As far as the tutors' role in helping to build confidence was concerned there were quite different responses. The Chinese students emphasised encouragement, praise and positive feedback from tutors to build confidence, whilst the UK students were looking for help with finding a placement, more information about the business world in China and more homework. Apart from one Chinese student who had gone shopping with their partner and had cooked together and one who had plans to go travelling, none of the other respondents had met outside the events. In contrast four of the UK students had met with their partners. They had helped each other with university work, gone ice-skating and shopping to Meadowhall and gone to the pub or for lunch.

With regards to the responses, two aspects were particularly surprising to the team. The first one was the number of times games were mentioned by the Chinese students (cf. responses to questions 1, 2, 5, 6 and 7) and the second relates to tutor support, where the Chinese students were almost unanimous in their request for positive feedback and reassurance from the tutor. However, this did not feature at all in the UK students' responses. Furthermore, from the answers it was not clear whether the Chinese students were referring to their tutors in the UK or China.

The UK and Chinese student responses to Questionnaire 2 are collated in Appendix 8. When contrasting the UK and Chinese responses it becomes evident that the Chinese students evaluated all sections more positively, never awarding less than a 3, i.e. an adequate rating, even if this led to some contradicting statements, as with statements 8 (I would have liked more freedom during this tandem programme) and 9 (I would have liked more direction during this tandem programme). 84% of the Chinese respondents agree with statement 8 whilst 100% also agree with statement 9. Taking the results at face value it appears that the UK/Chinese relationships were not working entirely smoothly and with the same positive results for each party. Some of the bigger discrepancies relate to the following statements:

• "I felt it was easy to set up meetings with my tandem partner."

100% of the Chinese students agreed with this in contrast to the UK students where only 22% felt this way.

• "I would have liked more direction during the tandem programme."

The responses from the two groups are at opposite ends of the scale, with UK students disagreeing, whilst all Chinese students agree.

• "I feel better able to communicate with others in the foreign language."

UK students agree less with this statement than their Chinese counterparts.

One explanation for the more positive feedback from the Chinese students may well be due again to an aversion to criticise formally and publicly.

Questionnaire 3 was addressed to Chinese students who had not attended the TANDEM programme. The questionnaire and the collated student responses can be seen in Appendix 9. Ten students responded. Eight out of ten said that they had considered going to the tandem events because it would be a way of making friends, improving their English and understanding British culture. One student was not sure and one said that they were not interested.

The reasons why they didn't attend fell into the following categories (number of responses in brackets):

- Not enough time because of work pressure on course/busy (3)
- I live far from the university (2)
- I didn't think I would enjoy the event (2)
- I felt shy (1)
- Timing of the event (1)
- Lack of fluency (1)

After the students had responded to questions 1 and 2 they were shown what activities had been undertaken at events and asked whether, knowing more about the programme, they felt they would now attend. Here are their responses (frequencies in brackets):

- If time allows, yes (3)
- Maybe (2)
- Yes (4)
- No, I won't go. I don't like games. (1)

One of the students felt they would attend because "this activity is very meaningful and it definitely build a friendship bridge between Chinese students and English students."

Project Findings and Recommendations

Following the summative evaluation there was a project team meeting to discuss the outcomes and the future development of the peer-supported tandem scheme. The overall consensus was that the voluntary nature of the attendance had been both a strength as well as a weakness of the programme. The students that engaged were the more pro-active and motivated ones, thus contributing to the success of the events. As can be seen from the non-attendees' responses, feeling shy is one of the reasons for not joining in as are the perceived nature of the event, the timing, and also distance to student accommodation, the latter two probably linking in with fears about the safety of going home after the event (cf. the outcomes of the focus group discussions). Whilst there are certain aspects that could be altered relatively easily to make taking part in the programme more attractive, e.g. related to the timing of the event or asking students to travel together to allay safety fears, basic attitudes are more difficult to influence. One technique the team are considering is to ask students who are already participating, to advertise subsequent events as their voices tend to hold more sway within their peer groups than do those of tutors.

Although difficult to quantify the impact on the student learning experience appears to have been positive for those that attended. A number of student responses referred to the fact that they were learning from each other while supporting each other. The majority also felt that they had learnt more about each others' culture. However, the UK students appeared to be more critical about the benefit they derived in terms of being prepared for China and there were measurable discrepancies in how they viewed their partnerships, for example with reference to the ease of setting up meetings, or the degree of direction given by the tutor. Moreover, some students had continued to meet outside the tutor-led events, whilst others had not. The team feel that this is an area that needs to be looked at closely and developed as part of the tutor-led events. We will be seeking the students' own views about how to encourage continual contact between events.

From a professional perspective in facilitating this programme, the discussions which took place between UK and Chinese tutors were extremely useful as they helped to appreciate some of the fundamental differences in the way things are perceived depending on the cultural background and a great deal of intercultural learning took place within the project

team. Anybody designing and embarking on similar projects will need to factor in time to take account of the need for clarifying meanings within the team. We found that saying the same words did not always equate with having the same meaning and where we expected to find different viewpoints we were at times surprised about the similarity in approaches.

Further developments

The team have agreed on the following principles for next year's UK/Chinese TANDEM scheme:

- Establishment of a UK/Chinese club, which allows UK/Chinese, Chinese/Chinese and UK/UK student interactions, following the format of an 'autonomous' tandem model that allows more ad hoc pairing but encourages longer-term relationships;
- Inclusion of the exchange students from BUCT, Beijing, China, who will be studying at SHU during 2009/10, and thus providing a direct link for the students on the International Business and Chinese course;
- Organisation of tutor-led events that aim to facilitate initial student contact and provide models for useful personal/academic interactions taking into account the students' own agendas (developing pro-active autonomy through re-active engagement;
- Embedding of TANDEM activities in student learning support and assessment, e.g. UK students will need to work with Chinese students to complete their assessed portfolio work for their Chinese modules;
- Involvement of the Chinese language assistant, Chinese and UK staff as well as from students from the Faculty of Development and Society, who will use this activity as the basis of work-based learning projects;
- Feedback to languages colleagues who are in the process of devising a more general accredited module on intercultural learning involving a range of nationalities.

References

Calvert, M., 1999. 'Tandem: a vehicle for language and intercultural learning. Language Learning Journal, 19 (1), pp.56-60.

Green, A., 2007. Peer Assisted Learning: empowering first year engagement with a formal curriculum through the educative. [Online] at http://pal.bournemouth.ac.uk/documents/Alison's%20PAL%20research.pdf

Gu, Q., 2009. 'Maturity and Interculturality: Chinese students' experiences in UK higher education'. European Journal of Education, 44 (1), pp.37-52.

Holec, H., 1981. 'Autonomy and Foreign Language Learning. Oxford: Pergamon.

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

Littlewood, W., 1999. 'Defining and Developing Autonomy in East Asian Contexts.' Applied Linguistics, 20 (1), pp.71-94.

Tang, N., Nollent, A., Garner, I. and Wolstenholme, C., 2008. 'UK student international mobility at Sheffield Hallam University', project submitted to the Faculty of Development and Society, Sheffield Hallam University.

Student Audio Notes Project: lessons learnt from students about their autonomous use of MP3 recorders to enhance their learning

ANNE NORTCLIFFE (FACULTY OF ARTS, COMPUTING, ENGINEERING AND SCIENCES) (A.NORTCLIFFE@SHU.AC.UK)

ANDREW MIDDLETON (LEARNING AND TEACHING INSTITUTE) (A.J.MIDDLETON@SHU.AC.UK)

Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

Ongoing and successful development work around the design and delivery of audio feedback and audio lecture note-making at Sheffield Hallam University, together with an awareness of how digital audio might be used to empower disabled students, led to the proposal for the Student Audio Notes project. The idea of digital audio-enhanced learner autonomy had emerged from earlier work by the authors which had suggested that feedback could be more meaningful if the learner takes responsibility for gathering it and feeding it forward into their studies and indeed, later, into their employment. This learner responsibility provided an important focus for The Student Audio Notes Project (SANP): a year-long investigation into how students might use MP3 recording devices to enrich their own experiences of learning. SANP gave out MP3 recorders to participating students and aimed to encourage and challenge these students to explore how the devices could be used so that good practice might emerge and be shared. It was hoped that they would identify and record any encounters involving verbalised communication that they felt helpful in deepening and reflecting upon their learning. In this way the act of audio recording would ideally become an essential, ever-present, autonomous learning habit for them.

A strand of this investigation sought to find out, in particular, whether the recording of digital audio by disabled students could bring benefits to disabled learners. As the study by Healey et al. (2006) showed, 51% of disabled students (n=276) responded well to tutor support aimed at improving the standard of their academic work, as opposed to the 43% of non-disabled students (n=272). It was expected, therefore, that student's use of audio note-making would result in similar beneficial impacts. When note-making systems are used effectively, as previous research by Intons-Peterson and Fournier (1986) has also shown, note-making can increase memory encoding in the learner and so enhance their ability to recall the information later. Therefore, it was hoped that SANP would show how audio note-making could be effective in empowering students with disabilities.

Findings from SANP demonstrate that all participating students discovered benefits from using recording devices and that they found it useful to capture a range of formal, semiformal and informal situations. These findings raise questions for further research and support and some recommendations are made to ensure such activity is properly undertaken and supported.

Introduction

The recording of face-to-face student-tutor feedback conversations by the tutor and their subsequent distribution back to the student has been shown to be an effective and attractive method of encouraging greater formative engagement with learning (Nortcliffe and Middleton, 2007). Audio, in this approach, provides the opportunity to capture an otherwise ephemeral experience and increases the extent to which students are able to feed forward conversational outcomes into their learning without seeking further clarification and confirmation from the academic.

However, this model is difficult to operate amongst large cohorts and can significantly add to the academic workload due to the generation and distribution of the audio recordings, and can be constrained by the academic's view of what a feedback learning resource should be for their students (Nortcliffe and Middleton, 2008). Further research into the strategic and selective audio recording of lectures and other learning events has been shown to be beneficial for disabled students (Nortcliffe and Middleton, 2006). If recordings are not made available quickly the formative affect of learning conversations decreases with the passing of time, with the conversation becoming a vague memory (Waterfield et al., 2006). However, this is true for all students, whether they are disabled or not.

One of the aims of Higher Education is to help students to become autonomous learners (Race, 2001). However, learner autonomy is contentious in some quarters where there are concerns that it may engender inequality for disabled students (Goodley, 2007). For example, dyslexic students are dependent upon their tutors and third parties to review their material more than once (Madriaga, 2007). Under the Special Educational Needs and Disability Act 2001 every educational establishment is required to make reasonable adjustment in providing equivalent access to the curriculum. Some stakeholders may interpret reasonable adjustment as being an "academic crutch" for disabled students, even to the extent that it actually hinders the development of additional student skills that enable them to cope with their disability. As Riddick (2003) observed, students who didn't declare their learning disability were able to develop effective coping strategies. Higher Education needs to enable students to develop a range of transferable skills for self-support and so give them the ability to work with minimum supervision (Race, 2001).

However, when audio notes are produced by the academic, learner control is removed and the potential meaning and effect on learning is likely to be diffused too. Recordings made and distributed by academics in the form of audio lecture notes and formative conversations have been shown to increase learner autonomy (Fidler et al., 2006). In this study, student memory was refreshed when the recordings were played back, re-engaging them cognitively. It would seem logical, therefore, to give students the responsibility of making their own audio 'notes', including the responsibility to gather audio feedback. Such a shift may offer a more learner-centred and autonomous approach to the selection, generation and management of audio learning resources, thereby instilling greater meaning and a sense of ownership over the learning process.

Methodology

Student volunteers were sought from across Sheffield Hallam University. Each student was supplied with a simple-to-use MP3 recording device with a built in microphone and 4GB memory, costing approximately £30. A total of 52 students signed up for the Student Audio Notes Project. Students were encouraged to take more responsibility for their learning by generating their own personalised learning recordings; to do this, they were invited to record interventions that they felt would be useful, whether those interventions were formal, semi-formal or informal encounters.

Student volunteers came forward from Sheffield Hallam University degree programmes as diverse as Psychology, Fine Art and Computing. A day was set aside so that they could drop in to collect their audio recorder and to receive guidance on how to use it. They also discussed how and where they might use it, being encouraged to record any verbalised learning opportunity involving interactions with peers, tutors, and placement supervisors, as well as making personal notes.

During the brief induction meeting the students were also briefed on recording etiquette. Specifically, students were advised to ask permission of those who they wished to record and to explain to them why they thought making the recording would be useful. They were advised to reassure respondents and participants that the audio recordings would only be used to assist their learning and would not be shared beyond the University. However, students were encouraged to share their recordings with their peers in order to develop further learning opportunities through peer conversation; previous research had indicated that the sharing of audio recordings amongst peers was valuable (Middleton and Nortcliffe, 2009). The students were also advised to respect the wishes of staff and their fellow students if they were not happy to be recorded. Each student was required to sign a project protocol agreement that defined their role in the project and the appropriate use of the audio device during their studies.

The students were further supported throughout the project via email and the Virtual Learning Environment (VLE), where an online project organization site was set up that included podcasts and discussion boards. These were intended to enable all project staff and student members to support one another.

Evaluation

A mix of quantitative and qualitative research methods were employed to capture the students' varied experiences. Some students were interviewed about their expectations of the project at induction; online surveys were conducted after the first semester of the project and again at the end of the project. Also, many students took part in mid-project review focus group discussions and end of project focus groups. Results from all activities were fed back to all participants through the VLE site at the earliest opportunity so that knowledge could be shared to further impact the project.

Initial Student Perceptions

A sample interview of student volunteers indicated that their initial rationale was varied as to why they were personally attracted to take part in the Student Audio Notes project. However, initial perceptions of the project were that it would increase their learning:

Student A: "Supervised final year project, recording the chats with my supervisors."

Student B: "In group work I sometimes forget other people's ideas. It would be good to go back and remember them."

Student C: "I have seen other students actually recording lectures and thought that looked like a really good idea ...to have it all and to be able to go back to whenever you want to and also for feedback from the lecturer. Sometimes it is hard to take it all in and remember it all."

Student D: "I have found I learn by listening more than anything else. Also light bulb moments, I always forget things I think of, so if I can record it I will remember it better."

Student E: "I have been asked to interview industrial professionals towards my research project, so obviously having a recording device for interview purposes is ideal."

Student F: "I have had a Dictaphone before. Never been sure how to use it or how to make the most it though I meant to learn new techniques for how to use it ...better notes for my lectures."

Student G: "I used to record my lectures last year ...students in my group benefited from it by borrowing them from me and re-listening to what I recorded. [The Student Audio Notes project] gives me the opportunity to feedback on how I use the device and at the same time discuss my own ideas [for using the device]. I thought it would open my mind more."

Student H: "I thought it would be very interesting to see how taking audio notes would help people learn."

Initial Survey

As reported by Nortcliffe *et al* (2009), 31 out of 50 students enrolled on the Blackboard project support site and completed the initial online questionnaire three months after the project's launch. The results (see Table 1) indicate that the majority of the students intended to use the device for one purpose, i.e. recording of lectures.

Student Response (31 out 50 using MP3 devices to capture learning conversations)	Students Usage of MP3 creative devices	
68%	Lecture	
52%	Personal audio notes	
42%	Peer conversations	
35%	Tutor feedback	
6%	Work placement	
3%	Interviewing	

Table 1: Initial Survey Results

As commented by Nortcliffe *et al.* (2009), half the students reported using the recorder to make personal audio notes, despite this approach not featuring in the students' own initial perceptions of the project. Typically personal audio notes involve the use of the device as an external memory aid to capture personal actions and thoughts, ideas for assessment, and observations to support their reflections on learning.

The survey results, as reported by Nortcliffe *et al.* (2009), further indicate that over half the students followed up listening back to the recordings typically within a few days of making the audio interventions. Respondents believed that listening back enabled them to cognitively reconnect with the material. Concurring with the findings of Rossiter *et al.* (2009), the majority of the students agreed or strongly agreed that they found the recordings useful and that they had helped to improve their learning:

"Mainly recording lectures and assignment workshops. I have found this device extremely useful as it is much better than recording notes by hand only, and eradicates the problems I have with bad handwriting."

Importantly, over half the students agreed that the Student Audio Notes project had helped them to become more autonomous as learners. This is demonstrated by the following student's free comments in the survey,

"...listen to them routinely... dig them out whenever I need to refresh my memory, or need to recall something for the assignments."

"They definitely come in handy when studying for exams. I was listening to one or two lectures a night, every night for about three weeks before my exams."

"[I listen] when I need to look something up that I have made a recording that is related to the topic."

"[I listen] of an evening or at night when I am preparing for lectures and seminars and going over notes."

Mid-project focus group

The first focus groups took the form of semi-structured conversations, an approach that is outlined in Cohen *et al.* (2000). This involved interviews with nine students from the project, who talked about their experience in pairs or individually. The interviews indicated that the students were deploying the devices in a variety of ways and had a variety of methods for managing and using the audio recordings. In particular, the focus groups revealed that the initial student ideas for how the devices could be used had changed and multiplied. There were more creative and constructive uses beyond the initial idea of simply recording lectures; however, this approach is still the most common application. A number of students indicated they were now recording feedback and personal notes:

"I have used it lot more last semester than this semester, because it was useful for my essays when we had lectures on essays ...it was useful then ...but this semester I used it twice ...I sort of forgot about it for first two to three weeks ...I used it with a lecturer after the lecture, on one to one."

"I used it in numerous different ways, in the first semester ...I recorded lectures ...bits I needed to record that I thought I would not understand ...then I used it to listen to oppose to my music ...to try revise a subject."

"I am using my phone recorder and it is much better ...I make recordings once to twice a week. [I record] lectures ...group meetings, maybe supervisor for project."

"It meets the needs [for] why I got it in the first place... I record things as opposed to them falling straight back out of my head."

"Mainly in lectures, I haven't used it for other things... I do realise it has potential to be used for other stuff."

"[I use it for] group meetings and discussions, random thoughts I record quite a lot."

Second survey

16 students completed the second survey at the end of the academic year out of 50 students enrolled on the Student Audio Notes Project Blackboard site. The highlights of the survey (see Table 2) illustrate that the majority believed that using the audio device in their studies has been beneficial to their learning and that they would recommend its use to other students as a way to enhance their learning. However, the students' response to whether it helped them become more independent in their learning was mixed, and the rationale of those who felt that it had helped them to become more autonomous as learners was that:

"I can refer back to the recording for information rather than asking others."

"If there was something I'd missed out when writing lecture notes, I'd normally have to go to friends to get that information from them (and vice versa), though with the audio device I've been able to seek out that information for myself through listening to the audio from those lectures."

"It opened my eyes a little to taking control of my learning rather than just turning up to a lecture because I'm supposed to."

"I wouldn't say it has made me more independent as I already try to do that, but I do think it helped distinguish important points, such as artists' names, dates etc that I could add to my journals."

Survey Questions	Student Response (16 out 50 using MP3	
Has the audio been helpful to you and your	56% Agree or Strongly Agree	
Have the audio recordings helped you to	56% Agree or Strongly Agree	
Have the audio recordings helped you to	37.5% Neither Agree or Disagree	
Has audio recording helped you to gain a	44% Agree or Strongly Agree	
Have you remembered to use the device	44% Agree or Strongly Agree	
Has it become a habit to regularly use the	37.5% Agree or Strongly Agree	
Has audio recording helped you to reflect on	37.5% Agree or Strongly Agree	
As a result of being involved in this project,	75% Agree or Strongly Agree	

Table 2: Highlights of the Second Survey

The response to questions concerning the device's impact on deepening their learning was mixed. However, the majority agreed or strongly agreed that the use of the device had helped in this way. This is explained as follows:

"The notes I took highlighted things I had never realised before."

"As well as helping me to clear up some areas I was previously unsure about, it's also helped to reinforce those parts after listening to them multiple times."

"I analyse my studies from a more professional view point. Whether this was brought on by the audio recordings or just my progression of learning and maturity I cannot be sure."

"It has enabled me to retain information in a different format than the traditional pen and paper which was useful, and is easily accessible so one could listen to recordings whilst going for a run in the morning and give my brain and subconscious mind to work on things whilst doing something else - hence saving time!"

The final survey indicates that use of MP3 devices had a wide impact on their learning (Table 3), feedback being the commonest approach identified. Feedback is critical to student learning and in supporting their ongoing progress (Gibbs and Simpson, 2004), and therefore any method that encourages student engagement with the feedback cycle is positive.

Student Response (16 out 50 on how using MP3 devices has changed their approach to their studies and learning)	Changes to students' studies and learning as result of using of MP3 creative devices.
37.50%	Studies
25.00%	Assessment
25.00%	Learning
25.00%	Understanding
25.00%	Interviewing

Table 3: Impact on students studies

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

31.25%	attention in class (lecture/tutorial/workshop/laboratory/etc)
18.75%	project supervision
31.25%	working with others
25.00%	Ideas
25.00%	Skills
50.00%	Feedback
37.50%	Presentation
12.50%	learning with others
6.25%	Abilities
6.25%	Confidence
18.75%	Performance
12.50%	Communication
6.25%	Placement
6.25%	placement/employment preparation

Final Focus Group

A focus group approach was again used, and involved three students from the project. The discussion between students revealed that they had discovered even more practical

applications for the device in order to support their learning and its potential for further personal development in the working practice:

"I've used it for seminars, group work and lectures as well. And I used it on my placement as a kind of diary record... It's useful with your supervisor because your supervisor will tell you stuff and you're not having to write stuff down all the time. You've actually got a record of it without having to [interrupt the conversation]."

It was also observed that audio recordings can have different effects on the learner as they re-access them over time:

"I use it for little groups when we're doing group work seminars, meetings with my supervisor. I find it really useful for revising. I record my [written] notes and then listen back to it again and again and again."

"I've gone back and listened to things and it's made more sense because I understand things better. Maybe as I've got a bit more experience."

This suggests that audio devices not only support their immediate learning needs, but have the potential to continue to make an impact in supporting the individual's professional development where audio notes can be used as a tool for reflective practice and for logging Continuous Practice Development (CPD) activities:

"It was useful for reflective practice because you can record stuff and then go back ...later in the day and see what happened. And that's what you need to do for your CPD."

Practical applications in learning could be useful in professional life too, for example:

"[I'm working with] patients. It's useful with your supervisor because your supervisor will tell you stuff and you're not having to write stuff down all the time. You've actually got a record of it without having to [interrupt the conversation]."

"It was useful for reflective practice because you can record stuff and then go back and go back later in the day and see what happened. And that's what you need to do for your CPD."

Conclusions and project reflection

A central question for this project was concerned with the extent to which our students were ready to exploit the devices they own in making audio notes, in their many forms, so that they can effectively learn from them. The evidence generated during the project indicates that students increasingly own devices that are capable of making recordings of lectures, conversations and personal reflections, and that the ubiquity of this technology is Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

likely to develop, especially through mobile phone ownership. Such audio devices can provide continued access to valuable formal, semi-formal and informal learning opportunities, and the challenge now is to disseminate the positive experiences of the student partners in this project to all students who could benefit from engaging with these technologies. It is also important to ensure that academic staff, systems administrators, and managers appreciate the value of this technology-enhanced method of autonomous learning so that systems, policies and protocols do not conflict with the practice of audio recording.

It was remarkable, and this should be stressed, that all students discovered greater benefits for themselves from using the audio devices. It can also be suggested that recording lectures might be only the tip of the iceberg in relation to how they might exploit audio.

The success of this project would suggest that listening to an event a second time enables the students to reflect upon what was said and to rectify any misconceptions or mishearing; as well as being able to reconsider and reconnect with the information. For some students the act of recording helped them to become reflective learners as it helped them appreciate the significance of interventions from peers and tutors.

The audio recorders were discrete and highly mobile, arguably becoming a 21st century 'pen' for some learners who began to make notes in situations that hitherto had been ephemeral. This is demonstrated in the use of the device by the students on work placement who explored how it could enhance their professional abilities and CPD.

Students recommend regularly using the audio device and carrying it at all times, saying they would replace it if they lost it,

"Yes, it's been valuable and I would replace it. I can use it for practice once I get a job."

"Yes, I'll definitely keep recording stuff... I definitely would do it. If I had to start my undergrad again I definitely would start recording from the beginning. I wish I'd used it earlier."

"I wish I'd used mine earlier as well."

Some Further Recommendations

There appears to be a lack of literature on the use of audio recorders by students, including the practice of taking recorders into lectures. In order for the benefits that have been revealed through this study to have wider impact we recommend that,

- Academics encourage students to make notes using their own recorders e.g. MP3 recorders or mobile phones with voice memo technology in flight mode;
- Students ask permission to record feedback conversations with tutors and peers so they can be more attentive at the time and reflective later;

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

- Students listen back to the notes they make, reflecting on and developing the information they have captured, perhaps in written form;
- Students share their notes responsibly with others on their course so that the recordings are used as a focal point for further conversation, but do not share their recordings with people beyond their course;
- Students copy their recordings from their mobile devices to avoid loss, backing up their recordings, especially in the absence of written notes;
- Students rename their files systematically and meaningfully;
- Students resist editing their recordings unless doing so helps them to actively engage with what was said. Editing can add a significant layer of work to the practice;
- Academics are open to lectures, seminars, tutorials and other conversations they have with their students being recorded;
- Academics challenge their students to regularly review their recordings and share them with their fellow learners;
- Institutions are supportive of audio note making practice;
- Institutions are proactive in extending network storage capacity so that students can safely manage their digital media artefacts.

References

Cohen, L., Manion, L., and Morrison, K. (2000) Research methods in education. 5th edition. London and New York: Routledge and Falmer.

Fidler, A., Middleton, A. and Nortcliffe, A. (2006) Providing added value to lecture materials to an iPod generation, 6th Conference of the International Consortium for Educational Development, Sheffield, UK.

Gibbs, G., and Simpson, C. (2004) Conditions under which assessment supports students' learning. Learning and Teaching in Higher Education, 1, pp.3–31. Available online: http://www.glos.ac.uk/departments/clt/lathe/issue1/index.cfm, accessed: 5/6/2005.

Goodley, D. (2007) Towards socially just pedagogies: Deleuzoguattarian critical disability studies. International Journal of Inclusive Education, 11(3), pp.317-334.

Healey, M., Bradley, A., Fuller, M. and Hall, T. (2006) "Listening to students: The experiences of disabled students of learning at university" in M. Adams and S. Brown, (ed.) Towards Inclusive Learning in Higher Education. Oxon: Routledge, pp.32-43.

Intons-Peterson, M. J. and Fournier, J. (1986) External and internal memory aids: when and how often do we use them? Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 115(3), pp. 267-280.

Madriaga, M. (2007) Enduring disablism: students with dyslexia and their pathways into UK higher education and beyond. Disability & Society, 22 (4), pp.399–412.

Middleton, A. and Nortcliffe, A. (2009) 'Understanding effective models of audio feedback' in Rajarshi Roy (ed.) Engineering education: Perspectives, issues and concerns. Delhi, India: Shipra Publications.

Middleton, A. and Nortcliffe, A. (2009) 'Understanding effective models of audio feedback' in Rajarshi Roy (ed.) Engineering education: Perspectives, issues and concerns. Delhi, India: Shipra Publications.

Nortcliffe, A., and Middleton, A., (2009) Students audio notes, Eighth CLTR Learning & Teaching Research Conference, Edge Hill University: Ormskirk, UK.

Nortcliffe, A., Rossiter, J.A. Middleton, A., (2009) Students using digital audio interventions to enhance their learning experience, HEA annual conference, Manchester, UK.

Nortcliffe, A. L. and Middleton, A. (2007) Audio Feedback for the iPod Generation, In Proceedings of International Conference on Engineering Education, Coimbra, Portugal, 2007.

Nortcliffe, A. L. and Middleton, A. (2006) Audio lecture notes: supplementary lecture materials with added value. NADO News - the Official newsletter of the National Association of Disability Officers Ltd, Summer 2006.

Race P. (2006) The lecturer's toolkit (3rd edition) London: Routledge.

Race, P. (2001) A Briefing on Self, Peer and Group Assessment in LTSN Generic Centre Assessment Series No 9 LTSN York.

Rossiter, J. A., Nortcliffe, A., Griffin, A. and Middleton, A. (2009) Using student generated audio to enhance learning. Engineering Education Journal, 2009, accepted

Waterfield, J., West, B., Parker, M. (2006) Supporting Inclusive Practice. In M. Adams and S. Brown eds. Towards Inclusive Learning in higher education: Developing curricula for disabled students, London: Routledge, 79-94.

Promoting Learner Autonomy through Enquiry Based Learning, Role Play and the use of "students as consultants, tutors as clients"

NICK NUNNINGTON (N.NUNNINGTON@SHU.AC.UK) REAL ESTATE DIVISION FACULTY OF DEVELOPMENT & SOCIETY SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY

Abstract

This case study evaluates the extensive use of autonomy in "The European Challenge" which simulates the re-location of the European Headquarters of a US based corporation of 350 employees. The project examines the integration of business issues and real estate location, building selection and evaluation and space planning and design.

This ambitious multi-disciplinary project brings together over 80 students in pan European teams from 8 countries to engage in one of the most demanding projects delivered in Europe. The case study focuses on two aspects of the project:

- the use of the Blackboard virtual learning environment (VLE) to foster autonomous learning; and
- the setting up of students as consultants, tutors as clients as a learning approach.

Using control groups, the European Challenge is compared with other projects using statistical monitoring and evaluation tools within the VLE, triangulated against student focus groups, to evaluate the autonomous learning potential of the project

Overview of the European Challenge project

Historical background

The "European Challenge" is the author's second major international project. In 1997, the "Vancouver Challenge", a virtual development exercise for students and practitioners was a great success, being runner up in the global EMMA (Education Multi Media Awards). This inspired real estate faculty members of Hanzehogeschool, Groningen to commission a new challenge, this time with a corporate real estate focus. This has grown and now includes a variety of Universities across Europe including the European Business School, Kingston, Sheffield Hallam, Warsaw School of Economics, Dublin Institute of Technology, The Technical University of Slovakia, The Institute of Construction, Copenhagen and Johns Hopkins Washington DC. In 1996 additional partners in Germany, Finland and Slovenia joined the project. The European Challenge project involves both final year undergraduate and postgraduate students (Johns Hopkins) working together on a complex consultancy

project simulating the relocation of a 350 person financial services organisation to a new Headquarters building in Europe. Between 6 and 8 students from Sheffield Hallam join the project each year.

The project is partly funded by the European Union, who fund the travel and accommodation costs of the 80+ students and 10+staff, and partly by CETL funding.

Necessity

The project recognises the growing significance of corporate real estate, the interface between business and real estate and changing client expectations. Real estate professions need to operate with high grade consulting skills, and this project develops such skills.

Operation

The structure and schedule of the project is illustrated graphically in Figure 1 on the following page. In the first semester students work in their home University teams, researching one of eight knowledge themes which underpin the practical project. They work autonomously using Blackboard and on the first formal day of the project they present their themes to the whole group, provide a briefing paper and up-load key resources they have found to the Blackboard virtual learning environment. The students are then formed into multi-national, inter-professional teams acting as consultants to the client. Whilst respecting student autonomy in the selection of teams, knowledge is managed by embedding the themes within each group, demanding that there is no more than one student from each University in a team and thereby restricting autonomy in self selection of groups. Our experience has also found that selecting teams based on Belbin (2003) scores and Hofstede (2001) profiles creates more stable dynamics. The students become consultants to each other and experts in their knowledge themes. Consultancy hours facilitate student to student learning and support. Tutors only act as facilitators, providing guidance and support but no traditional teaching.

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

Figure 1.

PHASE 1	PHASE 2	PHASE 3	PHASE 4
Each group of students in their "home" Universities engage in learning knowledge around a theme: such as Benchmarking, Space, Strategy, and Productivity	Students are grouped into international teams and engage with their client to produce a Strategic Brief	Students visit their allocated city study inward investment and real estate and evaluate a number of buildings; meet with real estate professionals	Students present their findings to the client "Board". Presentations attended by international employers scouting for talent.
October – December	January week 1	January week 2	January week 2
Takes place in partner University.	In Berlin	In a European Capital – e.g. Amsterdam, Paris, Frankfurt, Milan, Warsaw, Bratislava, Vienna, Prague, Munich. and Helsinki.	In Berlin

The second stage of the project requires the students to prepare a "strategic brief" defining the needs of the organisation, its priorities, culture, adjacency preferences and expectations. Alongside comprehensive written material such as business plans, mission and vision statements; board meetings and client meetings using extensive role play with tutors acting as Board members ensures that the soft people management issues are thoroughly engaged with. Designed in tensions between the Board members replicate real life consultancy. At the end of the first week the students fly out to one of 11 major cities including Bratislava, Paris, Geneva and Brussels to evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of the location and find a suitable building using an objective matching technique to score the building location, attributes and specification against the organisational demands as set out in the strategic brief. Active involvement by Inward Investment agencies and local real estate consultants add to the realism of the experience.

Returning to Berlin for the second week the students are required to present a City template – profiling the cities in a consistent format, which requires both desk research and field investigation. It covers aspects such as business and personal costs, residential property availability, schools and access by air, rail and car. They also produce a detailed building appraisal; a space layout which preserves adjacencies identified in the strategic brief and on the final day a presentation to the "Board of Directors". Above all they must convince the Board that their solution will support the ambitious productivity improvements sought by the company.

On the final day the 11 groups present to the "board of directors" and the tutors from each participating university. The top three are then asked to repeat their presentation and to present to ALL staff, students and a jury, which includes invited professionals and HR managers.

Rationale

The Challenge project is a good example of Enquiry Based Learning (EBL) in which the problem – the relocation of the case study company, drives the learning. EBL emphasises the development of curricula around complex problems set within a context. In the Challenge this is the changing role of the real estate professional as consultant and the growing awareness of the linkages between business and real estate.

The Challenge project has reference to leading best practice in EBL design emphasising the support dimension which Juwah (2002) presents in the form of "scaffolding" (presented on the following page in Figure 2). This scaffolding should be applied to all projects, although the individual make up of the scaffolding will be dictated by the context, subject and nature of the project.

In the European Challenge this scaffolding involves:

- the knowledge and expertise of tutors;
- context setting and instructional content up-loaded to the Blackboard VLE;
- case studies/information up-loaded to the VLE and presented at the opening conference;
- stories from tutors, students and the "executives of the client company" and from real life practice two of the participating tutors are engaged in this type of activity for real;
- prompts from the tutors acting as the executives of the client company; and
- technology the Blackboard VLE to drive learning and facilitate communication for groups who are scattered across Europe.

The defining characteristics of the approach are that students define the learning issues, are responsible for searching appropriate sources of information and decide what is researched to address the problem. This reflects a problem based learning (PBL) approach to learning

through enquiry. n the substantial literature about PBL reference is constantly made to it being a vehicle to drive autonomous learning; this is considered in the next section.



Autonomous Learning in the European Challenge

The European Challenge embraces the fundamental principle of learner autonomy as 'taking charge of one's learning' Holec, (1981:3). Whilst all students follow a well crafted brief, how they manage the learning is largely left to them as both a team and as individuals. The Blackboard learning environment facilitates a range of learning opportunities for which they must take control and set the pace and agenda for learning.

Learner autonomy as learner control has origins in language study- an emphasis on learning management, and cognitive processes to build metacognitive knowledge. The European Challenge tries to expand this perspective. We reviewed how to conceptualise learner autonomy and arrived at the following four elements:

- integration of knowledge and learning, Boyer (1990) scholarship of integration/application with students creating a variety of original approaches within and between disciplines.
- use of local, national and international contexts that enable students to evaluate and participate in activity in the wider world, Peters (2004) and Brown (2002);
- supporting students through transitions so they take control of their learning experiences; and
- Putting pedagogic innovation at the heart of the learning experience.

Finally we believe these elements should be blended and recognise that knowledge workers require skills of networking, self-realisation and knowledge management. The Challenge builds these elements into the design of the project by:

Networking – the project creates many relationships in pan European project teams; relationships between students from the same country / University; diverse tutor relationships including role play, mentor, supervisor and local support and networking with professionals working in a team's allocated European city. The Blackboard vle provides a valuable networking system.

Self Realisation – Belbin team role analysis and comprehensive role play encourages reflection and self realisation of the student's strengths and weaknesses in managing their learning. Autonomy in how to manage communication and working processes to complete the tasks encourages personal reflection and an evaluation of their team roles and management styles.

Knowledge Management – the project requires students to create their own micro "learning organisation" and to convert tacit to explicit knowledge needed as described by Nonaka (1994) in creating a knowledge management framework. Again the Blackboard vle facilitates this process.

Syndicated knowledge sharing

When preparing for the challenge students work on an allocated knowledge theme. Whilst they are given guidance and a range of initial texts and references to work from, it is their responsibility to build a contemporary, focused knowledge base for their component of the challenge. An element of peer pressure and institutional pride drives high engagement, after all when they first arrive in Berlin they are still in their University teams and will be presenting their theme to students from many other countries. In addition, the fact that they in turn will become the "experts" for that knowledge theme, drives motivation and engagement without intervention from tutors. Students are required to prepare for the first day in Berlin:

- an A0 sized poster for a poster conference
- a briefing paper for circulation
- a minimum of THREE new appropriate and useful resources uploaded to Blackboard

The success of this approach, through the creation and sharing of a contemporary knowledge platform from which the project can be operated, resonates with the work of Cohen & Levinthal (1990) "absorptive capacity has been demonstrated in studies that show that a person's learning rate is determined by the breadth and depth of his or her prior knowledge." The more objects, patterns and concepts in one's memory, the more rapidly one acquires and uses new concepts (Bower and Milgard, 1981).

Evaluation

The evaluation examined two components:

- 1. autonomy measured in terms of the use of Blackboard
- 2. student feedback through focus groups with specific reference to the students as consultants, tutors as clients" philosophy

Blackboard is used in the European Challenge to provide:

tutor defined resources

Briefing documents and essential project information

Learning materials – such as context setting papers; country specific information and open learning material about the processes and techniques participants will be using.

Web links to major articles, papers and consultants' reports

Project announcements and message boards.

communications tools

e-mail tools

discussion forums, wiki's and blogs for interaction between supervisors and role play executives of their client organisation.

File sharing and group interaction tools

autonomous learning tools

A separate Blackboard site for each group gives them a level of autonomy to design and implement communication and other learning tools in a way which meets their individual and team learning needs.

Virtual Classrooms and Virtual Meetings

Team announcements and message boards.

Discussion forums, wikis and blogs for autonomous interaction between teams.

Basis of the evaluation

The Blackboard vle also provides a comprehensive set of tools which monitor its use and allow a detailed evaluation of how students have engaged in the project, used the resources provided (and therefore the level of communication), and of the degree of interaction and autonomy achieved within the project.

In this analysis the European Challenge students have been compared against a group undertaking the project but only as a classroom based activity (with no City visits and teams constructed only of students from one nationality) and a UK project group using Blackboard as part of a final year undergraduate project.

Engagement by students

In evaluation of the European Challenge we examined the Blackboard statistics for the European Challenge project against a control group engaged in a similarly weighted assignment using a more traditional approach, delivered through blackboard. Each project had the same number of ECTS and contact hours.

Interrogation of the Blackboard course statistics reveals amazing levels of engagement by the European Challenge groups. One team of seven allocated to Madrid as their potential location produced an astonishing 5511 hits on the site during the 12 week semester period (see Table 4 for a breakdown of hits). Examination of the detailed usage shows an even spread of usage by students and represents an average of 76 hits per week per student.

Blackboard Statistics: Total Number of Accesses per Area			
Area Name	Hits	Percent	
Announcements	1734	31.46	
Course Information	204	3.70	
Staff Information	164	2.96	
Course Documents	3171	57.53	
Assignments	134	2.43	
Books	104	1.88	
Total	5511	100	

Table 4

This compares with a total of only 489 total hits for the comparable "control" group of six students following a Blackboard enabled project of the same credits and duration in the final year of an undergraduate programme in the UK.

Autonomy is also embedded in the way in which freedom and flexibility of the use of Blackboard has been embraced by the providing University – the Hanzehogeschool,

Groningen, The Netherlands, allowing students greater access and control than is common in many UK institutions.

Analysis of student autonomy is still being evaluated in detail. However, initial outputs show unprecedented levels of student autonomy as measured by the diversity of usage of the tools and resources provided to students by the Blackboard vle. Each student team was given its own Blackboard site and was encouraged to develop its style, format and management of the site in an autonomous setting.

Initial results show a wide diversity in the use and development of the sites with standard deviations showing a wide variety of usage of the various components. Simple analysis of the usage indicates that some groups preferred a series of discussion boards around specific topics and virtual meetings in an informal and fairly unstructured format, whereas other groups were highly structured requiring formal virtual meetings at set times every week and a formal minutes and agenda system.

Simple graphical analysis of each team's use of the communications facilities is set out in Figure 5 below. This shows the diversity of engagement and supports the view that high levels of student autonomy were achieved.

Figure 5 . A proxy variable for autonomy (note that all groups were given identical resources and briefing information as to how to use the facilities).



Graphical comparison of 4 out of the 7 groups engaged in the Challenge in 2006 to illustrate the variety of ways in which students used the communication tools given to them in their group Blackboard facility.

Initial comparisons with the control groups working in one country and not given the same amount of control over their resources show fewer interactions, less motivation and inferior outcomes to those given high degrees of autonomy over how they manage the project over a 12- week semester.

Student Feedback through focus groups with specific reference to the "students as consultants, tutors as clients" philosophy

Student feedback has been consistently positive throughout the three years and the enthusiasm of students grows stronger. In particular, students relish the empowerment and liberation of the "students as consultants, tutors as clients" approach. The following statements from focus group sessions illustrates this:

"You're asked to engage with the concepts that are put forward and figure things out for yourself and I found that to be, I found that a lot more exciting than sitting there watching a PowerPoint slide that's just spoon-feeding you information that you know you've got to go away and learn it, like a parrot basically, and then deliver it in an exam, this is a lot more practical, and felt like it was linked a lot more closely to the real world than a lot of the modules".

"It's worked really well, especially after being on placement (where you've) been asked to be a professional for a whole year and then getting back to university...with this course you're still being asked to apply that professional approach to your work. In doing that... I've got more out of this".

"Berlin especially has given me more confidence because it applies other subjects, it's given me the confidence when I start my graduate job to use what I've learnt, because we've actually applied it during this project, I now feel more confident applying it to my actual job".

"A lot of it does get embedded in your mind because you're working so intensely and because you're engaging, you're so engaged with it and you're not just reading stuff and trying to remember it you're actually being asked to figure things out...you feel like you're...going your own way. It's your work completely... and that definitely helped me to remember everything".

"Working as a consultant was great we had so much responsibility and a very difficult client to manage - I can remember at one point getting quite shot down by Nick (Nunnington) in his role as CEO for asking quite a stupid question which you only learn from making but I'm glad that I made that mistake in Berlin cause it's certainly not one that I'll be making again".

"in this project I was seeing, hearing, doing all the time, we learnt of each other, the tutors in and out of role, constantly, almost 24/7. It didn't feel like learning." "I have never worked so hard and I ask myself why... we all wanted to learn because we were challenged not only with the subject matter which was really up to date... but also by each other we needed to manage the project and each other to complete the task... we all wanted to do well and show our client what we could do... the tutors were not tutors anymore, they really became the client and gave us a really hard time... but that's what it's like in the real world."

The author's reflections on the students' comments are that they validate the approach and actually exceed the original aims and objectives of the project. For example, comments such as "it did not feel like learning" suggests that immersion in the intensity and realism of the project works effectively to dispel the artificiality of many traditional learning activities. It is also encouraging to see how students reflect upon both the impact and longevity of the learning when compared to traditional teaching and assessment where much of the study is not retained. With the Challenge this "embedding in the mind" is confirmed by students who confirm how much they remember several years after the project can actually change students' behaviour, in some cases really forcing them to take leadership and responsibility and in others to open their eyes to employability possibilities they had not ever thought about.

Conclusions and Further Development

The academic team managing the European Challenge is proud of the outcomes, the warm reception by students and sponsors and the valuable lessons learnt for future implementation of the project in Europe and beyond.

The team believes that the project meets the changing paradigms in both the profession and in education and it provides a model of best practice for adoption and evaluation by other Institutions. The project emphasises and integrates significant research being undertaken into the interface between business and real estate.

The team is pleased that the project has been recognised in the UK by the ACBEE initiative (Accelerating Change in Built Environment Education) as a case study of Excellence. This initiative is supported by, amongst others, The Centre for Education in the Built Environment and the Learning Teaching and Support Network (the latter now known as the Higher Education Academy).

We also believe that the Blackboard VLE developed as an integral part of the "scaffolding", needed to support students working at a distance and in an autonomous setting, has proved to be an invaluable tool for both implementation and evaluation of the Challenge. The unprecedented usage of both the learning resources and the communication tools compared to control courses is confirmation that distance is no longer a barrier to learning and that high levels of motivation can be achieved where students are in control of their learning.

A fascinating additional study would be to analyse the formality of working against the make up of the teams to identify if cultural typologies of different nations influence the autonomy of use of the Blackboard resources.

In summary, in this context, autonomy is concerned with setting up a dynamic and stimulating setting which motivates and fosters self directed approaches, or what the team describes as facilitated autonomy. The approach recognises that investment in autonomous learning is front loaded with considerable time and energy being devoted to creating a realistic and exciting problem or set of problems to engage with, ensuring appropriate prior knowledge is made available and creating comprehensive "scaffolding" which supports the learner to achieve the desired outcome. Facilitated autonomy is an approach where student and tutor choice is designed in and students have control over their learning environment. For example, the use of a virtual learning environment, where the way in which it is used is not dictated by the Institution.

Facilitated autonomy should be complex and multi faceted, providing a problem that stimulates engagement; exposing learners to different perspectives, using practitioners' stories; role play; and deliberate provocation to stimulate deeper learning. All of this facilitation drives autonomy in the European Challenge and the team believes is the source of its extremely successful operation.

References

Benson, P. 1997. The multiple meanings of autonomy: Responsibility, ability and right. In L. Dickinson (Ed.), Autonomy 2000: The development of learning independence in language learning. Conference Proceedings. Bangkok: King Mongkut's Institute of Technology Thonburi.

Benson, P. 2001 Teaching and Researching Autonomy in Language Learning, London: Pearson Education Ltd.

Benson, P. & Voller, P. 1997. Autonomy and Independence in Language Learning. London: Longman.

Boisot, M.H 1998 Knowledge Assets : Securing Competitive Advantage in the

Information Economy, Oxford University Press, Oxford

Boud, D. and Feletti, G. 1997 (Eds). The Challenge of Problem Based Learning. Second edition, London: Kogan PageBreton, G. and Lambert, M. (eds.) (2003) Universities and Globalization, Private Linkages, Public Trust, Paris: UNESCO

Boyer, E. 1990 Scholarship Reconsidered, Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

Cairncross, F. 1997 The Death of Distance : How the Communications Revolution will Change our Lives, Orion Business Books, London

Candy, 1991. Self-direction for Lifelong Learning. California: Jossey-Bass.

Cohen M, 2001 Real estate investment moves to the defensive, Financial Times, 8/5/2001

Cohen W.M., & Levinthal D.A : 1990 Absorptive Capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation. Administrative Science Quarterly 35, 128-152.

Darwin J 1996 Dynamic Poise - a new style of management - Parts 1&2, Career

Development International 1/7/ (1996)12-17

Dickinson L (1995) Autonomy, Self-direction and Self Access in Language Teaching and Learning: The History of an Idea *System* Volume 23, Issue 2, May 1995, Pages 165-174 Holec, H. (1981) Autonomy and Foreign Language Learning, Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Juwah, C 2002 Using Communication and Information Technologies to Support Problem-Based Learning, https://www.ilt.ac.uk/778.asp

Little, D. 1991. Learner Autonomy. 1: Definitions, Issues and Problems. Dublin: Authentik.

Loewenstein, G: 1994 The psychology of curiosity: A review and reinterpretation.

Psychological Bulletin 116(1) 75-98

Knowles, M. S. 1975. Self-directed Learning. New York: Association Press.

Knowles, M. S. 1980. The Modern Practice of Adult Education: From Pedagogy to Andragogy. Chicago: Follett.

Nonaka, I. A. 1994. Dynamic Theory of Organisational Knowledge Creation, Organisation Science Vol 5 No1

Nonaka, I; Hirotaka, T 1995. The Knowledge Creating Company, Oxford University

Press, Oxford.

Peters, O. 2004 'Visions of Autonomous Learning', keynote presentation at the European Distance Education Network (EDEN) Conference, Oldburgh, March 2004.

Quinn J, Anderson P, Finkelstein S 1996 Managing Professional Intellect: Making the Most of the Best, Harvard Business Review March April 1996

Sass, E. J. 1989 "Motivation in the College Classroom: What Students Tell Us." Teaching of Psychology, 1989, 16(2), 86-88

Seely Brown, J., Duguid, P.2002 The Social Life of Information, Boston: HBS Press.

Thanasoulas D 2000 The Internet TESL Journal, Vol. VI, No. 11, November 2000 http://www.aitech.ac.jp/~iteslj/

Tranfield, Prof D ,Dr Palie Smart, Dr P and Smith, Dr D 2002 Changing times Strategic consulting for professional effectiveness. RICS Management Consultancy Faculty and Cranfield University School of Management.

Wenden, A. 1998. Learner Strategies for Learner Autonomy. Great Britain: Prentice Hall.

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1
Media literacy skills for discovering, evaluating and reusing visual and sound resources Linda Purdy (Learning and Information Services) (L.PURDY@SHU.AC.UK) SIMON QUINN (Learning and Information Services) (s.QUINN@SHU.AC.UK) Hilary Cunliffe-Charlesworth (Faculty of Arts, Computing, Engineering and Sciences) Anne-Florence Dujardin (Communication and Media Arts Studies) Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

Digital and visual literacies are now recognised as core skills for undergraduates. However, it is also recognised that students need support in developing those skills, partly because they do not always have them before they start university, and partly because they show a lack of awareness in key issues such as copyright compliance. To enable student autonomy in the area of visual communication we designed an online resource called VIA (Video Image and Audio). This report describes the project which involved a design phase and an evaluation phase in which undergraduates, postgraduates and Information Advisers participated. We received useful feedback to improve the resource, and overall, the VIA resource was well accepted by all stakeholders.

Background

We live in an increasingly media rich society and students are entering the University with an expectation of accessing and reusing media resources in their work. They are used to having film, TV, radio and images at their fingertips particularly via the internet. However, students tend to be naive and inexperienced in how to discover quality resources and the factors to consider when critically evaluating and reusing them. The instinctive approach is to undertake a Google search, and copy and reuse any resources which match the subject requirement without regard to provenance, copyright and technical limitations.

Approach to learning

In general, students exercise autonomy when they become engaged in all aspects of the learning process – planning, implementing and evaluating (e.g. Little 2003; Scharle and Szabo 2000; Thanasoulas 2000). The VIA resource can be used flexibly in helping students plan and evaluate their use of visual and audio materials by raising questions such as: what purpose do the visual/audio materials fulfil? Do they comply with copyright legislation? VIA also offers advice regarding implementation (image ratio, file size), although this is secondary to the key purpose which is to enable students to handle visual and audio

materials correctly and confidently. We envisage learning with VIA to be a 'constructive process that involves actively seeking meaning from (or even imposing meaning on) events' (Thanasoulas 2000).

Intended benefit

The aim in designing the VIA resource was to support learner autonomy, that is, selfdirection and engagement in learning, in relation to the use of visual and audio media in coursework – and beyond, in students' professional lives. VIA can be considered transdisciplinary in the sense that its potential audience encompasses all SHU students. It was conceived to be used by students from all disciplines as well as Advisors in the Learning Centre or Student Support in order to guide students needing help with the visual and audio aspect of coursework. We also envisaged that lecturers would use it as a reference or as a teaching tool, while recognising that they may want to use additional materials to focus more specifically on the issues arising in some disciplines (e.g. use of visual artefacts in the visual arts or media studies, visualisation of data in the sciences or business studies). The VIA resource can be integrated in the design of autonomous learning experiences which neither let students flounder nor attempt to guide them rigidly, but instead 'allow them to struggle to construct a self in relation to a discipline or a profession' (Wilcox 1996:174).

Rationale

Purpose and goal of the VIA project

The aim of the project is to develop student understanding and awareness of finding, critically evaluating, selecting and reusing (in terms of legal compliance) videos, images and sound. We developed VIA to raise student awareness of the key skills which distinguish a 'media literate' student. We wanted learners to "develop a sense of responsibility and also, encourage learners to take an active part in making decisions about their learning" (Scharle and Szabo 2000: 4), which here relates to the use of audio and visual material.

Our research question was: does the VIA resource address student needs? And further: what could we do to improve it, based on student feedback? We tested the VIA resource with three groups of people:

- undergraduates selected randomly for a focus group;
- a specific group of postgraduate e-learners taking a Visual Communication module; and
- Information Advisers in the Learning Centre.

Resource limitations meant that, regrettably, we could not involve academic staff in the study. In any case the focus of the study was on students' digital/visual literacies and involved first and foremost a mapping of what these might be. A second phase of the project would be to conduct a multi-case study about the VIA resource in teaching; this would develop the initial case study presented here.

The VIA concept

At the outset we agreed to utilise good quality resources that already existed. Several excellent tools have been developed by authoritative bodies like the JISC and Digital Media (formally TASI). There seemed little point in reinventing the wheel, and we felt that it was far better to capitalise on appropriate materials which had been developed with more resources and expertise than were available to us. We used our expertise to link to these resources at appropriate stages and tailor them into a unique package to address the specific needs of SHU students, particularly though not exclusively those of undergraduates. Given the nature of the resource we decided to present VIA in a visual way, adopting a comic book style rather than using blocks of text.

Figure 1. A sample page from the 'Click' resource



We used examples of external sources of video, sound and image materials which have good provenance and have appropriate rights cleared. Original materials were also designed. For maximum flexibility, we used PowerPoint, so that the final product could be printed or consulted electronically as a PDF file.

Evaluation approach

The evaluation was located in the interpretive paradigm, and took the form of a case study using a hybrid approach to data collection, to ensure optimal validity. The aim for deploying a mixed-method strategy was essentially 'complementarity, or examining overlapping and different facets of a phenomenon' (Tashakkori and Teddlie 1998:43).

Undergraduate focus groups (in two phases)

Ten students volunteered to participate in the evaluation. The group covered a range of disciplines and levels of study, as shown in the table below.

Table 4: composition of the undergraduate focus group

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy

A Centre for Excellence in Teaching and Learning

Course	Year	No. of students		
BA Hons Planning Studies	2	4		
BSc Business Modelling and Management	4	1		
BSc Business and ICT	1	1		
BSc IT Management	1	1		
BA Business and HRM	4	1		
MSc IT	1	1		
MSc Pharmacology	1	1		

At the time of volunteering they were unaware of the nature of the activity. At the beginning of Phase 1 of the focus group, students were given a brief introduction with the minimum of information as to the purpose of the focus group. They undertook an activity which required them to find 'visual material' to enhance what was presented as the first page of a formally assessed assignment on cycling helmets. They were also asked to make a note of what they did. The students then undertook a very short self assessment of their IT and media literacy skills.

Phase 2 stared with giving students an explanation of the purpose of the focus group (using and evaluating VIA). The students then worked through VIA and then repeated the activity, again making a note of the steps they took.

Figure 13: Students working with VIA (phase 2)





To complete phase 2, students were divided into two groups for a discussion about what they had learnt, the usability of the material and the content of the material.

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Sheffield Hallam University

Online heuristic evaluation by Master's students

Students enrolled on the MA Professional Communication programme were invited to evaluate the VIA resource, as part of their studies on the 'Visual Communication' module. Seven students agreed to contribute (four women and three men) to the evaluation.

Their task was to select a visual analysis tool (e.g. Kostelnick and Roberts 1998; Rose 2007) and use it heuristically to comment on the appropriateness of the VIA resource for a student audience. Heuristic evaluation is a method of assessing design quality in the user interface of software applications or websites (Dumas and Redish 1999; Nielsen and Mack 1994). It is carried out by several evaluators who, in parallel, assess the interface using a set of principles (or 'heuristics'). Several evaluators are needed because a single evaluator cannot identify all possible problems. Each evaluator works alone, evaluating the interface against a list of heuristics, normally well established principles. Findings are aggregated, to identify the commonality and severity of the problems they have identified. In the case of our study, MA students took on the role of evaluators, and reported their conclusions in a discussion on the Blackboard site that supported their studies.

Online interviews with Information Advisers

The third group of people who evaluated the VIA resource were Information Advisers. These are information professionals who are either based in a faculty team, working closely with teaching staff to tailor information skills sessions to meet the needs of the specific cohort of students, or based in a functional team ensuring services, systems, and processes best meet teaching and learning needs. Each year they deliver approximately 1,500 hours of information literacy sessions, across all levels from Level 4 to postgraduate.

Team	Number of Information Advisers
Head of Academic Services	1
ACES Faculty team	1
Health and Wellbeing Faculty Team	2
Sheffield Business School Team	1
Systems Team	1
Virtual Learning Centre Team	2

Information Advisers were asked to evaluate VIA and provide feedback on the scope of the content, its value as a tool for developing media literacy skills, and also the overall look, feel and navigability of the resource.

Findings and discussion

Overall

On balance, feedback was positive. We received useful suggestions for improvements, such as: consistency in the use of the comic metaphor, replacement of idioms, addition of branding and ownership, more use of colour to aid navigation, value of some reference links. Comments on the resource name prompted us to give a more meaningful title, so that 'Click, copy, create' became 'VIA' (Video, Images and Audio).

Undergraduate perspectives

The students assessed their IT skills as either good or very good. Nine of the ten students had been asked to insert images into their coursework, and had on other occasions chosen to do so on their own initiative in order to enhance their work.

In phase 1 of the focus group, all students chose to search for a graphic and their approach was to use Google. Issues such as copyright, referencing and technical information were not addressed.

In phase 2, after using VIA, students selected from the wider range of resources which they had been introduced to. In their commentaries on the second attempt:

- one student mentioned that is "not right to copy and paste information";
- one student took on board technical information about size, colour, and distortion; and
- one student used "academic resource" in their list of search words for Google.

The second attempts also included some form of referencing for the image, either immediately under the picture or at the end of the document.

In summary all students were positive and offered comments such as "not bad", "like it the way it is". They liked the look though most would have liked colour to be used, finding the grey "unattractive". Navigation was easy, but it was difficult to go back or to remember how far back something was. They liked the friendly language used and one commented positively on the "use of the man who seems to be explaining things". The amount of context was "about right", but the mention of semiotics put students off even though they understood the point of tailoring a message to an audience. The importance of sourcing and acknowledging the source was clearly recognised.

Feedback from the undergraduate focus group was used to amend VIA before the next phase of the evaluation by MA students.

MA students' perspectives

Of the three groups of participants, this was the most negative overall – perhaps because they were asked to evaluate VIA as an artefact, rather than as a tool to support their learning. Also, they worked with a visual analysis grid, which encouraged critical evaluation.

Overall, the product was deemed well targeted at its audience and the visual delivery was essentially appropriate. For most students, the combination of visuals and text was seen as a particular strength: "The text and the images complement each other very well throughout the document" (Student P). Yet this was not everyone's preference: Student J thought the resource could be presented more succinctly as a series of bullet points, especially for mature students. While Student P agreed about the length, she believed that "a mixture of text and pictures" was appropriate.

The most commonly discussed feature was the use of an "anchor man": this was mostly seen as a success factor because he "leads the user throughout the entire document... [and] contributes to ethos as he establishes a "visual connection" with the audience/user" (Student C); his "posture and gestures... reinforce what the text is stating or asking" (Student P). However, Student J (an older learner) felt the anchor man's presence "insulted his intelligence".

The MA students identified a number of areas where revisions could be made:

- The 'iPhone' format should either be discarded in the first two pages, or kept throughout the 54 pages (Students S and J)
- navigation was perceived as somewhat problematic, notably across the different chapters and with the 'home page'; however, the navigation icons "are immediately recognisable as they are the same icons commonly found on videos, computers, etc" (Student P)
- typographic choices needed to be more limited, to create consistency across the VIA resource, but the choice of Comic Sans MS was seen as "juvenile" (Student S and J) or apposite because it "establishes a 'colloquial' tone to the document which is in line with the target audience" (Student C)
- the use of the SHU logo needs to be more carefully considered
- format issues were also considered; notably, Student C suggested to "give the user the choice to either select a Flash format with real video and sound extracts, or a static HTML format which would include a downloadable PDF at the end in case the user needs to print it out or send it via email" a view supported by other students.

Information Advisers' perspectives

Overall, Information Advisers thought the content was comprehensive with the right level of information and detail; the comic style approach had unanimous appeal. One said that "the links to external resources are good too and provide a different approach and further

information if you need to follow it." The Adviser who supports the Arts area said she would use it within her literacy sessions, and others said they would find it useful to refer lecturers and students to should the need arise. Another Adviser said "the knowledge contained within the resources is very useful for me."

As in the other two sets of participants, opinion was divided in some aspects. For example, whilst one Adviser favoured the predominantly black and white approach with colour only used to add impact, the others thought more use of colour would improve the resource. One person said navigation was easy, but several people commented that they couldn't navigate to specific sections (clearly they hadn't realised that it is possible to do so from the 'menu' on the opening screen).

Conclusions

The Project Team remained focused throughout the project, worked well together and produced a valuable resource within the budgetary constraints. In the early planning stages there was a temptation for enthusiasm to push the boundaries of the project; the scope had to be redefined to a realistic level for the time and resources available. Even so, we underestimated the time need for the production. In trying to be all encompassing the end product may not have as great an impact as it would if it had been targeted at a specific subject group and had greater depth. Overall the VIA resource was well received by the three user groups involved, in the sense that the resource helped develop awareness of media resource use. A number of presentational issues were noted (and acted upon) but these did not deter from the main messages.

Further Development

Keeping VIA up-to-date is essential. Whilst the basic principles will remain true, external links to useful 'tools' and sources of reusable materials will need to be reviewed and updated over time. This work will be undertaken by the Media Materials and Copyright Team and can easily be done as the resource has been developed in an editable format. However, the impact and value of VIA will only be realised if the resource is widely available. Learning and Information Services are currently working on an Information Literacy Strategy and as part of that project are looking to bring together the full range of resources and learning objects which have been developed to enable the development of literacy skills. VIA will be included in that portfolio and thereby made widely available to the SHU community.

Further reading

Purdy, L., Quinn, S., Dujardin, A.-F., and Cunliffe-Charlesworth, H. (2009) Click copy, create; media literacy skills for discovering, evaluating and reusing sound and visual resources. Sheffield Hallam University CETL event, Sheffield 17 July 2009

References

Dumas, J. S. and Redish, J. C. (1999) A Practical Guide to Usability Testing. Exeter: Intellect.

Kostelnick, C. and Roberts, D. D. (1998) Designing Visual Language: Strategies for Professional Communicators. Longman (Allyn and Bacon).

Little, D. (Ed.) (2003) Learner Autonomy in Foreign Language Classrooms: Teacher, Learner, Curriculum and Assessment. Dublin: Authentik.

Nielsen, J. and Mack, R. L. (1994) Usability Inspection Methods. New York, NY: Wiley.

Rose, G. (2007) Visual Methodologies: An Introduction to the Interpretation of Visual Methods. 2nd ed. London: Sage.

Scharle, A. and Szabo, A. (2000) Learner Autonomy: a Guide to Developing Learner Responsibility. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, C. (1998) Mixed Methodology: Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. London: Sage.

Thanasoulas, C. (2000) What is learner autonomy and how can it be fostered? Available at <<u>http://iteslj.org/Articles/Thanasoulas-Autonomy.html</u>>. [Last accessed November 2006]

Wilcox, S. (1996) 'Fostering self-directed learning in the university setting'. Studies in Higher Education, 21 (2): 165-176.



Click, copy, create: discovering, evaluating and reusing sound and visual resources.





CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Autonomy through collaboration: Reflections on wikibased collaborative seminars and a novel assessment in a Psychology Module Will Reader (w.reader@shu.ac.uk) Psychology Division Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

"Just as you cannot do much carpentry with your bare hands, you cannot do much thinking with your bare brain." Dahlbom & Jenlert (quoted in Dennett, 2000, p.1)

This paper describes an attempt to support the development of learner autonomy by assessing students' ability to write a review of a current psychology article. Students were given practice in this task by writing a collaborative review using Blackboard's wiki tool. Questionnaire and interviews suggest that although the assessment was generally deemed to be a success, participation in the wiki task was low. It is suggested that low participation could be due to a combination of it being an unfamiliar technology, the perception that the task was of low value, a difficulty coordinating action within groups and a concern that other non-participating students would gain benefit from the work of participants.

Introduction

The development of autonomous learners with its requirement that learners (and professionals) are able to respond appropriately to novel situations and problems is central to many recent educational theories (e.g. Schon, 1983; 1987, Lave & Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998). However at the same time there is some disagreement as to exactly how one should define autonomy in terms of its underlying skills and abilities. Benson & Voller (1997) discuss five different ways in which 'learner autonomy' is used:

- it describes situations in which learners study entirely on their own;
- it describes a set of skills which can be learned and applied in self-directed learning;
- it describes some innate capacity which is suppressed by formal education;
- it describes learners having responsibility for their own learning; and
- it describes learners' right to determine the direction of their own learning.

Rather than attempt to produce a verbal definition in terms of cognitive skills I felt it productive to define autonomy—if 'define' is the right word—in terms of the kinds of activity I would like students to be able to perform having completed a course or module. While skills and abilities doubtless underlie discipline-specific knowledge, it is only in performance that we can decide whether we have truly achieved competence. The great Australian cricketer Donald Bradman was once asked how he felt about those critics who believed he had a faulty batting technique. He replied that they were entitled to their beliefs just as he was equally entitled to keep scoring centuries. In other words, what matters is not what skills you have (or do not have) but how well you perform when it matters.

Given that this intervention was in the field of psychology the preoccupation was with what should a psychology student be able to do when they have finished their degree and, once we have arrived at a conclusion, then we should endeavour to help them to learn to do whatever it is well. My answer to the question was that they should be able to take an academic psychology paper be able to evaluate it, discuss whether it achieves the goals it sets itself (does the evidence support the claims made by its author(s) for example), placing it within the appropriate theoretical debate (perhaps by bringing in other studies) and suggesting further research where appropriate (with perhaps a sketch of how this might be achieved). This is not an exhaustive list. There are also more socially orientated goals. For example, they should be able to collaborate on doing the above with other colleagues, be able to present their ideas verbally in order to convince others of their position and be able to defend their conclusions against critics. These social elements are beyond the scope of the assessment used here but I will reflect upon some of the social aspects of the collaborative component of the wiki task. One final point. Although I have focused on discipline-specific knowledge, it should be obvious that many of the activities described above constitute valuable 'generic' skills and could be seen as important for employability.

Rationale

Quite often in curriculum design it seems that developers begin with a set of materials or skills that are deemed central to the discipline and then work forwards making decisions as to how these should be presented to the students by selecting the delivery platform and then, finally, the assessment. The platform and assessment are frequently determined by tradition or expectation. For example, one finds that face-to-face lectures are used heavily in delivery and essays (either coursework or exam) are used in the assessment, irrespective of whether these are the most appropriate given the subject matter and nature of the learning population. Perhaps a better approach is to work backwards. Decide what you would like students to be able to do at the end of a module of course; develop an assessment that measures whether this goal has been achieved then develop the delivery to support the assessment. Making explicit the relationship between delivery, goal and assessment is important if our goal is promote learner engagement. Research on the allocation of study time to test items reveals that students spend more time learning more profitable items when studying for a subsequent test (Metcalfe, 2002; Reader and Payne, 2007; Son and Metcalfe, 2000; Thiede and Dunlosky, 1999) in short, participants serve to maximize the value of the interaction in terms of whatever currency is desired. If students are value maximizers this suggests that participation and engagement in learning activities such as seminars will be determined by the extent to which the activity supports the learner's goals, in this case assessment grades. If students do not perceive seminars (or other activities) as supporting this goal then low participation/engagement will be the rational response (see Reader, 2007 for some empirical support for this position). Of course students are not solely

motivated by external factors such as grades and assessment; intrinsic motivations such as personal gratification, interest in the topic and so on are also likely to be important factors. It is known, for example, that intrinsic motivating factors such as increasing students' ownership of the learning activity can have a significant effect on student engagement (Brookfield, 1987).

Unfortunately due to time and resource constraints it was not possible to fully redesign the module in question in the way described, instead a partial redesign took place. The assessment was to review a paper and seminars were redesigned in order to support this assessment activity, delivery was by lectures with small modification of content to reflect the new assessment. Rather than face- to-face seminars in which students complete a number of tasks, one seminar activity was used and this was to be completed across the semester. Seminars were conducted on-line and the task was for students to practice their reviewing skills using the blackboard wiki tool. Tutors would provide written feedback on the nascent review students were then free to make modifications which they could again submit for feedback. The process could iterate as many times over the first semester as students felt necessary. Wikis were used because group members could contribute without necessarily being in the same place and the history list provided by all wikis could allow students to see how their review had developed and improved as comments were taken on board. Students reviewed the practice paper is group of around four. The reason for this is twofold. First, for each student to create his or her own wiki review would have been unmanageable with 220 students on the module. Second, it was thought that students could help each other out in the reviewing task, learning from each other and fostering, perhaps, a 'community of enquiry' (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Scardamalia & Bereiter, 1994; Wenger, 1998; Buysse, Sparkman, & Wesley, 2003).

It is worth spending a few moments to consider the relationship between learner autonomy and learning communities. The use of the word 'autonomy' suggests someone operating alone without requiring the help and support of others. Closer examination, however, reveals this to be illusory. To be a truly autonomous should presuppose the fact that the individual learner can work as effectively in a group as alone requiring the development of important life-skills such as those of negotiation, delegation, conflict resolution, the ability to motivate others as well as the ability to simultaneously play the role of learner and teacher.

Background

The approach was trialled on Abnormal Psychology, a level 5 module consisting mainly of psychology undergraduates plus some join honours students and some option students. Two-hundred-and-twenty students participated in this module.

Method

The first part was simple: the activity was to review a paper so this was set as the assessment for the module. Four recent journal articles were chosen all between 4,000 and

6,000 words all relevant to different topics within the module and all available on-line. An important criterion for the articles was that there should be no readily available review available on-line or through other means. Students had to write a maximum of seven pages on this review not including references. In order for students to practice writing reviews (this was the first time most students had done this) the following were provided.

- A document presented on Blackboard that explained how to write a review written by me. This contained specific advice (e.g. 'identity the key claims the author is making', 'what evidence does the author present in support of these claims', 'do you think the evidence really supports the claims' and so on).
- A collection of reviews for students to access, including some of my own.
- A Q&A blog on Blackboard where students could ask questions about the process of review writing to be answered by tutors.
- A Q&A lecture dedicated to the review close to assessment time, which provided the basis of an FAQ again on Blackboard.

Students were given the opportunity to write a practice review on a paper unconnected with the assessment ('On being sane in insane places' by David Rosenhan). Students were asked to get into groups of four and each was assigned a wiki space on Blackboard.

Evaluation

Four sources of information were used in order to assess the effectiveness of this intervention (1) participation rates and engagement in the wiki activity, (2) other observations (e.g. participation in Q&As, emails and the assessment lecture), (3) a questionnaire on the approach and (4) semi-structured interviews with some students who participated in the module.

The questionnaire asked a number of questions asking (1) to what extent students participated in the wiki task, (2) reasons for using (or not using) this facility, (3) perceptions of the assessment, although this was available for all students on-line, only 38 students (out of a maximum of 220) completed the questionnaire. The questionnaire contained statements rated on a seven-point Likert scale (strongly disagree to strongly agree)

Ten students participated in the interview which followed up some of the questions asked in the questionnaire.

The wiki task

Participation in the wiki task was disappointing given that it was specifically designed to increase participation rate and engagement by increasing the relevance of seminar activity to the assessment goals. There were 50 groups in total (therefore potentially 50 wiki reviews) yet only 19 groups completed anything like a proper review (all of which received feedback from tutors). Further, of these 19 only 10 groups revised their review and received

a second round of feedback. Only 3 of these groups went through to a third round of feedback and none went to a fourth round (partly because assessment time was at this point imminent).

Table 1 summarises the responses given to why respondents did not participate or engage fully in the task:

Statement	Percentage respondents choosing this response as most important		
I didn't see the task of a particularly high priority due to it not being assessed	33%		
I had difficulty organising members of my group	18%		
I didn't want to place the review on a public forum where other students could read my work	14%		
I had problems using the software	11%		
Other (e.g. illness, work commitments, etc)	24%		

Table 1: The percentage of respondents choosing each reason as the most important.

Interviews generally confirmed these results. For example, interviewee 2 gave the following explanation:

I know that you kept saying that it [the wiki task] was relevant to the coursework, and I'm sure it was. But, you know, the assessment seemed a long way away [from when they were supposed to be completing the wiki] and there was stuff that needed to be done at that time that was assessed. That stuff just took priority.

Assessed activities, it seems, always take priority. Further, this indicates a well-understood psychological phenomenon called 'future discounting' (Frederick & Loewenstein & O'Donoghue, 2002): people value a reward less the further away in time it is. At the time students were supposed to be using the wiki the assessment was over two months away.

In terms of the second most popular answer interviewee 6 said the following:

My group, I mean I know them all quite well, but they had stuff on at the time and getting them to actually do anything was quite difficult. I did write some stuff myself but when none of the others bothered I just gave up.

On making the reviews available to other students, interviewee 1 had this to say.

There are people out there who do nothing. Some of them turn up to seminars and all they do is write down the answers that the tutor or other students give. Why should I put effort in in order for them to read what I've written. [INTERVIEWER: do you object to sharing your work then?] I don't mind sharing with others if they share with me. Quite a few of us feel that we are being used by lecturers to teach other students, who just sit back and take without giving a thing. And they'll probably get good degrees at the end of it.

I explored the notion of exploitation by free riders in Reader (2007) which can undermine the whole idea of 'communities of enquiry'. Unless some mechanism is employed to reduce students feeling that others are profiting at their expense, some students will simply refuse to cooperate. This is an important point. As educators we sometimes assume that collaboration and ideas sharing 'just happen' at our behest. These data suggest that full collaboration and sharing might need special conditions to work effectively, including some method for dealing with free riders whether they are real or perceived. One way this could be done is by marks being allocated to individual students partly based on how much they have contributed. This is comparatively easy using wiki technology where each person's individual contribution to the document is recorded. Another way of doing this is to educate students in how to work in groups including delegation skills and how to deal with free riders. We might also permit students to levy sanctions of some kind against those who are perceived as not pulling their weight, although this does raise the possibility of undesirable conflict. Working in groups and dealing with the various problems of negotiation, delegation and free riding is in addition an important employability skill, and more attention should be devoted to encouraging students to work effectively in groups.

Finally many saw that wiki task as insufficient, 68% stated that they would have rather had face-to-face sessions as well (interviewee 3):

I just didn't feel supported. Abnormal psychology is really interesting and I really wanted to discuss some of these ideas with tutors. Discussing with other students is OK, but what do they know?

As peer learning (Anderson & Boud, 1996) is becoming increasingly popular, but we must recognise that, as well as the problems of free riding and non-participation described above, there is also the problem of knowledge reliability. If a student perceives knowledge as being potentially unreliable – for example it came from another student – it could well lead to their paying it little heed. Alternatively, paying attention to incorrect information could have an even more deleterious effect to an individual's learning. We in psychology – in common, no doubt, with many other departments – spend considerable time warning students about taking information posted on the Internet too seriously, while at the same time encouraging them to learn from each other! This is, of course, a misunderstanding of what peer learning is, but it is all too easy – as the above quotation demonstrates – for students to gain the impression that peer learning involves students acquiring imperfect content from each other rather than their learning the processes of negotiation, delegation, information search and so on.

The assessment task

The assessment task was more successful, although not all students liked it; 66% of students said that they would have preferred an essay. However student approval is not the only measure of effectiveness, despite this relatively low rating the majority of students (71%) believed that they had learned more as a result of writing the review than they would have done had they been assessed by a standard essay. Interviewee 5 said the following.

It was difficult. But I think that at the end of it I really learned something. With essays you know what you've got to do, what you've got to read and so on. With this I felt a bit lost at times but I did feel I learned a lot as a result.

However, Interviewee 3 gave a different response:

I hated it. It was really hard. I've never done this before and I didn't know what I was doing most of the time. [INTERVIEWER: did you ask anyone for help?] Yeah and that was useful. But when you hand an essay in you kind of know what you're going to get because you've done it before. With this I had no idea if it would even pass [it got a 2:1 in fact] which is stressful.

The questionnaire confirmed this stress (78% said that they found it harder than if it had been an essay) as, perhaps, did attendance at the revision session. I have run these before and rarely get more than about 20 or 30 students from a cohort of this size (especially when, as this was, the session was organised at a non-standard time). In total around 130 students attended the revision session I met about 30 students for one-on-one discussions (when usually I get one or two students) and received over 120 emails concerning the assessment. Students, it seems, were out of their comfort zone. Of course merely making students feel uncomfortable about the assessment task should not be taken as necessarily positive, one can imagine all manner of unfamiliar and unpleasant forms of assessment that are pedagogically valueless, the point is whether it was a useful learning experience. Although there is no objective data to answer this question, as was noted above, the majority felt that they had learned more. Finally one might ask why the task was seen to be so difficult; what is the difference between writing a review and an essay? There seem to be at least two differences. First was the unfamiliarity of the format. Most Level 5 students have a clear idea of the structure required for an essay, but they are less clear about what goes into a review. Second, and perhaps more pedagogically meaningful, writing a review requires students to have an in-depth understanding of the paper and the literature that it builds upon. It might also require that they use citation searches to find subsequent articles that build up (or critique) the target article. In short, successful review writing requires that students engage with the ideas and arguments presented in academic texts. In contrast, when answering traditional essay questions students can frequently find potted summaries of theoretical positions and critiques relevant to the question in textbooks and on the World Wide Web which makes their task easier. The approach of writing reviews as an assessment activity is probably inappropriate at Level 4, but at Levels 5 and (especially) 6 it represents a useful pedagogical tool to both assess knowledge and develop the critical faculties necessary for employment and future study.

Discussion

Participation is compromised by perceived value of the task.

We tried to add value to the wiki task my making its completion conspicuously support the assessment task. To a large extent the low participation rates indicates a partial failure in this goal. An obvious solution to this problem is to assess the wiki task, but do we want to go down the road of assessing everything with the concomitant increase in workload on students and staff alike. On the other hand, shouldn't good work be rewarded?

Don't overestimate the technical knowledge of the "internet generation"

It was surprising how few students knew what a wiki was. Most had heard of and used Wikipedia, but didn't realise that a wiki is a collaborative, editable web document. There were some problems familiarising students with the software. In retrospect face to face sessions teaching students how to use the software might have been beneficial.

Information sharing and other cooperative transactions are not always easy to foster

Educationalists sometimes seem the think that students will simply work with other students and share their ideas and research at the behest of the educator. The results from this study (and others see Reader, 2007) suggest that this might not be the case. If students believe that others are profiting by their hard work then they might not participate or keep their best ideas to themselves. Solving this problem is not easy. Research suggests that assigning each individual with a clearer role within the wiki task might have helped (Kraut, 2003). An easier way of solving this might have been for wikis to be populated by individuals not groups and for these to be private to the creator and tutor rather than available to everyone. The problem here is that 220 individual wikis would have been unmanageable and that it removes one of the points of the exercise: that people can learn from each other.

From this perspective the idea of a community of enquiry in education might be somewhat idealistic if some students conspicuously fail to pull their weight. It might be possible, but it would require special conditions to be present if all students contribute equally and maximally.

Does it matter that students hated the coursework?

My perception was that the coursework was beneficial to the students as it made them think more deeply about the subject matter than simply writing an essay – many of which can be quite superficial. Although students thought they learned from this task, many of them disliked it (see above). Personally I would rather a learning exercise be beneficial rather than popular, but maybe if the assessment task had been differently supported it might have been beneficial and more popular.

Blackboard's tools could be better

Blackboard's wiki tool has much of the functionality that you would expect from this type of software but accessing the wiki isn't straightforward. If a student wants to check whether another student has contributed to their joint wiki, or wants to check whether a tutor has commented he or she needs to go through a time consuming and effortful process. They must log onto Blackboard (which can take some time), access the appropriate module, click on the wiki tool, click on their seminar group and then click on their individual group. At busy times this can take over a minute. After a few checks to find that no-one has contributed, it would not be surprising if students stopped checking. In short access needs to be faster with, ideally, the students being informed – either by email, RSS or other facility - that someone has contributed. The Blackboard wiki tool also doesn't support discussion. There are discussion lists but these are located elsewhere in the Blackboard environment meaning more mouseclicks and more wasted time as the user navigates from wiki to discussion tool and back. The interface of Wikipedia is more conducive to supporting discussion as to what should, and shouldn't, be included in the wiki itself. One can flip from the emerging wiki document to the discussion simply by a single mouse-click on the tabs at the top of the page. An educational tool such as the open source Elgg permits users to engage more easily in collaborative discussion while creating a wiki, it also contains other Web 2.0 facilities such as the ability to add and communicate with 'friends', better integration of other media within the wiki (such as video and audio) and other facilities such as instant messaging, document sharing and so on.

Conclusions: lessons learned

As I mentioned above, I have deliberately shied away from trying to define autonomy in any concrete way, rather I have considered what psychology students should be able to do and what kinds of activities might support them in this goal. I have one further reflection on autonomy and it is that the word seems to evoke a mental image of someone doing something on their own. It should not be overlooked, however, that part of being autonomous is to work successfully as part of a group, to be driven by others when necessary but also to reflect upon your particular role within the group, the direction in which the group is heading and the contributions of the other members. Part of the message of this article is that we need to explore ways in which collaboration and cooperation among learners can be facilitated so that the students can reap the benefits of group work and appreciate its importance both in terms of discipline-specific knowledge and the generic skills seen as so important by potential employers.

References

Anderson, G. & Boud, D. (1996). Extending the role of peer learning in university courses. Research and Development in Higher Education, 19, pp. 15-19.

Benson, P. & Voller, P. (1997). Autonomy and Independence in Language Learning. London: Longman.

Brookfield, S. (1987). Developing critical thinkers: challenging adults to explore alternative ways of thinking and acting. San Francisco: Jossey Bass

Buysse, V., Sparkman, K. L., & Wesley, P. W. (2003). Communities of practice: Connecting what we know with what we do. Exceptional Children, 69(3), 263-277.

Dennett, D.C. (2000). Making tools for thinking. In D. Sperber, (Ed.). Metarepresentations: A Multidisciplinary Perspective. Oxford University Press, USA.

Frederick, S., Loewenstein, G., & O'Donoghue, T. (2002). Time discounting and time preference a critical review. Journal of Economic Literature, XL, 351-401.

Kraut, R.E. (2003). Applying social psychological theory to the problems of group work. In J. Carroll (Ed.). HCI Models, Theories and Frameworks: Toward A Multidisciplinary Science (p. 325-356). New York: Morgan Kaufman.

Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press

Metcalfe, J. (2002). Is study time allocated selectively to a region of proximal learning? Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 131(3) 349-363.

Reader, W.R., & Payne, S.J. (2007). Allocating time across multiple texts: Sampling and satisficing. Human Computer Interaction, 22(3), 263-298.

Scardamalia, M., & Bereiter, C. (1994). Computer support for knowledge-building communities. The Journal of the Learning Sciences, 3(3), 265-283.

Schon, D. A. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action. Basic Books.

Schon, D. A. (1987). Educating the Reflective Practitioner: Toward a New Design for Teaching and Learning in the Professions. Jossey-Bass.

Son, L. K., & Metcalfe, J. (2000). Metacognitive and control strategies in study-time allocation. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning Memory and Cognition, 26(1), 204-221.

Thiede, K. W., & Dunlosky, J. (1999). Toward a general model of self-regulated study: An analysis of selection of items for study and self-paced study time. Journal of Experimental Psychology-Learning: Memory and Cognition, 25(4), 1024-1037.

Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of Practice. Learning as a social system, Systems Thinker, http://www.co-i-l.com/coil/knowledge-garden/cop/lss.shtml. Accessed April 22, 2007.

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

Improving Maths self-confidence and Maths thinking skills John Reidy (J.Reidy@shu.ac.uk) Psychology Section Faculty of Development & Society Sheffield Hallam University

Abstract

The current project aims to increase level 4 psychology students' self-confidence at maths and their ability to think about basic mathematical concepts. The aim was to achieve this through the use of study guides which explained basic mathematics concepts along with exercises to enable students to practice thinking about these concepts. These additional resources were designed to be delivered to students via the Blackboard virtual learning environment.

Two cohorts of students have recently completed a set of baseline measurements, including measures of enjoyment of mathematics, maths self-confidence, and statistics anxiety. Additionally students completed an assessment of their mathematical abilities in six key areas. The first two of the study guides and associated assessments were released to one cohort of students, with some positive feedback on their utility.

Introduction

It has become increasingly apparent that students undertaking the BSc Psychology often struggle with the statistics component of the course. Research Methods and Statistics teaching forms a core area of the British Psychological Society (BPS) accredited psychology awards. As a result, all students wishing to gain a BPS degree are required to undertake introductory courses in statistics. However, students often come to the course lacking confidence in their mathematical ability and hence feel considerable anxiety and stress as a result of undertaking the research methods modules.

There is a growing literature concerning statistics anxiety which has been defined by Onwegbuzie *et al.* (1997) as an anxiety when encountering statistics in any form at any level. It has been proposed by Cruise & Wilkins (1980) that statistics anxiety has six components, namely worth of statistics, interpretation anxiety, test and class anxiety, computational self-concept, fear of asking for help, and fear of statistics teachers. This model of statistics anxiety was recently supported by the modelling analyses reported by Hanna, Shevlin and Dempster (2005). Onwegbuzie and Wilson (2003) have provided a good review of the factors related to statistics anxiety. They highlight research by Zeidner (1991) which showed that key factors related to statistics anxiety were prior experience of mathematics teaching as well as maths self-confidence. Onwuegbuzie & Wilson (2003) have also suggested that prior experience of mathematics was important in predicting levels of statistics anxiety, and thus engagement with learning in statistics modules. On a related note, some recent research by Mulhern and Wylie (2005) has demonstrated that students starting

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

psychology undergraduate courses are often ill-equipped to deal with the statistical component of the course. In their study they examined the students' mathematical abilities in six key areas, including estimation, interpreting graphs, probabilities, proportions, calculations and algebra. They found that the students from a variety of UK higher education institutions particularly lacked skills relevant to understanding probability, proportions and numerical estimation. It is apparent that if the students see themselves as lacking in key mathematical skills, then this is likely to have a significant impact upon their statistics anxiety, and their confidence when confronted with the statistics component of their undergraduate courses.

One of the main recommendations from the work of researchers like Onwuegbuzie is that we need to pay close attention to how we design statistics courses to ensure that we do not exacerbate students' levels of statistics anxiety. One specific recommendation is to avoid asking students to calculate statistics by hand. Farbey & Roberts (1981) have shown that students who are required to calculate statistics by hand experience high levels of anxiety, and this is particularly the case for difficult statistical problems. Interestingly, Seabrook (2006) has demonstrated that students who undertake courses which do not require hand calculations attain higher levels of skills in statistical analyses than students who are required to do hand calculations. They also had higher attainment levels.

It should be noted that the research methods training provided to undergraduate BSc Psychology students at Sheffield Hallam University does not involve hand calculations as the aim is for students to gain a conceptual understanding of the statistical techniques covered. However, there are still very high levels of statistics anxiety among our students and this has an impact upon their willingness to engage with the materials and activities presented in the laboratory classes. It is with this in mind that the current project was designed to provide students with positive mathematics experiences, and to try to improve their self-confidence in dealing with mathematical concepts.

Aims and objectives

The aim of the project was to develop online resources to help improve maths selfconfidence skills in dealing with mathematical concepts. In order to do this the plan was to develop:

- Online study guides
- Online self-test assessments
- Online feedback discussion board

The online resources were made available through the level 4 research methods and statistics module Blackboard site (see Figure 1 for example).

Centre for Promoting Learner Autonomy



Figure 1. Screenshot illustrating the availability of the student resources via Blackboard.

Method

At the start of the academic year students were provided with an overview of the resources as well as an online guide to their use. The students were also asked to complete a maths skills test along with some psychometric measures of their mathematics anxiety, maths selfconfidence and the general levels of anxiety (trait anxiety). These were to be baseline measures implemented in order to appropriately evaluate the usefulness of the online resources provided for the students.

The study guides were designed to provide students with a basic overview of key mathematical concepts. For example, the first study guide covers some very basic characteristics of numbers. The intention here is not to teach students anything new about number theory but to refresh their memory's for what they had previously learnt and to help them practice thinking about these basic mathematical concepts. As students progressed through the year more study guides were released to link in with the statistical concepts being covered as part of the core statistics module.

It was intended that there would be a number of self-assessments delivered via Blackboard where students can test their understanding of the concepts introduced in each guide. The self-assessment tasks were designed to enable students to undertake them as many times as necessary. The aim was to get the students to think actively about the mathematical concepts. The difficulty levels of the assessments are tailored to ensure that the students

experience success rather than failure. The intention with these self-assessment was to help students appreciate the mathematics skills that they have and to gradually build their confidence.

Built in to the project design were specific means of providing evaluation of the effectiveness of the study guides and accompanying only assessments. At the start of the semester students completed a number of self-report measures. Given the project aimed to improve self-confidence in dealing with mathematical concepts it was important to measure these abilities prior to students being given any statistics teaching and before release of the new study guides. Thus, in the first week of teaching (in the first year) the following variables were measured:

- Maths Skills Test (based upon work by Mulhern & Wylie, 2005). This consists of 18 questions measuring six key mathematical skills identified by Mulhern & Wylie. The questions are designed to measure Calculations, Proportions, Algebra, Probability, Interpreting Graphs, and Estimation.
- Mathematics & Technology Attitudes Scale (MTAS, Pierce *et al.*, 2007). The MTAS is a 20 items questionnaire measuring a number of aspects of attitudes to mathematics. The subscale of interest for the current project is the one measuring mathematics self-confidence. This consists of four items rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 'Strongly disagree to Strongly agree'. The minimum score on this scale is 4 and the maximum is 20. High scores on this questionnaire indicate high levels of mathematics self-confidence.
- Statistics Anxiety Ratings Scale (STARS, Cruise & Wilkins 1980). The STARS is a 51 items questionnaire measuring six components of statistics anxiety. There is a growing literature which suggests that statistics anxiety is a major barrier to learning in undergraduate research methods and statistics courses and thus it is intended to determine the degree to which the use of the study guides has a positive impact on levels of reported statistics anxiety.

Enjoyment of maths as measured by a 100mm visual analogue scale. The anchors for this scale were 'I hate maths' and 'I love maths'. This item on the battery of questionnaires was inserted as a matter or interest to see if there are any relationships with other variables in the study.

It was proposed that students would be reassessed on these measures at the end of their first year to establish any differences between baseline and year end. Analyses would have also investigated the possibility that any reductions in anxiety, or increases in self-confidence in mathematics are related to engagement with the study guides.

A facility was also provided for students to feedback to the tutor regarding the study guides. A discussion board was set up in Blackboard to enable students to post anonymous feedback about the resources that they have used. This allowed for continuous evaluation of the utility of the resources from the student perspective. It was also designed to provide valuable suggestions as to the most effective means of improving the resources.

Assessment and Teaching Practice

It was intended that the impact of the additional materials on student attainment would be evaluated through analyses of those who utilised the resources compared to those who did not. In any such analyses there would need to be some means of controlling for prior levels of self-confidence in mathematics and also prior levels of skill in mathematics as indicated by scores on the maths skills test. This should allow for some evaluation of the impact upon learning of the study guides. In this analysis use could also be made of the data collected in the current year when the baseline measures were taken but the study guides were not released. We should be able to compare the impact on assessment this year compared to that next year and this would allow us greater confidence in conclusions we may draw concerning the impact of the study guides themselves.

Current Status of the Project

Unfortunately, the project has not moved along as quickly as would have been expected. Currently one cohort of students have been evaluated in terms of the baseline data and have had access to two of the study guides. It was intended that six study guides be developed and made available to students. The project is thus still only in the initial stages and there is not really enough progress for a thorough evaluation of the impact of the study guides. The analyses presented here thus should be treated with some caution given its very preliminary nature.

Preliminary Evaluation

Preliminary analysis of some baseline data has been undertaken but this has not progressed very far at this stage.

The analyses of the responses to the Maths Skill Test suggested that the cohort of students were weakest in the performance for the probability questions and the proportions questions. In addition, they struggled somewhat on the third of the algebra questions. These findings are remarkably consistent with those of published by Mulhern and Wylie (2005). The findings from this initial cohort of students are illustrated in Figure 2.

It is quite clear from these analyses that students come to their statistics training at undergraduate level with some considerable weaknesses in terms of the mathematical skills. This is particularly evident when we consider their ability to understand probabilities. This is a critical finding given the central role probability plays in statistical reasoning.



Figure 2. Percentage of correct responses for each item on the Maths Skills Test

It is also interesting to note that the students reported only moderate levels of selfconfidence in mathematics ability. The mean for the self-confidence in mathematics subscale of the TMAS was 11.55 (sd = 3.29), which according to the guidelines from the authors of the questionnaire (Pierce et al., 2007) would represent moderate to low levels of selfconfidence (see Figure 3 below). There would thus be quite a bit of scope for helping students at the bottom of the scale of self-confidence.



Figure 3. Distribution of scores for Maths Self-Confidence

CPLA Case Studies: Volume 1

The means and standard deviations for responses to the maths enjoyment scale and the six subscales of the STARS questionnaire are presented in Table 1. These show that...

Table 1. The means and standard deviations for the maths enjoyment scale and the subscales of the Statistics Anxiety Ratings Scale (STARS).

		STARS subscales					
Scale	Enjoymen	Test	Interpretatio	Fear of	Worth of	Computatio	Fear of
	t of maths	and	n anxiety	asking for	statistics	nal self-	statistics
		Class		help		concept	teachers
		anxiety					
Mean	37.40	25.58	30.25	8.30	37.64	18.80	10.60
SD	22.47	5.98	7.26	3.10	9.89	5.83	3.55

The mean for enjoyment of maths suggests that the students generally had only low to moderate levels of enjoyment of maths. The visual analogue scale was 10 cm long and the mean mark was 37.4 mm from the 'I hate maths' anchor, perhaps suggesting that the students disliked maths more than they enjoyed it.

In terms of the STARS subscales a comparison with previous research (Hanna et al., 2008) suggests that the current cohort scores are similar to other UK undergraduate psychology students on test and class anxiety, interpretation anxiety and the fear of asking for help. However, this cohort scored considerably lower than the large sample examined by Hanna et al. (2008) in terms of worth of statistics, computational self-concept and fear of statistics teachers.

Conclusions

It is rather disappointing that the project has not moved on from the initial stages of the development and implementation of the first study guides. As suggested above the intention was to generate at least six study guides to be released at specific intervals during the students first year of study. Currently only two of the study guides have been written and made available to students. It was also envisaged that a follow-up assessment of the students would occur towards the end of the teaching year to assess changes in self-confidence in mathematics, statistics anxiety and the six key areas of analytical skills in mathematics. Given the limited progress made on developing the study guides this follow-up assessment has not taken place.

Despite the limited progress on the project the initial verbal feedback from students has been positive and it is anticipated that other work commitments will now allow a full implementation of the study guides and associated resources in the next academic year. This will allow for a much fuller evaluation of the project which will then guide future developments. It was interesting that a considerable number of students (approaching 30%) accessed the first year study guides. It is evident that the students are demonstrating here a notable level of learner autonomy. When introducing the project to the students they were informed of the purpose of the resources and that they were to use these as and when they felt they needed help. It was also made clear to students that there was no content directly relevant to the statistics modules in these study guides. The degree of uptake of the initial resources by students suggests that the students are actively thinking about their numerical skills and actively doing something to support their own learning. The fact that many students used the initial study guides suggests that they are happy to use appropriate resources to enhance their abilities to undertake the study of core material for the modules. This is a very promising finding from the perspective of promoting learner autonomy. It should be noted, however, there is no evidence to suggest that students accessing the study guides in Blackboard are engaging with it in any meaningful way.

One of the positive outcomes from being involved with the project is realisation that there is considerable interest in supporting students in their numerical and mathematical developments across the higher education sector. I have been fortunate to be in communication with researchers/lecturers in other institutions who are developing resources along similar lines to those being generated in this project (e.g. the Centre for Excellence in Mathematics and Statistics Support based at the Loughborough University and Coventry University). Perhaps the key difference here at Sheffield Hallam University is that the guides currently being developed are more basic than those that have been developed elsewhere. The emphasis of the current project is on reactivating mathematical/numerical concepts which students have previously mastered but may have forgotten or which through practice may have become non-conscious. Thus the aim has been to illustrate to students how much they already know and make the links between this knowledge and their methods/statistics course more explicit, thereby improving the students' self-confidence.

References

Cruise, R.J. & Wilkins, E.M. (1980). STARS: Statistics Anxiety Ratings Scale. Unpublished manuscript, Andrews University, Berrien Springs, MI.

Farbey, L.J. & Roberts, D.M. (1981). The effect of calculator usage and task difficulty on state anxiety in solving statistical problems. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Los Angeles, CA, April.

Hanna, D., Shevlin, M. & Dempster, M. (2008). The structure of the statistics anxiety rating scale: A confirmatory factor analysis using UK psychology students. Personality and Individual Differences, 45, 68-74.

Mulhern, G. & Wylie, J. (2005). Assessing numeracy and other mathematical skills in psychology students as a basis for learning statistics. Mini-project for the HEA Psychology Network.

Onwegbuzie, A.J., Daros, D. & Ryan, J. (1997) The components of statistics anxiety: a phenomenological study, Focus on Learning Problems in Mathematics, 19(4), 11–35.

Onwegbuzie, A.J. & Wilson, J.A. (2003). Statistics Anxiety: nature, etiology, antecedents, effect, and treatments – a comprehensive review of the literature. Teaching in Higher Education, 8, 195-209.

Pierce, R., Stacey, K. & Barkatsas, A. (2007). A scale for monitoring students' attitudes to learning mathematics with technology. Computers & Education, 48, 285-300.

Seabrook, R. (2005). Is the teaching of statistical calculations helpful to students' statistical thinking? Psychology Learning and Teaching, 5, 153-161.

Zeidner, M. (1991). Statistics and mathematics anxiety in social science students- some interesting parallels. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 61,319-328.

Developing Learner Autonomy through the production of a Public History Resource EMMA ROBERTSON (E.ROBERTSON@SHU.AC.UK)

DEPARTMENT OF HUMANITIES Sheffield Hallam university

Module Title: Northern Soul: Constructions of Regional Identity in the North of England, 1850-1980

Level of module: History Level 6 (Third Year Undergraduate)

Support team: Keith Radley (Learning and Teaching Institute), Richard Mather (Learning and Teaching Institute), John Tanner (Barnsley Museums)

Abstract:

In this project, level six history students on the optional module 'Northern Soul: Constructions of Regional Identity in the North of England, 1850-1980' were asked to create their own standalone public history resource. They were required to incorporate a multimedia element and to work with primary sources in some form. The project was supported by workshop sessions and involved members of Learning and Teaching Institute (LTI) staff as well as a public history professional (John Tanner of Barnsley Museums). The intention was to encourage student autonomy, to facilitate 'deep' learning through creativity, cater for different learning styles, and to enhance self-confidence as well as employability.

Background and rationale:

As a new lecturer I was keen to develop skills incorporating digital communication technologies, in keeping with SHU's Digital Fluency agenda. Using media resources, I wanted to encourage an autonomous student learning approach which would enhance subject knowledge as well as individual self-esteem and employability. Through discussions with Keith Radley (LTI) there were clear connections with his 'Inspirational Learning' methodology, which was already being developed in other subject areas and faculties. The pedagogy behind the project was also influenced by a similar project at UCLAN in which history students successfully created their own community history resource.

Teaching Practice

Organisation:

The module ran over 12 weeks in the second semester, with 29 students enrolled. There was a one hour lecture for all students, and they were then split into two seminar groups, each one and a half hours long. Essentially, the module was divided in half, with the first 6 weeks devoted to the 'taught' part and the second devoted to the development of student projects. There was a museum visit in week 7, which was intended to allow students to

engage with public histories of working life in the north, before attempting their own projects.

Content and teaching practice:

Lectures: The lectures in the first six weeks aimed to give students a broad overview of the key themes of the module, which would both inform the content of their first piece of assessment (an essay) but which would also give them a solid foundation from which to develop their own group projects. Lectures included an interactive element to encourage students to engage in a collaborative active learning process, rather than passive observation. For example, in the first week, they were asked to physically move to an area of the room designated as either 'north', 'south' or 'midlands', leading to a discussion of how they identified themselves as individuals. This proved an excellent way of getting students involved and invested in the module content, as they related the course topic to their existing perceptions of self and regional identity.

Seminars: Topics introduced in lectures were explored further in the seminar sessions from weeks 1-6. The students were asked to provide primary sources (such as images of northern landscapes) as discussion material, albeit supplemented by material from the tutor to ensure that all key aspects of the topic were covered. They then discussed these in small groups before we reconvened as a full seminar group to discuss. They used worksheets as guidance, which typically asked each group to focus on a different question. I asked students to rearrange the tables and chairs so that the group was in a square/ rectangle (or a circle where space permitted), rather than in rows. This was effective in stimulating group discussion, and I moved around so as to try not to be the focal point of the discussion. I also used questions to encourage students to elaborate on their answers. The seminars scored very highly in student evaluations of the module, with many students citing these as the most effective part of the course in developing their understanding of the module content.

Workshops: The seminars from week 8-12 were a chance for students to get together with their team members. I did, however, include some more structured activities. Following a lecture on 'The Language of Television' which focused on how to present visual material to audiences, students were asked to practice constructing their own 'storyboard' for a short film. They then spent some time brainstorming project ideas, with tutors on hand to facilitate discussion of how these could best be realised in a multi-media format. The following week, we visited the Graves Gallery and Local Studies Library, where students researched the availability of sources to support their projects. In week 10, there was a discussion of regeneration and public history, to follow a lecture on this topic by John Tanner (from Barnsley Museums Service). The students were also given an opportunity to share work in progress with the seminar group, and to gain useful feedback from their peers. Week 11 was held in the Adsetts Centre, where groups were able to borrow laptops and work on their projects with support from the module team. The intention was to break out of the classroom setting and students used the opportunity for technical troubleshooting. The final week was a last-minute drop-in, which was relatively poorly attended (it was the day before dissertation hand-in!).
Public History Project and Peer Collaboration: The first lecture introduced the assessment for the module, and Keith Radley explained to students how they might want to use film for their public history project. I then outlined some of the key concepts of the module. In the initial seminars, I asked the students to arrange themselves into project teams and to choose a name for their team. This was intended to give the groups a sense of collective identity and ownership of the project, as well as encouraging them to start thinking about possible projects and approaches from an early stage. Groups were encouraged to collaborate in bringing materials to seminars, although this had limited success.

The group projects really took shape from week 7, supported by lecture sessions on 'the language of television', managing large files, regeneration and drop-in support. As described above, the seminar sessions were a time for students to work on their project and give updates to the rest of the group, as well as to receive any technical support necessary.

Different Learning Environments: The end of the tutor-facilitated sessions culminated with a trip to the National Coal Mining Museum of England in Wakefield. This trip was funded by the CETL grant and thus was free to all students. For many students, this was a great experience, particularly going underground with a former miner as a guide. One commented that he would now have a completely different understanding of the film, Kes, on which he had written his first essay. We were able to meet with one of the curators, who gave a very interesting talk on the shift from a 'Yorkshire' to a national mining museum. One student used this opportunity to arrange further volunteer experience at the museum. I did not take a very hands-on approach once we reached the museum, although I did provide handouts with questions to fill in. On reflection, I needed to find some time – and space - during the day to get everyone together. As the mining trip had to be done in two groups, it was difficult to get everyone together again before the curator's talk and although I had hoped to do this on the coach, it was difficult to do so effectively.

I would certainly plan to include a museum trip in the future but I would want to use this more effectively to get students to engage with the 'public history' element of the assessment and the module overall. For anyone planning to take students off-site, there are a number of considerations – mainly relating to health and safety. A lot of time was spent collecting in permissions forms etc. and getting forms signed off by managers. These forms are not easy to find – it's best to start on the faculty intranet.

Virtual Learning Environments: Group work was supported by dedicated group spaces on Blackboard. However, my impression was that these were not very widely used. I did see one entry on a group discussion board, but with no reply. The limitations of the university email system and VLE may well have something to do with this, and students preferred to use their own methods of communication (such as mobile phones or other email accounts). However, to make spaces such as discussion boards work, I would need to incorporate them more clearly into the module – perhaps setting an initial question for group discussion, with some marks attached. I am not convinced of the necessity to do so, however, if students are successfully managing their communications by other means.

Assessment

The assessment for the module was 100% coursework as follows:

- Essay (40%) due in week 5
- Group Project (30%) due in week 13
- Individual Project Report (30%) due in week 14.

The intention was to give 60% overall to the public history project, but limiting the percentage given to the group mark (which is often the cause of dispute and tension among students). However, I will certainly rethink the weighting for next year. The essay comes early in the module and was therefore a challenge for many students (yet has the highest individual weighting). As an aside, the lack of books for the module proved particular problematic this year. The group project, however, was very demanding of students' time and they reported in evaluation that they felt this was not recognised in the 30% mark. The final piece of assessment was relatively short (at 1500 words) and again seemed to have a disproportionately high percentage of the module mark. For the individual report, it would be justifiable to ask students to write rather more – by including a self assessment of their learning on the module and a learning journal. However, I plan to increase the project mark to 40% and to decrease the first essay mark to 30%.

I found it very helpful (though daunting and time consuming) to produce relatively detailed guides on requirements and marking criteria for each piece of assessment. This was particularly important for the public history project. Although these guides were put onto Blackboard and handed out for discussion, some students required further clarification nearer the time. For those students who had normally done well at writing standard essays, they felt less comfortable with the requirements of the project and wanted to include more academic literature. As some students were also familiar with a model of assessment which asks for a self-reflection and learning diary following a project, they were also confused by the need to include secondary literature in the project report.

I was pleased that no students fell into the trap of colluding with team members for their individual project reports. They all managed to write intelligently about their projects as individuals. However, I did stress this as a 'health warning' via email and on Blackboard prior to the deadline.

Evaluation

The module was evaluated on a number of levels. I completed a brief evaluation half way through the module using questionnaires. I then asked students to complete an end-of-module questionnaire. Some students also volunteered to take part in focus groups which explored the group project in particular. As Keith Radley was interested in their experiences of using digital media as a learning aid, he also asked students to take part in brief evaluation sessions.

As students got immersed in, and came towards the end of their projects, some of them really began to develop as autonomous learners. Some were tenacious in finding primary sources and people to interview, and took the initiative to contact outside bodies to help them. I was particularly impressed with their approach to the more challenging technical problems of producing a public history document. One group had taken advantage of the Apple editing suites and were engaged in instant messaging with the support staff. They had clearly learnt a great deal about putting together a film, and about working with large media files.

The public history projects themselves were, on the whole, a great success. Although the projects themselves did not always demonstrate a particular sophisticated understanding of the issues, from conversations with students afterwards, and from the individual reports they produced, the process of producing the projects had taught them a great deal about researching and producing a professional project. The deeper understanding sometimes came after the project was complete, as they were asked to link their research to wider reading. One group confessed that they had realised the weakness of their argument in doing so! Where I had imagined the project and the secondary research to go hand-in-hand, this had not been the student approach overall. The project thus becomes part of a process towards becoming an autonomous learner, rather than perhaps an end in itself. Nevertheless, the project had a clear impact on the self-confidence of a number of students to tackle something completely new and in a medium other than the standard essay. The tangible learning outcomes of this clearly connect to employability skills that the students can demonstrate to future employers. This was something that the students commented on in the interviews, as their graduation and the need to find employment was only a month or two away. By their third year, they had already amassed considerable experience in writing essays, yet they realised that this skill would perhaps not be the most desirable one for the prospective employers.

Conclusions

The public history project had a definite impact (evidenced by student evaluations and grades awarded) on the student learning experience in terms of:

- Allowing students creative control over a project and ownership of the final product
- Enhancing digital fluency
- Developing self-confidence (particularly in meeting new challenges, learning new skills and, for some, working with people outside the university)
- Encouraging genuine peer collaboration (particularly for the film projects, which were difficult to divide into discrete tasks)
- Limiting the reliance on the main tutor and encouraging independence (as the tutor was neither an expert on their chosen topics nor on the technology being used)

The project itself was not the 'end' of the learning. In some ways the demands of the medium chosen limited more detailed engagement with the module content. By asking students to write an accompanying report, they were then able to place their research into a

wider context and to see its limitations. They were faced with original material to analyse, which gave them greater ownership and investment in their reports. The process of compiling the projects, even where they encountered problems, was a more 'real-world' experience of actually doing history.

The majority of students put in a great deal of hard work into their projects, with impressive results. It was rewarding to see those who are less successful in 'traditional' essays, being able to demonstrate different skills.

These kinds of projects are very time consuming for the students and consideration needs to be given to clashes with other modules.

Different learning environments can shift the relationship between staff and students towards something more collaborative e.g. the mining museum trip and the workshop session in the Adsetts Centre.

Recommendations

I would definitely recommend the use of multi-media with humanities students. It gives many of them much-needed confidence with the type of technologies they may come across in the workplace but it is also a way of engaging them in the historical material being taught. The public history element challenged them to communicate their ideas in a different, but no less rigorous, way than a standard essay. This added real diversity of assessment which could then cater to a wider range of learning styles.

In future years it will be invaluable to have access to existing student work from the module. This will give students a much clearer idea of what is expected of them. I intend to keep the involvement of support staff from the Learning Teaching Institute. Their technical knowledge was crucial and they also gave students of working with staff from outside the history team. The museum trip was also an element of the module I hope to keep but to develop more clearly as a teaching aid to issues in public history, by spending more time evaluating the impact of the visit with the students during and immediately after the event.

Although there were a few tensions within groups – mainly with people not attending – these were not as widespread as I have experienced in other modules. I think as a final semester module, students would rather simply get on with the project themselves. However, I would like to make the group work a more central part of the module from the early weeks, perhaps through small group exercises to get them working on their projects at an earlier stage – this material could then be assessed as part of a project file.

Appendix 1: Feedback from students

This evaluation refers to the second part of the module where you were learning through producing a public history resource (e.g. film, wiki, booklet). For the purposes of this questionnaire, this will be referred to as 'the activity'. (*The tick in the right-hand side grid shows the median response from the students.*)

For each statement, tick one box to indicate your response as follows:

1 = strongly agree

2 = agree

- 3 = neither agree or disagree
- 4 = disagree
- 5 = strongly disagree

Statement		1	2	3	4	5
During the activity, I was given opportunities to pursue my own research interests						
The lecturer focused more on encouraging me to find information than on giving me the facts						
The activity was more about analysing and evaluating information than it was about memorising it						
I now feel I am better able to find information from different sources						
I am more confident in my ability to evaluate the information I have found						
I needed a lot of support from staff in this activity					I	
I found my fellow team members to be helpful in my learning						
I didn't need to apply anything I learned in the first part of the module					I	
I feel I am better able to work in a team as a result of this activity						
I felt confident in communicating with external organisations/members of the public						
I felt I was able to take more responsibility for my own learning						
I enjoyed the opportunity to be creative in the project work						
The group worked well to overcome any difficulties or problems we encountered						

I found the activity challenging			
I learnt more from creating this resource than from writing an essay			
I feel more confident in my ability to solve problems			
I felt a sense of control over the development of the project			
I developed my skills in using digital media			
The staff gave me the technical support I needed to produce a public history resource			
I am now more confident in using information technology			

I would like to find out in a little more detail what you thought of the module as a whole and also how you feel your own learning has developed over the last 12 weeks. This should help you to think about your own skills development – useful when putting together job applications! Please add a comment to follow the introductory statements. (*Feedback from the students below*)

The thing I found most interesting was.....

The visit to the mining museum, for the first time I visited the museum thinking about how history is displayed to the public. Thinking this way allowed me to understand why certain items were placed in certain locations, and why the trip down the mine was not just about being down a mine, but by interacting with a real miner in a real mine displayed the history more clearly that it would have, had the information been written down and a few items on show in the museum.

The thing that most changed the way I learned was.....

Two things, firstly the lectures. The lectures offered new ideas to my existing preconceptions regarding the north of England and northernness. The lecture on how important sport was to the region or how dialect was such an important feature of regional identity that has faded with time and migration. Secondly, the visit to the museum, the visit showed me that museum do not just display the information, but they display it in a certain way, they attempt to tell a story. The visit changed my thinking about viewing the museum, instead of just seeing the information displayed in the museum I now looked at how that information is displayed to the public, and what message is it trying to give, does it focus on certain areas but not others, is it interactive, and is it useful to the public.

What made learning most effective for me was....

The seminars. The seminars allowed me to work in a group and that allowed me to get other peoples views on the topics that we were discussing. Other people's views did give me more than one perspective, and enabled me to develop my understanding of certain subjects.

The thing I found most difficult was....

The group project, this was the first time that I had to produce a wiki or a video presentation, and trying to decide which my group was going to do was difficult. Then once we had decided on using a wiki and having decided on our topic, finding and using the materials necessary proved difficult.

To help me to develop my transferable skills, what I need to work on is....

Being more open minded to different perspectives, and not just think that what I think is correct. Other peoples points of view can be equally important and equally correct, and in some cases more so. I also need to use different means of presenting my work, the project was the first time that I had used a wiki to produce a project and I found it to be very useful and very good to use, and I believe that the video presentation would have been equally interesting to use.

Finally, please rate the following parts of the module according to how useful you found them (with 1 as very useful, 3 as undecided and 5 as not at all useful). If you did not attend, please tick n/a. (*Ticks indicate the median score from the students.*)

	1	2	3	4	5	n/a
Lectures		I				
Seminars (weeks 1-6)		I				
Mining Museum trip	Ι					
Local Studies Library trip			Ι			
Lecture on regeneration				Ι		
Project support sessions		I				

Appendix 2: Project planning documents; assessment guidelines and criteria

Northern Soul: Group project assessment task

Task:

To work as a team to design and produce a piece of public history relating to the theme of 'northernness'.

Your public history resource should include the following elements:

- Primary source material
- Explanation/ interpretation of this source material as suited to a general audience
- An element of multi-media/ digital technology (e.g. film, website, PDF booklet)

Additional information:

- The resource should be suitable for consumption by the general public (or a section of the general public e.g. children)
- It should be presented in a suitably professional manner (i.e. spell-checked, consistent layout, appropriate use of images and text to engage the audience, no elements left unfinished)
- You need to work effectively as a team and keep appropriate records of team activities (e.g. meetings).

Northern Soul Assessment Task 2

Group Project

Please complete the following form for next week, to assist you in planning your public history resource around the general topic of 'Sheffield/ South Yorkshire: a typically northern place?'

- Group members/ team name:
- Subject chosen:
- How the subject relates to the module themes:
- Possible primary sources available (and where to find them):
- How do you hope to use multi-media/ digital resources?
- Training you may need?

Northern Soul Assessment Task 2 - Standalone Public History Resource (30%)

Just to provide some further clarification:

Think of your public history resource as something which might be used within a museum context/ in an exhibition space e.g. a short film or presentation which could run on an AV screen; an interactive exhibit which could work on PCs in a museum; a booklet or online wiki which people could browse through. It needs to be a standalone project - i.e. you will not necessarily be around to explain it.

I am testing your ability to communicate ideas in history to a wider audience - so both the content and the form of your resource will be assessed. However, the content will not be the same as for an academic essay - this type of content belongs in the accompanying report and reflection.

You will not be required to formally present this assessment in an oral presentation, but I am hoping to hold a showcase event on the day of submission where everyone can watch the completed films, look at any booklets etc. The assessment will be submitted electronically via Blackboard (unless you make alternative arrangements with me).

I will be assessing you on the following 'pass' criteria (i.e. these are the basic requirements):

Content:

- The project is based on a degree of independent research into local/regional history.
- Some relevant primary historical sources are identified and used appropriately.
- The project demonstrates some engagement with one or more of the module themes.
- Some explanation/ interpretation has been provided to encourage a public history audience to engage with issues of local/regional identity.

Presentation:

- The format and presentation of the project is generally appropriate for communicating with a public history audience (appropriate use of images, text, sound etc).
- Technology used suits the context and purposes of public history.
- Methods and technology to produce the finished project have generally been used accurately and correctly.
- Main conventions of written/spoken English and/or visual presentation are followed correctly. Communications are mainly clear and understandable.
- The project demonstrates evidence of some planning and has been completed on time to the basic required standard.
- On the whole the group has worked well together as a team to achieve the aims of the project.

N.B. As with all history assessments, you must make sure you follow the correct referencing conventions where you use other source materials (including from the internet etc). In this particular project, you will need to have considered and adhered to any restrictions on copyright.

To achieve the higher marks, projects will have been carefully planned and put together, with evidence of some creativity and originality. They will communicate well with their intended audience to encourage real engagement with issues about local/regional identity and/or ideas and stereotypes of northernness.

Professional Learning Week Simulation Anthony Rosie Division of Applied Social Sciences Sheffield Hallam University

If you want creative workers, give them enough time to play (John Cleese)

Abstract

Professional Learning Week (PLW) involved a five day simulation exercise with students on social science courses who participated in a consultancy exercise. It was introduced in March 2007. The exercise used relational autonomy approaches based on the subjects studied by the students. Relational autonomy refers to a move beyond individualistic approaches to autonomy towards a recognition of the value of using dependent relations positively. It supports a social form of autonomy and is particularly associated with feminist scholarship. PLW is readily exportable with appropriate modifications for other student groups across most subject disciplines. The simulation can be adapted to three day and single day versions so suggestions are given for such adaptations. Key learning experiences for students included: enjoyment of working on academic discipline issues in new and different ways, gains in personal development, new group relations. Students learned that sometimes conflicting pressures within a group can be used positively. They also learned to respond to contrasting demands quickly using feedback in positive ways.

Introduction

This introduction outlines the literature review carried out for the Professional Learning Week (PLW) simulation exercise held in March 2007. The review explored both 'relational autonomy' and the theory and practice of simulations. Relational autonomy is distinguishable from mainstream theories of autonomy in its avoidance of individualistic approaches. It locates autonomy through the social embedding of persons in relationships which are structured inter alia through class, gender and race. Relational autonomy does not deny the importance of the individual but seeks to avoid casting outcomes in terms of individual agency (Meyers, 1989). Theorising on relational autonomy has emerged particularly in feminist philosophy (Mackenzie and Stoljar, 2000: Friedman, 2003). This work replaces the individualistic conception of autonomy characteristic of some liberalindividual models with an understanding of how intersubjectivities and social identities might be used to foster shared understandings (Mackenzie and Stoljar, 2000: 10). Relational autonomy is by no means the only approach to autonomy that questions individualistic approaches. Work in political philosophy such as that of Seyla Benhabib and Cornelius Castoriadis critiques liberal individualism. However, as yet, scant attention has been paid to how relational autonomy might ground pedagogy in higher education classroom settings. The PLW simulation is a response to this absence.

Edelheim and Ueda (2007) refer to a standard definition of simulation from the Society for Advancement of Games and Simulations in Education and Training (SAGSET): 'a working representation of reality; it may be an abstracted, simplified or accelerated model of a process' (cited in Ruohomaki, 1995: 13). Simulations provide a controlled environment which stands in relation to a realistic experience in the world. They may involve learners in working together on a problem where they have to solve problems, derive action plans, and reflect on their own learning. Simulations may be highly complex, for example, modelling of responses to major disasters. They can of course be relatively simple with structured role activity, data analysis and report. Undoubtedly, one of the most significant developments over the last seven to eight years has been the use of online environments for simulation activity including 'Second Life'. These lie outside the scope of this project which used a faceto-face classroom based model.

There is a substantial literature on simulations including projects from the social sciences and higher education. In brief, developers and users have commented on how simulations can bring complex material to life for students, develop content knowledge, and promote negotiation skills and skills of critical thinking (Hess, 1991; Jones, 1995; Ellington, Gordon and Fowlie, 1998; Wolfe and Crookall, 1998; Ruben, 1999; Brown and King, 2000; Hertel and Millis, 2002; Asal, 2005).

The literature also draws attention to potential problems with simulation activity which developers and tutors need to consider: over-simplified scenarios, reduced validity, difficulty of maintaining student participation if the activity is voluntary and non-assessed, complexity of timetable arrangements, and some difficulties in persuading both colleagues and students to value the activity.

The view taken for PLW Learning Week was that if the simulation is well designed, caters for subject knowledge, involves opportunities for learners to follow different and demanding activities, is linked as far as possible to institutional and faculty strategies, then the strengths and advantages of simulations should come through. A well constructed simulation should also address some of the concerns about simplification and lack of application to other learning activity.

PLW organisers recognised the potential risks with the exercise and took steps to pre-empt problems, as well as responding to those that arose.

Setting the simulation exercise brief

The exercise required learners to:

- work with prepared materials linked to their subject areas as part of a problemsolving exercise;
- take on roles or activities drawn from existing real-life cases without requiring acting or drama;

- conduct ongoing review and evaluation of personal progress and to report on such appropriately;
- use prior subject-based knowledge as well as new subject-based knowledge gained through the simulation exercise;
- give and receive different sorts of feedback.

Such requirements are common to many extended simulations. Further requirements were made to set the exercise in terms of relational autonomy. Following the literature referred to above these were based on developing different forms of dependencies and interdependencies in groups with the need for explicit reflection. Learners had to:

- identify feedback challenges, act on them with others and reflect publicly on the value of feedback;
- identify how they as individuals worked within changing group relations over the week;
- adopt a critical perspective to provided material and link their judgements to increasingly complex situations.

Simulations: Attendance and Assessment

The literature shows that if there is a formal attendance requirement coupled to assessment then attendance can be up to 80%. Inevitably this figure declines with longer simulations. It also declines markedly if participation is voluntary. The average attendance figure cited by the US Political Studies Association for voluntary, non-assessed simulation exercises is 10-15% of the available cohort depending on length of simulation activity.

PLW had to be offered on a voluntary, non-assessed basis as it was not a validated credit bearing entity

Background

Professional Learning week (PLW) was offered to second year (Level 5) students from the following courses: BA Social Policy and BA Sociology, BA Criminology, students on joint degrees involving Criminology and Psychology with either Social Policy or Sociology. The simulation was offered for a whole week (25 contact hours plus additional student group work in the evenings) and was offered as a package, i.e. students could not choose to attend one or two days only. Participation was entirely voluntary.

At the end of the five days each student was awarded a certificate signed by the Executive Dean of Faculty. This certificate outlined the skills acquired, the types of activities involved. Students were offered a guaranteed reference from the lead tutor for any job they might apply for on completing their degree.

The simulation was run by a lead tutor supported by two colleagues from Applied Social Sciences with experience of running consultancy projects in both the public and the private sector.

The focus of the week was on consultancy in the public sector. Two scenarios were used

responding to evaluation data on performance in a Police Force over a one year period and developing an appropriate strategy;

responding to evaluation data on performance over a one year period against NHS targets in a Health Trust.

Students worked in groups throughout the week except for a small number of whole group sessions. Groups A, B and C worked separately developing their senior management team brief for a police force based on the provided data, while groups D, E and F represented imaginary consultancy firms responding to invitations to bid for a consultancy to help these police force management teams with their plans. A further two groups (G and H) worked independently in their representation of a Health Trust senior management team while a further three groups (I.J.K) represented imaginary consultancy firms seeking to help the health trust teams with their responses to league tables and a recent critical evaluation. Students first opted to be either members of the senior management teams dealing with evaluation and target setting, or to be members of imaginary consultancy and their methods for working with management teams from the two public sector groups.

Students had an initial orientation day where they worked on a specific scenario that brought in what consultancy was and how it might be used in public sector provision. They also had an introduction to evaluation reports and services for the police and health trusts with specific reference to the North Yorkshire Police Force and the Barking, Havering and Redbridge Health Trust who gave permission for this work. On the second day students had skills training working with an experienced external consultant which they then applied to developing consultancy briefs for either the police force or the health trust.

By the third morning each senior management team had decided on its particular needs. Similarly, each consultancy group had analysed the same data sets as the management teams and identified what they felt to be strengths and weaknesses within the performances of the police and the health trust. Management teams decided on their own role composition but in fact all teams included a director, a head of human resources, a liaison or communication manager, a finance director. The consultancy groups had decided on their names, considered their strengths and also their approaches, e.g. working on specific problems in a targeted way, or developing change strategies for an organisation.

Throughout the final three days students worked on developing, presenting and justifying consultancy briefs or in refining the requirements of the management teams where those

requirements changed as a result of the exercise. They of course also questioned the consultancy teams on their bids.

Students representing the consultancy firms had to present their outline applications and analyses to the relevant senior management teams. The management groups gave them feedback and the tutors then gave both consultants and managers feedback to help them with their overall performance. The management groups refined their understanding of their data and their requirements while the consultants refined their applications. The consultants made a second submission to each relevant management team. Thus the consultants for the police had three senior managements to whom to present and each such team had identified slightly different priorities for consultancy. The consultants bidding to the health trusts had two managements to present in front of, who again had slightly different requirements. On the fifth day the consultancies made a final presentation and bid to each of their relevant management teams and then found out whether or not they had been successful in obtaining a contract. The management teams made the decision on which consultancy team(s) they wished to award contracts to and in their feedback to the successful and the unsuccessful they had to elaborate on the criteria behind their decisions. Each successful consultancy team then had to meet with their police force or health trust and start to elaborate their brief by demonstrating the consultancy approach they had adopted.

49 students attended the first day and from day 2 onwards 45 students participated in every session, an attendance rate of approx 24% of the available cohort. While far from satisfactory, this figure is noticeably higher than the average figure for this type of exercise cited above. It was sufficiently high to enable the tutor team to create five management groups with four students in each group and then five groups of consultants with five members per group.

Rationale

This approach to simulation (emphasis on personal development through critical reflection directly related to subject knowledge) was adopted for the following reasons:

There are few reported simulations that specifically engage with principles of autonomy. The literature review showed that simulations frequently support the development of both team work and independent learning. While valuable, such outcomes do not meet the requirements of a relational autonomy approach: the need to think through dependencies in groups, the adoption of ethical stances as a starting point for learning.

Students could build upon the activity in subsequent studies, e.g. final year dissertation. The PLW exercise was referred to in the BA Applied Social Science revalidation for 2005/06 as an example of one way in which CPLA was integrated into the work of the subject groups.

PLW also linked to one of the findings of the 'Transitions' Special Interest Group raised in that SIG's student-led conference (Summer 2007): students find applications of material from one context to another difficult unless there is a framework which gives practical experience of applications.

The approach adopted for the simulation integrated principles and practices of relational autonomy into subject-based activity.

Professional Learning Week: The Approach

Preparing for the week

The following tasks were conducted prior to the exercise. The planning stage began in April 2006 (a year before the exercise).

- signalling its presence in the CPLA annual operating plan for 2006/07; liaison with the following: the ASS programme leader, faculty administrative support and the timetabling department with room bookings completed by May 2006.
- establishing a steering group of relevant academic, administrative and facilities staff. One lesson from PLW is of the importance of working with this diverse staff body long before the exercise takes place.
- making applications to use web site material and other sources from a police force and a health trust (September 2006). The support and interest of the North Yorkshire Police and the Barking, Havering and Redbridge Health Trust is acknowledged.
- determining an appropriate week for the exercise with the steering committee. March 26th-30th 2007 was chosen as there were no seminar groups that week and it occurred towards the end of the student courses.
- Flagging PLW in 2006 to the students who would undertake it in 2007 so they first heard of it just before they completed their first year undergraduate studies.
- Convening a focus group with a sample of second year students at the beginning of the academic year (2006/07) to identify some student expectations that could be built into the exercise.
- Informing all tutors through route and subject leaders, using blackboard organisation sites to inform students and also using a YouTube site to announce the exercise. The latter was more effective than traditional email or Blackboard organisation sites in eliciting student interest and response.
- Considering the position of associate lecturers and their contracts. Two associate lecturers with experience of different forms of consultancy joined the developer as the tutor team. Choosing a week when no seminar groups were running meant associate lecturers were unlikely to miss teaching their seminar groups.
- Preparing a single day exercise for the first day so students worked in groups on a social science topic with reasonably strong quantitative elements (the majority of students expressed dislike for quantitative materials as reported in the focus group). The purpose of this exercise was to show that achievement of a level of quantitative

skills is important in conducting evaluation activity and need not be particularly difficult to acquire.

- Inviting an external consultant, to run a one day workshop on developing skills relevant to consultancy activity within the overall programme.
- Preparing the main activity of either representing a police force or health trust or a consultancy firm. The data was obtained from the web sites of the North Yorkshire Police and the Barking, Havering and Redbridge Health Trust. This data was copied to c-d and distributed to all participants who were encouraged to bring in laptops to download particular sections. University laptops were also provided for student groups.

Activities in the PLW Week (26th-30th March 2007)

After an initial briefing on day one, the students were placed in prepared groups and worked for the day on a single project activity requiring data analysis. Projects included: preparing how to meet a breakdown of electricity services in the city in 2007, responding to threats of rural insurrection at a city level based on an analysis of riots in England in the 18th century. Both tasks were supported by prepared materials and gave students opportunities to identify how specific groups might respond, how information might be communicated in two different settings. For the last part of the day tutors went through the prepared CDs with the data from the public service bodies. Students were given an overview of each topic as well as a brief exercise on interpreting one of two tables: traffic offences, waiting lists. Overnight they had to think whether they wanted to be part of a management team or to act as part of a consultancy firm.

On day 2 students participated in a session with the external consultant, where they had practical group work based on listening, communicating, responding to difficult situations, giving feedback. Towards the end of the day students were divided according to their preferences into management groups or consultancy firms. The managers were then divided by the tutors into either senior police management teams or senior health management teams according to their preferences. There were three police management teams and two health trust management teams. Students who chose to act as consultancy by tutors into five groups with each group given the task of preparing a consultancy brief for either the police or the health trust. The consultancy groups were told they would be making a bid to secure a tender from either all the police management groups or all the health trust management groups on the final day. Equally, the management groups learned they would be receiving tender bids from all the consultancy groups who had chosen their service and that at the end of the week they would be awarding the contract to one or more groups and giving feedback to the unsuccessful. All students learned they would build up to the final presentation through practice runs.

The work with the external consultant gave students an awareness of what was involved in different consultancy approaches and also some insights into how management teams might respond to external demands.

So at the end of the second day the newly formed consultancy groups went away to think about logos, consultancy approaches, and, hopefully, to start analysing the issues that either the police force or the health trust might face. The senior managers had to think overnight about what exactly they wanted from a team of consultants and what sort of approaches might work in their settings. They also had to decide how they would cover finance, human resources, and leadership issues in addressing the evaluation tasks. It soon became obvious to them from the data sets that having specialised roles would be helpful.

On days 3 and 4 and 5 students had to develop, defend and re-develop emerging scenarios according to whether they were management teams or consultants. The consultants had to make three formal presentations to all relevant management teams over these three days and receive feedback from each management team each time. Each management team differed in the emphasis it placed on findings from the data sets that informed the evaluation material and had to communicate its specific needs to the consultancy teams.

On day three each senior management team decided to choose a director, a human resource manager, a finance director, a communications director. The consultancy groups also worked on their own to complete their initial analysis of the relevant management team needs. In fact the consultancy teams had by now given themselves names and logos with titles such as 'Visions', or combinations of their own names. By late morning the groups were ready so each consultancy firm made a brief pitch to the relevant senior management teams, going round these teams one after the other. The latter were able to introduce themselves and to outline their needs. Neither party was expected to role play (role playing was signalled as a 'no no' in the focus groups held ahead of the simulation exercise). But at this point (midway through Day 3) each consultancy group established itself with the management teams and indicated both their strengths as consultants and what they felt the key issues were for each management team. Of course each management team had their own sense of key issues so there was discussion on this.

At the end of day 3 each group realised they had considerably more work ahead of them. The consultancy teams had to refine their messages so they addressed the stated needs of each management team in front of them. The management teams in their turn had to know more about their particular public service and justify what they felt was required of a consultancy team. We had a situation now where groups were having to take account of diverse set of needs and perceptions. Group recording through note taking was important.

In addition to this all the groups were given a further completely separate task to prepare over night - they had to develop a practical task for a group of people with little experience of working together. In fact it was the sort of task many employers will give potential recruits as part of a selection process.

Day 4 opened with each group carrying out its problem-solving task with at least two other groups in rotation completing the requirement. Tasks that the students produced included making something out of a set of objects they provided, deciding how to cross a river with

minimal equipment and with additional hazards being suddenly introduced by the 'enjoyably cruel' task organisers.

This additional task helped each management and consultancy group refine their style of working and also gave further opportunities for feedback. It was now back to the main task and each management team called in the consultancy groups and gave them further details of requirements as well as listening to their emerging plans. For instance, a health management team agreed that waiting times and staff absence were critical factors - a point they had tried to conceal during the previous day. A police management group felt their key problem was one of maintaining public confidence over dealing with burglary and street crime at a time when they had to provide resources to deal with a single high profile murder case. This arose from their thinking about the data they were given.

By the end of day 4 the consultants had made a further detailed appraisal of management team needs which they addressed through a further 'practice' presentation which received feedback. There was clearly more work to be done over night ahead of the final day.

On day 5 consultancy teams made their final presentations to all their relevant senior management teams. The management teams then had to award a contract. Given that there were unequal numbers of management teams and consultancy groups it was always likely that a consultancy group would finish the week without receiving a contract. In fact while there were tensions between some management teams and consultancy groups every consultancy was successful. Management teams had been persuaded that their needs were diverse and that they needed the offerings of different consultancy groups to fulfil different tasks. So some contracts were split and were awarded to different consultants with negotiated costings. The exercise ended with management teams and their respective consultancy groups meeting to decide in more detail how the consultancy was to be taken forward.

Giving and receiving feedback: this was the most challenging task and was recognised as such in student evaluation. Each individual had to give and receive feedback at least three times during the week. The feedback demands became increasingly difficult as the week progressed with the consultancy brief increasing in complexity.

Simulation Outcomes: The groups divided equally at the outset between interest in the Health Service and the Police. The further subgroups of consultants and senior management teams were also fairly equally split although a deliberate imbalance was built into the exercise to make it more difficult for consultancy teams to be selected on the final day. Fortunately each group of 'consultants' was taken on by at least one senior management team.

Key learning outcomes: all students commented on how demanding giving and receiving feedback could be. They also commented on how easy it was to use a wide range of difficult material once they were embarked on the tasks but they found the total volume of material unnecessary. Students all felt the real learning was in how to use group settings effectively

and there was 100% plea for more teaching to be organised on this basis. The level of presentation improved during the week. In terms of the professional requirements of the public sector bodies represented the exercise was probably insufficient for training purposes, but in terms of the learning required by the week's outcomes it was successful.

How could this exercise be adapted?

Students commented on the length of the week and the majority felt it could be reduced to a three day exercise but with the day with an external consultant maintained.

An external consultant was used simply because consultancy was the focus of the exercise. A change in focus would obviate the need for this. However, having someone from outside the setting can be positive.

To adapt it to a three day task the initial project task on day 1 could be linked directly to the main task and then students could go through one of the cycles only - agreeing a brief through an initial presentation and refining this for one final presentation. For shorter one day versions the exercise would need far simpler data sets, e.g. one or two problems only for service providers and consultants to tackle. This might require a single presentation, opportunity for revision, and then a final revised presentation. Shorter simulations are easier to link to ongoing module activities.

Whichever approach is taken it is important for staff involved in developing simulations to create sets of large building blocks of materials as well as approaches that offer alternative ways of tackling tasks. Staff can then either drop or simplify some of the blocks. Starting from an extended simulation and working backwards to the essential elements is a good strategy for well thought-through short simulations.

Costs: this exercise cost £1,200 in 2007 to cover additional payments to associate lecturers, payment of external consultant, publicity material. This does not cover simulation development time. Shorter simulations would have lower costs but repeated use of simulation materials can reduce overall costs. Materials can also be adapted to different uses.

Simulations are regularly used in higher education but many such exercises become 'one off' events. The sheer complexity of timetabling and other logistical needs make simulation activity very time consuming. Many academic staff remain unconvinced either of the content value of simulations or of the pedagogies employed. Simulation exercises are not the place for lectures or formal seminars. They need extensive preparation. However, if staff with less experience of such work can join a planning team and perhaps make a small contribution initially, e.g. listening to and responding to one particular student group throughout the exercise, then more staff can see this work has value, as recognised here by the students.

Evaluation

All participants completed an extensive evaluation form before the end of the week and these were analysed independently. A report was submitted to the ASS Programme Management Team. Follow up evaluative comment was obtained from a number of participants in their final year. Some of the findings have been incorporated above.

Student evaluations included the following:

- The week tested students and over 70% felt it was the hardest task they had undertaken at university and a sizeable proportion of these suggested it was one of the best things they had done.
- Clear gains in relevant knowledge, increased skills of self-understanding (essential to autonomy), understanding of different aspects of giving and taking responsibility.
- 80% reported they felt a three day exercise would be more useful given the pressure they were under to complete course work a few weeks after the exercise.
- All commented on communication about the exercise. The majority felt it would be helpful to know in advance what they were expected to do but all students commented favourably on communication effectiveness during the week and on tutor support.
- 10% of students felt the exercise should be held at the start of the academic year. The rest all felt that the holding of it towards the end of the second semester was the best possible time.
- Most reported that their initial motivation was the guarantee of a reference and a certificate they could use in the future. But over 50% commented on their changing recognition of the value of the exercise as the week went on.
- Academic staff on the programme not involved in the exercise also commented on communication. Many felt they were dealing with student uncertainties and that the timing (towards the end of the second semester) was inappropriate.

The perceptions of the exercise leader and the two participating staff included the following:

It is essential to have local academic programme management, administrative and technical support which was evident throughout the planning and delivery of this exercise. Communication about the week to students is never going to be ideal. If you say too much, you risk putting people off. However, the communication level needed to be improved. Understandably perhaps some students who did not participate complained to staff that they were not prepared to give up a week for such an exercise. An analysis of those who complained did show they included students with low attendance records anyway.

Most academic staff supported the project and indicated such to students. But a few academic staff advised students not to participate. Such mixed messages can be avoided and this really needs better preparation of academic staff by simulation developers. Do the direct explanation yourself rather than rely on anyone else to do it for you!

If simulation activity of an extended sort is to be built into academic programmes then it is important full-time colleagues become part of the teaching team and that simulation development becomes a shared activity. It is important students have formally organised opportunities to practise further the skills and knowledge they acquire through simulations.

Problems will arise - a sudden additional room booking necessitating a room change, absence of booked equipment. Have at least two alternatives to every main task.

References

Asal, V. (2005) 'Playing Games with International Relations.' International Studies Perspectives, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 359-373.

Asal, V., Blake, E. (2006) 'Creating Simulations for Political Science Education'. Journal of Political Science Education, Vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1-18.

Brown, S., King, F. (2000) 'Constructivist Pedagogy and How We Learn: Educational Psychology Meets International Studies'. International Studies Perspectives, Vol 1, No. 3, pp. 245-254.

Edelheim, J. and Ueda, D. (2007) 'Effective Use of Simulations in Hospitality Management Education – a Case Study', Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport & Tourism Education, Vol. 6, No. 1, available at http://www.hist.heacademy.ac.uk/johiste, last retrieved November 18th 2007.

Ellington, H., Gordon, M. and Fowlie, J. (1998) Using Simulations and Games in the Classroom, London: Kogan Page.

Friedman, M. (2003) Autonomy, Gender, Politics, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hertel, J., Millis, B. (2002) Using Simulations to Promote Learning in Higher Education, Sterling: Stylus Press.

Hess, F.M. (1999) Bringing the Social Sciences Alive, Needham Heights: Allyn and Bacon.

Jones, K. (3d edition) (1995) Simulations – A Handbook for Teachers and Trainers. London: Kogan Page.

Mackenzie, C., Stoljar, N. (eds.) (2000) Relational Autonomy, Oxford: Blackwells.

Meyers, D. T. (1989) Self, Society, and Personal Choice, New York: Columbia Press.

Ruben, B. (1999) 'Simulations, Games, and Experience-Based Learning: The Quest for a New Paradigm for Teaching and Learning'. Simulation and Gaming, Vol 30, No. 4, pp. 498-506.

Ruohomaki, V. (1995) 'Viewpoints on Learning and Education with Simulation games', In J.O. Riis (Ed.) Simulation Games in Production Management, London: Chapman & Hall.

Wolfe, J. Crookall, D. (1998) 'Developing a Scientific Knowledge of Simulation/Gaming', Simulation and Gaming, Vol 29, No. 1, pp. 7-20.